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GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

The following terms, abbreviations and acronyms are used to identify frequently used terms in this report:

TERM DEFINITION

ACNielsen ACNielsen Corporation — a former affiliate of Old D&B

Analytics Moody’s Analytics — reportable segment of MCO formed in January 2008 which combines MKMV, the
sales of MIS research and other MCO non-rating commercial activities

AOCI Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss); a separate component of shareholders’ equity
(deficit)

Basel I Capital adequacy framework published in June 2004 by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision

Board The board of directors of the Company

Bps Basis points

BQuotes BQuotes , Inc.; an acquisition completed in January 2008; part of the MA segment; a global provider of

Canary Wharf Lease

CDOs
CFG
CMBS

Cognizant

Commission
Common Stock
Company
COSsO

CP

CP Notes

CP Program
CRAs

CREF

D&B Business
DBPPs
Debt/EBITDA
Directors’ Plan

Distribution Date

EBITDA

price discovery tools and end-of-day pricing services.

Operating lease agreement entered into on February 6, 2008 for office space in London, England, to
be occupied by the Company in the second half of 2009

Collateralized debt obligations
Corporate finance group; an LOB of MIS
Commercial mortgage-backed securities; part of CREF

Cognizant Corporation — a former affiliate of Old D&B, which comprised the IMS Health and NMR
businesses

European Commission

the Company’s common stock

Moody’s Corporation and its subsidiaries; MCO; Moody’s

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
Commercial paper

Unsecured commercial paper notes

The Company’s commercial paper program entered into on October 3, 2007
Credit rating agencies

Commercial real estate finance which includes REITs, commercial real estate CDOs and CMBS; part
of SFG

Old D&B'’s Dun & Bradstreet operating company

Defined benefit pension plans

Ratio of Total Debt to EBITDA

The 1998 Moody’s Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan

September 30, 2000; the date which Old D&B separated into two publicly traded companies — Moody’s
Corporation and New D&B

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and extraordinary gains or losses
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TERM DEFINITION

ECAIs External Credit Assessment Institutions

ECB European Central Bank

EITF Emerging Issues Task Force; a task force established by the FASB to improve financial reporting through
the timely identification, discussion, and resolution of financial accounting issues within the framework of
existing authoritative literature.

EMEA Represents countries within Europe, the Middle East and Africa

Enb Enb Consulting; an acquisition completed in December 2008; part of the MA segment; a provider of credit
and capital markets training services;

EPS Earnings per share

ESPP The 1999 Moody’s Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan

ETR Effective Tax Rate

EU European Union

EUR Euros

Excess Tax Benefit

Exchange Act

FASB

Fermat

FIG
FIN 48
FSF
FX
GAAP
GBP
G-7

G-20

HFSC
IMS Health
I0OSCO

The difference between the tax benefit realized at exercise of an option or delivery of a restricted share
and the benefit recorded at the time that the option or restricted share is expensed under GAAP

The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
Financial Accounting Standards Board

Fermat International; an acquisition completed in October 2008; part of the MA segment; a provider of
risk and performance management software to the global banking industry

Financial institutions group; an LOB of MIS

FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”
Financial Stability Forum

Foreign exchange

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

British pounds

The finance ministers and central bank governors of the group of seven countries consisting of Canada,
France, Germany, Italy, Japan, U.S. and U.K., that meet annually

The G-20 is an informal forum that promotes open and constructive discussion between industrial and
emerging-market countries on key issues related to global economic stability. By contributing to the
strengthening of the international financial architecture and providing opportunities for dialogue on
national policies, international co-operation, and international financial institutions, the G-20 helps to
support growth and development across the globe. The G-20 is comprised of: Argentina, Australia, Brazil,
Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Russia, Saudi Arabia, South
Africa, South Korea, Turkey, the U.K. and the U.S. and The EU who is represented by the rotating
Council presidency and the ECB.

House Financial Services Committee
A spin-off of Cognizant, which provides services to the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries

International Organization of Securities Commissions
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TERM

IOSCO Code

IRS

Legacy Tax Matter(s)
LIBOR

LOB

MA

Make Whole Amount

MCO
MD&A
MIS

MIS Code
MKMV
Moody’s
New D&B
NM

NMR

Notices
NRSRO
Old D&B

Post-Retirement Plans

PPIF

Profit Participation Plan

PWG
Reform Act
REITs

Reorganization

DEFINITION

Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating Agencies issued by IOSCO

Internal Revenue Service

Exposures to certain potential tax liabilities assumed in connection with the 2000 Distribution
London Interbank Offered Rate

Line of Business

Moody’s Analytics — a reportable segment of MCO formed in January 2008 which combines the
operations of MKMV, the sales of MIS research and other MCO non-rating commercial activities

The prepayment penalty amount relating to the Series 2005-1 Notes and Series 2007-1 Notes,
which is a premium based on the excess, if any, of the discounted value of the remaining scheduled
payments over the prepaid principal

Moody’s Corporation and its subsidiaries; the Company; Moody’s

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Moody'’s Investors Service — a reportable segment of MCO

Moody'’s Investors Service Code of Professional Conduct

Moody’s KMV — a reportable segment of MCO prior to January 2008

Moody’s Corporation and its subsidiaries; MCO; the Company

The New D&B Corporation — which comprises the D&B business

Percentage change is not-meaningful after 400%

Nielsen Media Research, Inc.; a spin-off of Cognizant, which is a leading source of television
audience measurement services

IRS Notices of Deficiency for 1997-2002
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations

The former Dun and Bradstreet Company which distributed New D&B shares on September 30,
2000, and was renamed Moody’s Corporation

Moody'’s funded and unfunded pension plans, the post-retirement healthcare plans and the post-
retirement life insurance plans

Public, project and infrastructure finance; an LOB of MIS

Defined contribution profit participation retirement plan that covers substantially all U.S. employees
of the Company

President’s Working Group on Financial Markets
Credit Rating Agency Reform Act of 2006
Real estate investment trusts

The Company’s business reorganization announced in August 2007 which resulted in two new
reportable segments (MIS and MA) beginning in January 2008
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TERM

DEFINITION

Restructuring Plan
RMBS

S&P

SEC

Series 2005-1 Notes

Series 2007-1 Notes

SFAS
SFAS No. 87
SFAS No. 88

SFAS No. 109
SFAS No. 112
SFAS No. 123
SFAS No. 123R
SFAS No. 132R

SFAS No. 133
SFAS No. 141
SFAS No. 141R
SFAS No. 142
SFAS No. 144
SFAS No. 146
SFAS No. 157
SFAS No. 158

SFAS No. 159

SFAS No. 162
SFG

SG&A

Stock Plans
T&E

Total Debt

The Company’s 2007 restructuring plan

Residential mortgage-backed security; part of SFG

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
Securities and Exchange Commission

Principal amount of $300.0 million, 4.98% senior unsecured notes due in September 2015 pursuant to
the 2005 Agreement

Principal amount of $300.0 million, 6.06% senior unsecured notes due in September 2017 pursuant to
the 2007 Agreement

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”

SFAS No. 88, “Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefits Pension
Plans and for Termination Benefits”

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”

SFAS No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment Benefits”
SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”

SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (Revised 2004)

SFAS No. 132R, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits — an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, and 106” (Revised 2003)

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”

SFAS No. 141R, “Business Combinations” (Revised 2007)

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”
SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”

SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans —
an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)”

SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115"

SFAS No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”
Structured finance group; an LOB of MIS

Selling, general and administrative expenses

The 1998 Plan and the 2001 Plan

Travel and entertainment expenses

All indebtedness of the Company as reflected on the consolidated balance sheets, excluding current
accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business
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TERM

U.K.

u.s.

uUsD

UTBs

UTPs

1998 Plan

2000 Distribution

2000 Distribution
Agreement

2001 Plan

2005 Agreement
2007 Agreement
2007 Facility
2008 Term Loan
TWTC

TWTC Lease

DEFINITION
United Kingdom

United States
U.S. dollar

Unrecognized tax benefits

Uncertain tax positions
Old D&B'’s 1998 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan

The distribution by Old D&B to its shareholders of all of the outstanding shares of New D&B common
stock on September 30, 2000

Agreement governing certain ongoing relationships between the Company and New D&B after the 2000
Distribution including the sharing of any liabilities for the payment of taxes, penalties and interest resulting
from unfavorable IRS determinations on certain tax matters and certain other potential tax liabilities

The Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan
Note purchase agreement dated September 30, 2005 relating to the Series 2005-1 Notes

Note purchase agreement dated September 7, 2007 relating to the Series 2007-1 Notes
Revolving credit facility of $1 billion entered into on September 28, 2007, expiring in 2012
Five-year $150.0 million senior unsecured term loan entered into by the Company on May 7, 2008
The Company’s headquarters located at 7 World Trade Center

Operating lease agreement entered into on October 20, 2006
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

BACKGROUND

As used in this report, except where the context indicates otherwise, the terms “Moody’s” or the “Company” refer to Moody’s
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries. The Company'’s executive offices are located at 7 World Trade Center
at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, NY 10007 and its telephone number is (212) 553-0300. Prior to September 30, 2000, the
Company operated as part of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation.

THE COMPANY

Moody'’s is a provider of (i) credit ratings and related research, data and analytical tools, (ii) quantitative credit risk measures, risk
scoring software, and credit portfolio management solutions and (iii) securities pricing software and valuation models. In 2007 and
prior years, Moody’s operated in two reportable segments: Moody’s Investors Service and Moody’s KMV. Beginning in January
2008, Moody's segments were changed to reflect the Reorganization announced in August 2007. As a result of the
Reorganization, the rating agency remains in the MIS operating segment and several ratings business lines have been realigned.
All of Moody’s other non-rating commercial activities, including MKMV and sales of MIS research, are nhow combined under a new
operating segment known as Moody’s Analytics. Moody’s now reports in two new reportable segments: MIS and MA. Financial
information and operating results of these segments, including revenue, expenses, operating income and total assets, are
included in Part Il, Item 8. Financial Statements of this annual report, and are herein incorporated by reference.

The MIS segment publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such obligations in
markets worldwide, including various corporate and governmental obligations, structured finance securities and commercial paper
programs. Revenue is derived from the originators and issuers of such transactions who use MIS'’s ratings to support the
distribution of their debt issues to investors. MIS provides ratings in more than 110 countries. Ratings are disseminated via press
releases to the public through a variety of print and electronic media, including the Internet and real-time information systems
widely used by securities traders and investors. As of December 31, 2008, MIS had ratings relationships with approximately
13,000 corporate issuers and approximately 26,000 public finance issuers. Additionally, the Company has rated and currently
monitors ratings on approximately 109,000 structured finance obligations.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support the credit risk management activities of institutional
participants in global financial markets. These offerings include quantitative credit risk scores, credit processing software,
economic research, analytical models, financial data, securities pricing software and valuation models, and specialized consulting
services. MA also distributes investor-oriented research and data developed by MIS as part of its rating process, including in-
depth research on major debt issuers, industry studies, and commentary on topical events. MA clients represent more than 5,000
institutions worldwide operating in approximately 120 countries. Over 30,000 client users and more than 200,000 individuals
accessed Moody'’s research web site.

The Company operated as part of “Old D&B” until September 30, 2000, when Old D&B separated into two publicly traded
companies — Moody’s Corporation and New D&B. At that time, Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares of New D&B stock.
New D&B comprised the business of Old D&B’s Dun & Bradstreet operating company. The remaining business of Old D&B
consisted solely of the business of providing ratings and related research and credit risk management services and was renamed
Moody’s Corporation. For purposes of governing certain ongoing relationships between the Company and New D&B after the
2000 Distribution and to provide for an orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entered into various agreements including a
distribution agreement, tax allocation agreement and employee benefits agreement.

PROSPECTS FOR GROWTH

Over recent decades, global fixed-income markets have grown significantly in terms of outstanding principal amount and types of
securities or other obligations. Despite the recent market disruption and significant declines in issuance activity for many classes
of securities in the U.S. and internationally, Moody’s believes that the overall long-term outlook remains favorable for continued
secular growth of fixed-income markets worldwide. However, Moody’s expects that, in the near-term, growth drivers such as
financial innovation and disintermediation will slow as capital market participants adjust to the recent poor performance of some
structured finance asset classes, such as U.S. RMBS and credit derivatives. Restoring investor confidence in structured products
may require further enhancements to MIS’s rating processes and may be facilitated by greater transparency from issuers of
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structured (or securitized) debt. MIS has developed updated rating methodologies, volatility measures, and pricing and valuation
services to aid the return of investor trust. Moody’s expects that these initiatives will support continued long-term demand for high-
quality, independent credit opinions.

Growth in global fixed-income markets is attributable to a number of forces and trends. Advances in information technology, such
as the Internet, make information about investment alternatives widely available throughout the world. This technology facilitates
issuers’ ability to place securities outside their national markets and investors’ capacity to obtain information about securities
issued outside their national markets. Issuers and investors are also more readily able to obtain information about new financing
techniques and new types of securities that they may wish to purchase or sell, many of which may be unfamiliar to them. This
availability of information promotes the ongoing integration and development of worldwide financial markets and a greater need
for credible, globally comparable opinions about credit risk. As a result, existing capital markets have expanded and a number of
new capital markets have emerged. In addition, more issuers and investors are accessing developed capital markets.

Another trend in the world’s capital markets is the disintermediation of financial systems. Issuers increasingly raise capital in the
global public capital markets, in addition to, or in substitution for, traditional financial intermediaries. Moreover, financial
intermediaries have sold assets in the global public capital markets, in addition to or instead of retaining those assets. Recent
credit market disruptions have slowed the trend of disintermediation globally, but Moody’s believes that debt capital markets offer
advantages in capacity and efficiency compared to the traditional banking systems. Thus, disintermediation is expected to expand
in the longer-term.

The strong growth trend seen in the issuance of structured finance securities reversed dramatically in 2008 due to the market
turmoil. The market disruptions that escalated in 2008 are expected to continue in the immediate term, and Moody’s expects to
see a continued decline in revenue from this market in 2009. However, although the extent and scale are unclear, Moody’s
believes that structured finance securities will continue to play a role in global credit markets, and provide opportunities for longer
term growth. Moody’s will continue to monitor and support the progress of this market and adapt to meet the changing needs.

Rating fees paid by debt issuers account for most of the revenue of MIS. Therefore, a substantial portion of MIS’s revenue is
dependent upon the volume and number of debt securities issued in the global capital markets that it rates. Moody'’s is therefore
affected by, for example, the performance, and the prospects for growth, of the major world economies, the fiscal and monetary
policies pursued by their governments, and the decisions of issuers to request MIS ratings to aid investors in their investment
decision process. However, annual fee arrangements with frequent debt issuers, annual debt monitoring fees and annual fees
from commercial paper and medium-term note programs, bank and insurance company financial strength ratings, mutual fund
ratings, subscription-based research and other areas are less dependent on, or independent of, the volume or number of debt
securities issued in the global capital markets.

Moody’s operations are also subject to various risks inherent in carrying on business internationally. Such risks include currency
fluctuations and possible nationalization, expropriation, exchange and price controls, changes in the availability of data from public
sector sources, limits on providing information across borders and other restrictive governmental actions. Management believes
that the risks of nationalization or expropriation are reduced because the Company’s basic service is the creation and
dissemination of information, rather than the production of products that require manufacturing facilities or the use of natural
resources. However, the formation of, for example, a new government-sponsored regional or global rating agency would pose a
risk to Moody’s growth prospects. Management believes that this risk, compared to other regulatory changes under consideration
for the credit rating industry, is relatively low because of the likelihood that substantial investments over a sustained period would
be required, with uncertainty about the likelihood of financial success.

Legislative bodies and regulators in both the U.S., Europe and selective other jurisdictions continue to conduct regulatory reviews
of CRAs, which may result in, for example, an increased number of competitors, changes to the business model or restrictions on
certain business activities of MIS, or increased costs of doing business for Moody’s. Therefore, in order to broaden the potential
for expansion of non-ratings services, Moody’s reorganized in January 2008 into two distinct businesses: MIS, consisting solely of
the ratings business, and MA. Moody’s Analytics conducts all non-ratings activities, and includes the MKMV and Fermat
businesses, the sale of credit research produced by MIS and the production and sale of other credit related products and services.
The reorganization broadens the opportunities for expansion by MA into activities which were previously restricted, due to the
potential for conflicts of interest with the ratings business. At present, Moody’s is unable to assess the nature and effect that any
regulatory changes may have on future growth opportunities. See “Regulation” below.
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MA expects to benefit from the growing demand among credit market participants for information that enables them to make
sound investment and risk management decisions. These customers require advanced qualitative and quantitative tools to
support their management of increasingly complex capital market instruments. Such complexity creates analytical challenges for
market participants, including financial intermediaries, asset managers and other investors. In recent years, reliable third-party
ratings and research served to supplement or substitute for traditional in-house research as the scale, geographic scope and
complexity of financial markets grew. Recent disruptions in credit markets threaten to slow this trend, but Moody’s expects to
sustain reliance on its offerings as enhancements to credit rating methodologies and other changes in securities origination
processes restore investor confidence and more orderly market operations.

Growth in MA is also expected as financial institutions adopt active credit portfolio management practices and implement internal
credit assessment tools for compliance with Basel Il regulations. MA offers products that respond to these needs. This growth will
be realized by, for example, the development of new private firm default probability models for specific countries and by
expanding analysis capabilities of new asset classes.

COMPETITION

The MIS business competes with other Credit Rating Agencies and with investment banks and brokerage firms that offer credit
opinions and research. Many of Moody’s customers also have in-house credit research capabilities. Moody’s largest competitor in
the global credit rating business is Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. There are
some rating markets, based on industry, geography and/or instrument type, in which Moody’s has made investments and obtained
market positions superior to S&P’s. In other markets, the reverse is true.

In addition to S&P, Moody’s competitors include Fitch, a subsidiary of Fimalac S.A., Dominion Bond Rating Service Ltd. of Canada
(“DBRS"), A.M. Best Company Inc, Japan Credit Rating Agency Ltd., Rating and Investment Information Inc. of Japan (R&I) and
Egan-Jones Ratings Company. In 2008 two more firms were granted the Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations
status; LACE Financial Corp., in February, and Realpoint LLC, in June. One or more additional rating agencies may emerge in the
U.S. as the SEC continues to expand the number of NRSROs. Competition may also increase in developed or developing
markets outside the U.S. over the next few years as the number of rating agencies increases.

The increased regulatory focus on credit risk presents both opportunities and challenges for Moody’s. Global demand for credit
ratings and risk management services may rise, but regulatory actions may result in a greater number of rating agencies and/or
additional regulation of Moody’s and its competitors. Alternatively, banking or securities market regulators could seek to reduce
the use of ratings in regulations, thereby reducing certain elements of demand for ratings, or otherwise seek to control the analysis
or business of rating agencies.

Credit rating agencies such as MIS also compete with other means of managing credit risk, such as credit insurance. Competitors
that develop quantitative methodologies for assessing credit risk also may pose a competitive threat to Moody'’s.

MA competes broadly in the financial information space against diversified competitors such as Thomson-Reuters, Bloomberg,
RiskMetrics, S&P, Fitch, Dun & Bradstreet, and Markit Group among others. MA’ main competitors within credit risk management
include Fitch Algorithmics, SunGard, SAS, i-Flex, and RiskMetrics Group as well as a host of smaller vendors and in-house
solutions. In economic analysis, data and modeling services, MA faces competition from IHS Global Insight, Oxford Economics,
Haver Analytics and a number of smaller firms around the world. Within Credit Services, Moody’s competes with Mercer Oliver
Wyman for certain credit risk consulting, with Omega Performance, DC Gardner, and a host of boutique providers for financial
training, and CreditSights, Gimme Credit and other smaller providers for independent credit research. In Securities Analytics and
Valuation, Moody’s competes against Interactive Data Corporation, Thomson-Reuters, S&P, Fitch, Markit Group, CME, Intex, and
many other smaller providers.

MOODY’S STRATEGY
Moody'’s continues to follow growth strategies that adapt to market conditions and capitalize on emerging opportunities:

Given recent market turmoil Moody’s immediate focus is on making effective business decisions to adjust for the expected
reduction in revenue while positioning the Company to benefit from an eventual recovery in global credit market activity.

In a world of renewed attention to risk analysis and risk management, Moody’s is committed to further encouraging the informed
use of credit ratings, research and related analytics products.
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Moody'’s seeks to differentiate itself from incumbent and potential competitors with uniquely thoughtful, forward-looking and
accurate opinions about credit and the credit industry.

Adapting to market change is a key factor in maintaining market relevance. Moody’s continuously monitors opportunities to
selectively diversify its revenue base through organic growth and acquisitions, in order to replace lost revenue and position
Moody'’s for new sources of business.

In support of those goals Moody'’s intends to continue its focus in the following areas:

Expansion in Financial Centers

Moody'’s serves its customers through its global network of offices and business affiliations. Moody’s currently maintains
comprehensive rating and marketing operations in financial centers including Dubai, Frankfurt, Hong Kong, London, Madrid,
Milan, Moscow, New York, Paris, Singapore, Sydney and Tokyo. Moody’s expects that its global network will position it to benefit
from the expansion of worldwide capital markets and thereby increase revenue. Moody’s also expects that the growth of its MIS
business as a consequence of financial market integration in Europe will return. Additionally, Moody’s expects to continue its
expansion into developing markets either directly or through joint ventures. This will allow Moody'’s to extend its credit opinion
franchise to local and regional obligors, through domestic currency ratings and national scale ratings.

New Rating Products

Moody'’s continues to respond to investor demand for new products and enhancements. In the recent market turmoil attention to
core strengths has been crucial and enhancements have and continue to be focused on quality and transparency. Given the
particular disruption in the structured finance markets MIS has been developing enhanced structured finance offerings to meet
investor demands for more information content. Leveraging the diversity of its research data and analytics Moody’s has
introduced cross-sector analysis to better illustrate the broader impacts of recent market events. This is further enhanced by the
incorporation of macroeconomics to frame conditions and assumptions. MIS continues to capitalize on market developments and
enhance ratings surveillance efficiency, focusing on new ratings products, such as hedge fund operations quality ratings, and to
identify, design, develop and maintain value-added research, analytics and data products serving the capital markets.

Internet-Enhanced Products and Services

Moody'’s is expanding its use of the Internet and other electronic media to enhance client service. Moody’s website provides the
public with instant access to ratings and provides the public and subscribers with credit research. Internet delivery also enables
Moody'’s to provide services to more individuals within a client organization than were available with paper-based products and to
offer higher-value services because of more timely delivery. Moody’s expects that access to these applications will increase
client use of Moody'’s services. Moody’s expects to continue to invest in electronic media to capitalize on these and other
opportunities.

Expansion of Credit Research Products and Investmen  t Analytic Tools

Moody'’s plans to expand its research and analytic services through internal development and through acquisitions. Most new
product initiatives tend to be more analytical and data-intensive than traditional narrative research offerings. Such services
address investor interest in replicating the monitoring activities conducted by, for example, Moody’s securitization analysts and
provide the means for customers to gain access to raw data and adjusted financial statistics and ratios used by Moody’s analysts
in the rating process for municipalities, companies and financial institutions. These products represent important sources of
growth for the research business. MA is developing products in the fixed-income valuations and pricing arena that facilitate price
transparency in global fixed income markets, especially for complex structured securities and derivative instruments. Moreover,
Moody'’s continues to explore opportunities to extend its research relevance in new domestic or regional markets (e.g., China) as
well as new functional markets (e.g., hedge funds).

New Quantitative Credit Risk Assessment Services

Moody'’s will continue to provide banks and other institutions with quantitative credit risk assessment services. Moody’s believes
that there will be increased demand for such services because they assist customers trading or holding credit-sensitive assets to
better manage risk and deliver better performance. Also, international bank regulatory authorities are assessing the
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adequacy of banks’ internal credit risk management systems for the purpose of determining regulatory capital. The acquisition of
Fermat accelerates Moody’s developments in this area. Such regulatory initiatives create demand for, and encourage adoption
of, related services by banks from third-party providers.

REGULATION

In the U.S., since 1975, MIS has been designated as an NRSRO by the SEC. The SEC first applied the NRSRO designation in
that year to companies whose credit ratings could be used by broker-dealers for purposes of determining their net capital
requirements. Since that time, Congress, the SEC and other governmental and private bodies have used the ratings of NRSROs
to distinguish between, among other things, “investment-grade” and “non-investment-grade” securities.

In September 2006, the Credit Rating Agency Reform Act of 2006 was passed, which created a voluntary registration process for
rating agencies wishing to be designated as NRSROs. The Reform Act provides the SEC with authority to oversee NRSROs,
while prohibiting the SEC from regulating the substance of credit ratings or the procedures and methodologies by which any
NRSRO determines credit ratings. In June 2007, the SEC published its first set of rules under the Reform Act. These rules
address the NRSRO application and registration process, as well as oversight rules related to recordkeeping, financial reporting,
prevention of misuse of material non-public information, conflicts of interest, and prohibited acts and practices. In June 2007, MIS
filed its application for registration as an NRSRO with the SEC. In September 2007, the SEC registered MIS as an NRSRO under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and as of that time MIS has been subject to the SEC’s oversight rules described above. As
required by the rules, MIS has made its Form NRSRO Initial Application, its Annual Certification of Form NRSRO, and any
associated updates publicly available by posting it on the Regulatory Affairs page of the Company’s website.

In July 2008, the SEC released a report on its examination of CRAs. The SEC began its review of the ratings processes and
procedures of the three leading rating agencies — MIS, S&P and Fitch — in August 2007, focusing on sub-prime RMBS and
CDOs. While the Commission’s Staff noted that most of the period under review pre-dated the implementation of SEC rules for the
industry, the report identified areas that were either of concern to the SEC or that the SEC believed could be enhanced going-
forward. The concerns identified by the Commission’s Staff generally fall into three categories: policies addressing potential
conflicts of interest; resources and resource allocation; documentation around policies and procedures and enhancing
transparency. The SEC also summarized the various steps that are already being put in place by the rating agencies, as well as
those that are under consideration in the SEC’s current rule-making process.

In February 2009, the SEC published a second set of final rules applicable to NRSROs as well as additional proposed rules.
These final rules and rule proposals were approved by the Commission in early December 2008. The majority of the final rules
address managing conflicts of interest, enhancing record keeping requirements, and improving transparency of ratings
performance and methodologies. The deadline for market comment on the new proposed rules is March 26, 2009. MIS will submit
comments to the SEC by this deadline.

Finally, both chambers of the Congress are reviewing the broader U.S. regulatory infrastructure and as part of this review, the role
and function of CRAs will continue to be studied. For example, as part of a series of hearings focusing on the existing market
turmoil, on October 22, 2008, the House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform held a hearing on the Role of Credit
Rating Agencies. MIS has participated in this and other hearings and the written testimonies can be found on the Regulatory
Affairs page of the Company’s website.

Internationally, several regulatory developments have occurred:

The Group of 7 and the Group of 20 — The G-7 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors formally asked the FSF to analyze
the underlying causes of the recent financial market turbulence. One area for analysis was the role and use of credit rating in the
structured finance market. To encourage the adoption of a unified regulatory approach, the FSF has coordinated the work of other
international organizations on these subjects. The FSF’'s recommendations on the CRA industry are as follows: improve the
quality of the rating process and management of conflicts of interest in rating structured finance securities; differentiate ratings on
structured finance products from those on corporate and government bonds and expand the initial and ongoing information
provided on the risk characteristics of structured products; and enhance their review of the quality of the data input and due
diligence performed on underlying assets by originators, arrangers and issuers.

In November 2008, the Heads of State of the G-20 reached agreement on a wide-ranging set of proposals to better regulate
financial systems. Among other things, the G-20 committed to implement oversight of the CRAs, consistent with the strength-
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ened international code of conduct (see below) and agreed that, in the medium term, the countries should implement a
registration system for CRAs. The G-20 also committed to formulate their regulations and other measures in a consistent manner
and recommended that, the international organization of securities regulators should review CRAs’ adoption of the standards and
mechanisms for monitoring compliance.

IOSCO — In December 2004, the Technical Committee of IOSCO published its Code of Conduct Fundamentals for Credit Rating
Agencies. In March 2008, IOSCO published for public consultation a report on the role of CRAs in structured finance, as well as a
proposal to amend the IOSCO Code of Conduct Fundamentals for CRAs. Working with four other globally active CRAs, MIS
submitted a joint response to IOSCQ'’s consultation report. This joint response can be found on the Regulatory Affairs webpage of
the Company’s website. In May 2008, IOSCO finalized its report and published the revised IOSCO Code at its annual meeting in
May, 2008. The changes made to the IOSCO Code broadly address greater transparency of methodologies and processes by
CRAs. On July 2008, IOSCO also announced that it will monitor the CRAs implementation of the IOSCO Code changes and it will
explore the means by which IOSCO members might work together to verify the proper and complete disclosure by CRAs of
information required by the IOSCO Code. Finally, in September IOSCO announced that it would discuss at its next technical
committee meeting, held in January 2009, measures that would aim to bring about more globally consistent oversight of CRAs.

MIS initially published its Code of Professional Conduct pursuant to the IOSCO Code in June 2005 and published an updated
version in October 2007. In November 2008, MIS revised its Code to reflect the changes made to the IOSCO Code. Beginning in
2006, MIS has annually published a report that describes its implementation of the Code. The MIS Code and the three annual
reports that have been published thus far can be found on the Regulatory Affairs page of the Company’s website.

EU — The European Commission presently is re-examining the regulatory framework for rating agencies in Europe. On July 31,
2008 the Commission published a consultation document seeking comments on proposals with respect to regulating rating
agencies that operate in the EU. Specifically, the Commission sought comments on the authorization, supervision and
enforcement rules for rating agencies that operate within the EU. Over 90 respondents provided the Commission with their views
on the suggested framework. MIS’s comments on the proposal are posted on the Regulatory Affairs page of the Company’s
website.

In November 2008, the Commission introduced proposed regulation for the oversight of CRAs (“Proposed Regulation”). The
document is primarily based on the IOSCO Code, but with important differences. Particularly, the Commission has introduced
additional conduct and governance regulation. The Proposed Regulation is now being considered by EU Member States — under
the leadership of the Presidency of the Council of the EU — and by the European Parliament. Both bodies have the ability to
introduce significant modifications to the Commission’s original proposed text.

It is as yet too early to assess the form and content of this re-evaluation process.

The Basel Committee — In June 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published a new bank capital adequacy
framework, called Basel Il, to replace its initial 1988 framework. Under Basel Il, ratings assigned by recognized CRAs or ECAIS,
can be used by banks in determining credit risk weights for many of their institutional credit exposures. Recognized ECAIs could
be subject to a broader range of oversight. National authorities have begun the ECAI recognition process. MIS has been
recognized as an ECAI in several jurisdictions and the recognition process is ongoing in many others. MIS does not currently
believe that Basel Il will materially affect its financial position or results of operations. As a result of the recent regulatory activity,
the banking authorities of the Basel Committee are reconsidering the overall Basel Il framework. It is as yet too early to assess the
form and content of this re-evaluation.

Other legislation and regulation relating to credit rating and research services is being considered by local, national and
multinational bodies and this type of activity is likely to continue in the future. In addition, in certain countries, governments may
provide financial or other support to locally-based rating agencies. For example, governments may from time to time establish
official rating agencies or credit ratings criteria or procedures for evaluating local issuers. If enacted, any such legislation and
regulation could change the competitive landscape in which MIS operates. The legal status of rating agencies has been
addressed by courts in various decisions and is likely to be considered and addressed in legal proceedings from time to time in
the future. Management of MIS cannot predict whether these or any other proposals will be enacted, the outcome of any pending
or possible future legal proceedings, or regulatory or legislative actions, or the ultimate impact of any such matters on the
competitive position, financial position or results of operations of Moody'’s.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Moody’s and its affiliates own and control a variety of trade secrets, confidential information, trademarks, trade names, copyrights,
patents, databases and other intellectual property rights that, in the aggregate, are of material importance to Moody’s business.
Management of Moody'’s believes that each of the trademarks and related corporate names, marks and logos containing the term

“Moody’s” are of material importance to the Company. Moody’s is licensed to use certain technology and other intellectual
property rights owned and controlled by others, and, similarly, other companies are licensed to use certain technology and other
intellectual property rights owned and controlled by Moody’s. The Company considers its trademarks, service marks, databases,
software and other intellectual property to be proprietary, and Moody'’s relies on a combination of copyright, trademark, trade
secret, patent, non-disclosure and contractual safeguards for protection.

The names of Moody’s products and services referred to herein are trademarks, service marks or registered trademarks or service
marks owned by or licensed to Moody’s or one or more of its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2008, the number of full-time equivalent employees of Moody’s was approximately 3,900.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Moody'’s investor relations Internet website is http://ir.moodys.com/. Under the “SEC Filings” tab at this website, the Company
makes available free of charge its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

The SEC maintains an internet site that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy and other information statements
that the Company files electronically with the SEC. The SEC'’s internet site is http://www.sec.gov/.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

NAME, AGE AND POSITION

Mark E. Almeida, 49
President —
Moody’s Analytics

Richard Cantor, 51

Chief Risk Officer — Moody's
Corporation and

Chief Credit Officer —
Moody'’s Investors Service

John J. Goggins, 48
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel

BIOGRAPHICAL DATA

Mr. Almeida has served as President of Moody’s Analytics since January 2008. Prior to this
position, Mr. Almeida was Senior Vice President of Moody’s Corporation from August 2007 to
January 2008, Senior Managing Director of the Investor Services Group (ISG) at Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. from December 2004 to January 2008 and was Group Managing Director of
ISG from June 2000 to December 2004. Mr. Almeida joined Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. in April
1988 and has held a variety of positions with the company in both the U.S. and overseas.

Mr. Cantor has served as Chief Risk Officer of Moody’s Corporation since December 2008 and as
Chief Credit Officer of Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. since November 2008. Mr. Cantor has also
served as the Chairman of the Credit Policy Committee since November 2008. From July 2008 to
November 2008 Mr. Cantor served as Acting Chief Credit Officer and Acting Chairman of the
Credit Policy Committee. Prior thereto, Mr. Cantor was Managing Director of Moody’s Credit Policy
Research Group from June 2001 to July 2008 and Senior Vice President in the Financial
Guarantors Rating Group. Mr. Cantor joined Moody’s in 1997 from the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, where he served as Assistant Vice President in the Research Group and was Staff
Director at the Discount Window. Prior to the Federal Reserve, Mr. Cantor taught Economics at
UCLA and Ohio State and has taught on an adjunct basis at the business schools of Columbia
University and NYU.

Mr. Goggins has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President and General Counsel since
October 1, 2000. Mr. Goggins joined Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. in February 1999 as Vice
President and Associate General Counsel and became General Counsel in 2000.
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NAME, AGE AND POSITION

Linda S. Huber, 50

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Michel Madelain, 52

Chief Operating Officer — Moody'’s Investors Service

Joseph (Jay) McCabe, 58

Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., 51
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Ms. Huber has served as the Company’s Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer since May 2005. Prior thereto, she served as
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at U.S. Trust
Company, a subsidiary of Charles Schwab & Company, Inc., from 2003 to
2005. Prior to U.S. Trust, she was Managing Director at Freeman & Co.
from 1998 through 2002. She served PepsiCo as Vice President of
Corporate Strategy and Development from 1997 until 1998 and as Vice
President and Assistant Treasurer from 1994 until 1997. She served as Vice
President in the Energy Investment Banking Group at Bankers Trust
Company from 1991 until 1994 and as an Associate in the Energy Group at
First Boston Corporation from 1986 through 1990. She also held the rank of
Captain in the U.S. Army where she served from 1980 to 1984.

Mr. Madelain has served as Chief Operating Officer of Moody’s Investors
Service Inc., since May 2008. Prior to this position, Mr. Madelain served as
Executive Vice President, Fundamental Ratings from September 2007 to
May 2008, with responsibility for all Global Fundamental Ratings, including
Corporate Finance, Financial Institutions, Public Finance and Infrastructure
Finance. He managed the Financial Institutions group from March 2007 until
September 2007. Mr. Madelain served as Group Managing Director, EMEA
Corporate Ratings from January 2004 to March 2007 and prior thereto held
several Managing Director positions in the U.S. and U.K. Fundamental
Rating Groups. Prior to joining Moody’s in 1994, Mr. Madelain served as a
Partner of Ernst & Young, Auditing Practice. Mr. Madelain is qualified as a
Chartered Accountant in France.

Mr. McCabe has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President and
Corporate Controller since December 2005. Mr. McCabe joined Moody’s in
July 2004 as Vice President and Corporate Controller. Before joining the
Company, he served as Vice President — Corporate Controller at PPL
Corporation, an energy and utility company, from 1994 to 2003. Prior to PPL
Corporation, he served Deloitte & Touche as Partner from 1984 to 1993 and
as a member of the firm’s audit practice from 1973 to 1984.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., has served as the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since April 2005 and serves on the
International Business Development Committee of the Board of Directors.
Mr. McDaniel served as the Company’s President from October 2004 until
April 2005 and the Company’s Chief Operating Officer from January 2004
until April 2005. He has served as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
President of Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. since May 2008 and served as
President of Moody’s Investors Service from November 2001 to August
2007. Mr. McDaniel served as the Company’s Executive Vice President
from April 2003 to January 2004, and as Senior Vice President, Global
Ratings and Research from November 2000 until April 2003. He served as
Senior Managing Director, Global Ratings and Research, of Moody'’s
Investors Service from November 2000 until November 2001 and as
Managing Director, International from 1996 to November 2000. Mr.
McDaniel is also a Director of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
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Perry Rotella, 45
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Lisa S. Westlake, 47
Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resource Officer

BIOGRAPHICAL DATA

Mr. Rotella has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President and
Chief Information Officer since December 2006. Prior to joining the
Company, he served as Chief Information Officer for American
International Group’s (“AlG”) Domestic Brokerage group from 2003 to
2006, Operations and Systems Executive in 2006 and Global Chief
Technology Officer from 2000 to 2003. Prior to AlG, from 1985 to 1999,
Mr. Rotella was with American Management Systems (“AMS”), a
technology consulting firm, where he held a variety of positions
including Chief Technology Officer for AMS’s Insurance Technology
Group.

Ms. Westlake has served as the Company’s Senior Vice President and
Chief Human Resources Officer since December 2008. Prior to this
position, Ms. Westlake served as Vice President — Investor Relations
from December 2006 to December 2008 and Managing Director —
Finance from September 2004 to December 2006. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Westlake was a senior consultant with the Schiff
Consulting Group from 2003 to 2004. From 1996 to 2003 Ms. Westlake
worked at American Express Company where she held several
different positions such as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
for the OPEN Business, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for
Establishment Services and Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
for Relationship Services. From 1989 to 1995 Ms. Westlake held a
range of financial management positions at Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation and it subsidiary at the time, IMS International. From 1984
to 1987 Ms. Westlake served at Lehman Brothers in both the
investment banking and municipal trading areas.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors and other information included in this annual report on Form 10-K should be carefully considered. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to the Company or that the Company’s management currently deems minor or insignificant also may impair its business
operations. If any of the following risks occur, Moody’s business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.

Changes in the Volume of Debt Securities Issued in Domestic and/or Global Capital Markets and Changes in Interest
Rates and Other Volatility in the Financial Markets

Approximately 49% of MIS’ revenue for 2008 was transaction-based, compared to 68% of MIS’ revenue in 2007. Revenue from
rating transactions, in turn, is dependent on the number and dollar volume of debt securities issued in the capital markets.
Accordingly, any conditions that either reduce investor demand for debt securities or reduce issuers’ willingness or ability to issue
such securities could reduce the number and dollar volume of debt issuances for which Moody’s provides ratings services, and
thereby, have an adverse effect on the fees derived from the issuance of ratings.

A significant disruption in world financial markets, particularly in the credit markets, that began in mid-2007 worsened materially in
the second half of 2008, particularly in the latter portion of the year when many credit markets experienced a severe lack of
liquidity. These credit market disruptions together with the current economic slowdown have negatively impacted the volume of
debt securities issued in global capital markets and the demand for credit ratings. Consequently, the Company has experienced a
substantial reduction in the demand for rating newly issued debt securities resulting in a 32% decrease in MIS revenue for 2008
compared to 2007. The timing and nature of any recovery in the credit and other financial markets remains uncertain, and there
can be no assurance that market conditions will improve in the future or that financial results will not continue to be adversely
affected. A sustained period of market decline or weakness, especially if it relates to credit sensitive securities, for which there is
typically a high level of demand for ratings, could have a material adverse effect on Moody’s business and financial results.
Initiatives that the Company has undertaken to reduce costs may not be sufficient to offset the results of a prolonged or more
severe downturn, and further cost reductions may be difficult or impossible to obtain in the near term, due in part to rent,
technology and other fixed costs associated with some of the Company’s operations as well as the need to monitor outstanding
ratings. Further, the cost-reduction initiatives undertaken to date could result in strains in the Company’s operations if the credit
markets and demand for ratings return to levels that prevailed prior to mid-2007 or otherwise unexpectedly surge.

Other factors that could further reduce investor demand for debt securities or reduce issuers’ willingness or ability to issue such
securities include increases in interest rates or credit spreads, continued volatility in financial markets or the interest rate
environment, significant regulatory, political or economic events, the use of alternative sources of credit including financial
institutions and government sources, defaults of significant issuers and other unfavorable market and economic conditions.

Regulation as a Nationally Recognized Statistical R ating Organization and Potential for New Domestica  nd Overseas
Legislation and Regulations

Credit rating agencies are regulated in both the U.S. and in other countries (including by state and local authorities). Currently,
Moody'’s is designated as an NRSRO pursuant to SEC regulation enacted in response to the adoption of the Reform Act. One of
the central promises of the Reform Act was to encourage competition among rating agencies. Given its adoption, Moody’s is
unable to assess the future impact of any regulatory changes that may result from the SEC'’s regulations or the impact on Moody's
competitive position or its current practices. Possible consequences of these new regulations include issues that may affect all
entities engaged in the rating agency business, such as expected increased costs, or issues that may affect Moody’s in a
disproportionate manner. Any of these changes could negatively impact Moody’s operations or profitability, the Company’s ability
to compete, or the markets for its products and services in ways that Moody’s presently is unable to predict.

In addition, over the past year, both the G-7 and the G-20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors have sought to analyze
and arrive at a consistent approach for addressing the various areas of the financial market and have made a variety of
recommendations as to regulation of rating agencies and the markets for ratings. Finance ministers have also agreed to register
rating agencies in their home jurisdiction. As a result, of the internationally coordinated activity, individual countries likely will begin
implementing registration regimes for the oversight of CRAs in the coming years. In particular, the European Commission
presently is re-examining the regulatory framework for rating agencies in Europe. In November 2008, the
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Commission published a draft regulation for the oversight of regulating rating agencies that operate in the EU. It is as yet too early
to assess the form and content of this re-evaluation. As with the recent regulatory initiatives in the U.S., these initiatives may affect
all entities engaged in the rating agency business or may affect Moody'’s in a disproportionate manner, and could negatively
impact Moody’s operations or profitability, the Company'’s ability to compete, or the markets for its products and services in ways
that Moody'’s presently is unable to predict.

In addition to the foregoing, many legislative and regulatory agencies, both in the U.S. and in other countries, have been studying
or pursuing new laws and regulations addressing CRAs and the use of credit ratings. It is possible that such initiatives could lead
to additional laws or regulations affecting Moody’s operations or profitability, the Company’s ability to compete, or the markets for
its products and services. This could include adopting regulations that require debt securities to be rated, establish criteria for
credit ratings or authorize only certain entities to provide credit ratings, which could negatively affect competition among rating
agencies, the level of demand for ratings or the Company’s ability to provide objective assessments of creditworthiness. Additional
regulations could, potentially, increase the costs associated with the operation of a CRA, alter the rating agencies’
communications with the issuers as part of the rating assignment process, increase the legal risk associated with the issuance of
credit ratings, change the regulatory framework to which CRAs are subject and affect the competitive environment in which CRAs
operate.

As existing laws and regulations applicable to credit ratings and rating agencies continue to evolve and new laws or regulations
are adopted, the costs of compliance may increase and Moody’s may not be able to pass these costs through the pricing of its
products. In addition, increased regulatory uncertainty over the scope, interpretation and administration of laws and regulations
may increase costs, decrease demand or affect the manner in which Moody’s or its customers or users of credit ratings operate,
or alter the economics of the credit ratings business by restricting or mandating the business models under which an NRSRO is
permitted to operate.

A description of several of the more recent regulatory initiatives in the U.S. and other countries is described above under the
section entitled “Regulation” in Item 1. “Business”, of this Form 10-K.

Legal, Economic and Regulatory Risks of Operating i n Foreign Jurisdictions

Moody’s maintains offices outside the U.S. and derives a significant and increasing portion of its revenue from sources outside the
U.S. In addition to the regulatory risks discussed above, operations in different countries expose Moody’s to a number of legal,
economic and regulatory risks such as restrictions on the ability to convert local currency into U.S. dollars and currency
fluctuations; U.S. laws affecting overseas operations including regulations applicable under the Office of Foreign Asset Control
and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; domestic and foreign export and import restrictions, tariffs and other trade barriers; political
and economic instability; the possibility of nationalization, expropriation, price controls and other restrictive governmental actions;
longer payment cycles and possible problems in collecting receivables; and potentially adverse tax consequences.

In addition to competition from other rating agencies that operate in a number of international jurisdictions and specialized
companies that provide ratings for particular types of financial products or issuers (such as A.M. Best Company, Inc., with respect
to the insurance industry), in many foreign countries Moody’s will have to compete with rating agencies that may have a stronger
local presence and greater familiarity or a longer operating history in those markets. These local providers or comparable
competitors that may emerge in the future may receive support from local governments or other institutions that Moody’s does not
receive, putting Moody’s at a competitive disadvantage.

Uncertain Impact of Government Actions to Stabilize Financial Institutions and Markets

The U.S. government announced several programs in 2008, including the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act, the October 14,
2008 joint statement by the U.S. Treasury, Federal Reserve and FDIC announcing the Troubled Asset Relief Program through
which the government is authorized to purchase up to $700 billion in whole loans and mortgage-related securities as well as to
invest directly in financial institutions, the Treasury Department’s money market mutual fund guaranty program, the Federal
Reserve’s commercial paper funding facility and payment of interest on reserve balances, the FDIC’s temporary liquidity
guarantee program and the February 10, 2009 statement by the U.S. Treasury. Additionally, the governments of many nations
and international organizations such as the International Monetary Fund have announced similar measures for institutions and
countries around the world. There is no assurance that these programs individually or collectively will have beneficial effects in the
credit markets, will address credit or liquidity issues of companies that participate in the programs, will reduce volatility or
uncertainty in the financial markets or will reverse or moderate the slowdown and downturn of world economies. The failure of
these programs to have their intended effects could have a material adverse effect on the financial markets, which in turn could
materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, these and
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similar initiatives could reduce the demand for ratings of credit securities or other financial products, could result in increased
government regulation of such markets and could have other unanticipated adverse effects on the markets for and demand for
debt securities and/or for ratings of such instruments.

Increased Pricing Pressure from Competitors and/or Customers

In the credit rating, research and credit risk management markets, competition for customers and market share has spurred more

aggressive tactics by some competitors in areas such as pricing and service. At the same time, bankruptcies and consolidation of
customers, particularly those involved in structured finance products, and other factors affecting demand may enhance the market
power of customers. While Moody’s seeks to compete primarily on the basis of the quality of its products and service, if its pricing

and services are not sufficiently competitive with its current and future competitors, Moody’s may lose market share.

Introduction of Competing Products or Technologies by Other Companies

The markets for credit ratings, research and credit risk management services are highly competitive. The ability to provide
innovative products and technologies that anticipate customers’ changing requirements and to utilize emerging technological
trends is a key factor in maintaining market share. Competitors may develop quantitative methodologies or related services for
assessing credit risk that customers and market participants may deem preferable, more cost-effective or more valuable than the
credit risk assessment methods currently employed by Moody’s, or may price or market their products in manners that differ from
those utilized by the Company. Customers or others may develop alternative, proprietary systems for assessing credit risk. Such
developments could affect demand for Moody’s products and the Company’s growth prospects. In addition, Moody’s growth
prospects also could be adversely affected by limitations of its information technologies that fail to provide adequate capacity and
capabilities to meet increased demands of producing quality ratings and research products at levels achieved by competitors.

Exposure to Litigation Related to Moody’s Rating Op inions

Currently, Moody’s has received subpoenas and inquiries from states attorneys general and governmental authorities, as part of
ongoing investigations, and is cooperating with those inquiries. In addition, Moody’s faces litigation from parties claiming damages
relating to ratings actions, as well as other related actions. In these difficult economic times, when the value of credit-dependent
instruments has declined and defaults have increased, the number of investigations and legal proceedings Moody'’s is facing has
increased. These proceedings impose additional expenses on the Company, which may increase over time as these matters
progress procedurally, require the attention of senior management to an extent that may reduce their ability to devote significant
time addressing other business issues, and may result in fines or damages if we are deemed to have violated any laws or
regulations. As Moody'’s international business expands, these types of claims may increase or become more costly because
foreign jurisdictions may not have legal protections or liability standards comparable to those in the U.S. (such as protections for
the expression of credit opinions as provided by the First Amendment and may pose criminal rather than civil penalties for non-
compliance). These risks often may be difficult to assess or quantify and we may not have adequate insurance or reserves to
cover them, and their existence and magnitude often remains unknown for substantial periods of time.

Exposure to Reputational and Credibility Concerns

Moody'’s reputation is one of the key bases on which the Company competes. To the extent that the rating agency business as a
whole or that Moody'’s, relative to its competitors, suffers a loss in credibility, Moody’s business could be adversely affected.
Factors that could affect credibility include, potentially, the performance of securities relative to the rating assigned to such
securities by a particular rating agency, the timing and nature of changes in ratings, adverse publicity as to the ratings process
and the appearance of a conflict of interest.

Possible Loss of Key Employees and Related Compensa  tion Cost Pressures

Moody'’s success depends in part upon recruiting and retaining highly skilled, experienced financial analysts and other
professionals. Competition for qualified staff in the financial services industry is intense, and Moody'’s ability to attract staff could
be impaired if it is unable to offer competitive compensation and other incentives or if the regulatory environment mandates
restrictions on or disclosures about individual employees that would not be necessary in competing analytical industries.
Investment banks, investors and competitors may seek to attract analyst talent by offering higher compensation than Moody’s or
providing more favorable working conditions. Moody’s also may not be able to identify and hire employees in some markets
outside the U.S. with the required experience or skills to perform sophisticated credit analysis. Moody’s may also lose key
employees due to other factors, such as catastrophes, that could lead to disruption of business operations. Moody'’s ability to
compete effectively will continue to depend, among other things, on its ability to attract new employees and to retain and motivate
existing employees.
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Moody’s Operations and Infrastructure may Malfuncti on or Fail

Moody'’s ability to conduct business may be adversely impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports its businesses
and the communities in which Moody'’s is located. This may include a disruption involving electrical, communications or other
services used by the Company or third parties with or through whom Moody’s conducts business, whether due to human error,
natural disasters, power loss, telecommunication failures, break-ins, sabotage, computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism,
acts of terrorism or war or otherwise. Moody’s efforts to secure and plan for potential disruptions of major operating systems may
not be successful. The Company does not have fully redundant systems for most of its smaller office locations and low-risk
systems, and its disaster recovery plan does not include restoration of non-essential services. If a disruption occurs in one of
Moody'’s locations or systems and its personnel in those locations or who rely on such systems are unable to utilize other systems
or communicate with or travel to other locations, its ability to service and interact with Moody’s clients and customers may suffer.

The Company’s operations also rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information in
its computer systems and networks. Although Moody'’s takes protective measures and endeavor to modify them as circumstances
warrant, its computer systems, software and networks may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer viruses or other
malicious events that could have a security impact. If one or more of such events occur, this could jeopardize Moody'’s or its
clients’ or counterparties’ confidential and other information processed and stored in, and transmitted through, its computer
systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in the Company’s, its clients’, its counterparties’ or third
parties’ operations. Moody’s may be required to expend significant additional resources to modify its protective measures or to
investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures, and the Company may be subject to litigation and financial losses
that are either not insured against or not fully covered through any insurance maintained by Moody’s.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Moody'’s corporate headquarters is located at 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York, with
approximately 668,513 square feet. During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company completed the sale of its former corporate
headquarters building at 99 Church Street, New York, New York. As of December 31, 2008, Moody’s operations were conducted
from 18 U.S. offices and 56 non-U.S. office locations, all of which are leased. These properties are geographically distributed to
meet operating and sales requirements worldwide. These properties are generally considered to be both suitable and adequate to
meet current operating requirements.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal and tax proceedings, governmental investigations, claims and litigation that are
incidental to the Company’s business, including claims based on ratings assigned by MIS. Moody’s is also subject to ongoing tax
audits in the normal course of business. Management periodically assesses the Company’s liabilities and contingencies in
connection with these matters based upon the latest information available. Moody’s discloses material pending legal proceedings
pursuant to SEC rules and other pending matters as it may determine to be appropriate.

As a result of recent events in the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector and the credit markets more broadly, various
legislative, regulatory and enforcement entities around the world are investigating or evaluating the role of rating agencies in the
U.S. subprime mortgage-backed securitization market and structured finance markets more generally. Moody’s has received
subpoenas and inquiries from states attorneys general and other governmental authorities and is cooperating with such
investigations and inquiries. Moody’s is also cooperating with a review by the SEC relating to errors in the model used by MIS to
rate certain constant-proportion debt obligations. In addition, the Company is facing market participant litigation relating to the
performance of MIS rated securities. Although Moody’s in the normal course experiences such litigation, the volume and cost of
defending such litigation has significantly increased in the current economic environment.

On June 27, 2008, the Brockton Contributory Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a
purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and certain senior officers, and the
Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The plaintiff asserts various
causes of action relating to the named defendants’ oversight of MIS’s ratings of RMBS and constant-proportion debt obligations,
and their participation in the alleged public dissemination of false and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or
a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent the alleged wrongdoing. The plaintiff seeks compensatory
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damages, restitution, disgorgement of profits and other equitable relief. On July 2, 2008, Thomas R. Flynn, a purported
shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a similar purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company
against its directors and certain senior officers, and the Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New
York, County of New York, asserting similar claims and seeking the same relief. The cases have been consolidated and plaintiffs
filed an amended consolidated complaint in November 2008. The Company removed the consolidated action to the U.S. District
Court for the Southern District of New York in December 2008. In January 2009, the plaintiffs moved to remand the case to the
Supreme Court of the State of New York. The Company will oppose remand and expects to move to dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint upon resolution of the remand motion. On October 30, 2008, the Louisiana Municipal Police Employees
Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, also filed a shareholder derivative complaint on behalf
of the Company against its directors and certain officers, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York. This complaint too asserts various causes of action relating to the Company’s ratings of RMBS,
CDO and constant-proportion debt obligations, and named defendants’ participation in the alleged public dissemination of false
and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent
the alleged wrongdoing. On December 9, 2008, Rena Nadoff, a purported shareholder of the Company, filed a shareholder
derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and its CEO, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the
Supreme Court of the State of New York. The complaint asserts a claim for breach of fiduciary duty in connection with alleged
overrating of asset-backed securities and underrating of municipal securities.

Two purported class action complaints have been filed by purported purchasers of the Company’s securities against the Company
and certain of its senior officers, asserting claims under the federal securities laws. The first was filed by Raphael Nach in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on July 19, 2007. The second was filed by Teamsters Local 282 Pension Trust
Fund in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York on September 26, 2007. Both actions have been
consolidated into a single proceeding entitled In re Moody’s Corporation Securities Litigation in the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York. On June 27, 2008, a consolidated amended complaint was filed, purportedly on behalf of all
purchasers of the Company’s securities during the period February 3, 2006 through October 24, 2007. Plaintiffs allege that the
defendants issued false and/or misleading statements concerning the Company’s business conduct, business prospects,
business conditions and financial results relating primarily to MIS’s ratings of structured finance products including RMBS, CDO
and constant-proportion debt obligations. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of compensatory damages and their
reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with the case. The Company moved for dismissal of the consolidated
amended complaint in September 2008. On February 23, 2009, the court issued an opinion dismissing certain claims, sustaining
others and granting plaintiffs leave to amend their complaint by March 18, 2009.

For claims, litigation and proceedings not related to income taxes, where it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company has recorded liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and periodically adjusts these as appropriate. In other instances, because of uncertainties related to the probable outcome and/or
the amount or range of loss, management does not record a liability but discloses the contingency if significant. As additional
information becomes available, the Company adjusts its assessments and estimates of such matters accordingly. For income tax
matters, the Company employs the prescribed methodology of FIN 48 implemented as of January 1, 2007 which requires a
company to first determine whether it is more-likely-than-not (defined as a likelihood of more than fifty percent) that a tax position
will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing authorities will examine the position
and have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets this more-likely-than-not threshold is then measured
and recognized at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized upon effective settlement with
a taxing authority.

Based on its review of the latest information available, and subject to the contingencies described in Item 7. “MD&A —
Contingencies”, the ultimate monetary liability of the Company for the pending matters referred to above (other than Legacy Tax
Matters that are discussed in Part Il, Item 7. “MD&A — Contingencies “) is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the
Company'’s consolidated financial condition, although it is possible that the effect could be material to the Company’s consolidated
results of operations for an individual reporting period. This opinion is subject to the contingencies described in Part Il, Item 7.
“MD&A — Contingencies”.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this annual report on Form 10-K, no matter was submitted to a vote of
security holders.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Information in response to this Item is set forth under the captions below.

MOODY'S PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
For the Three Months Ended December 31, 2008

Total Number of

Shares Purchased Approximate Dollar

Value of Shares That May

Total Number as Part
of Shares Purchased A . of Publicly yet be Purchased Under
verage Price Announced
Period @ Paid per Share Program the Program @
October 1 — 31 3,620,923 $ 25.43 3,619,910 $ 1,459.2 million
November 1 — 30 1,174,251 $ 23.88 1,174,251 $ 1,431.2 million
December 1 — 31 1,025 $ 19.98 — $ 1,431.2 million
Total 4,796,199 $ 25.05 4,794,161 $ 1,431.2 million

(1) Includes the surrender to the Company of 1,013 and 1,025 shares in October and December, respectively, of common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations in
connection with the vesting of restricted stock issued to employees.

(2) As of the last day of each of the months. On July 30, 2007, the Company’s Board authorized a $2.0 billion share repurchase program which the Company began
utilizing in January 2008 upon completion of the June 2006 authorization. There is no established expiration date for the authorization.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, Moody’s repurchased 4.8 million shares of its common stock, at an aggregate cost of $120.1
million, and issued $0.1 million shares under employee stock-based compensation plans.
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COMMON STOCK INFORMATION AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MCO”. The table below indicates the
high and low sales price of the Company’s common stock and the dividends declared and paid for the periods shown. The

number of registered shareholders of record at January 31, 2009 was 3,338.

PRICE PER SHARE DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
High Low Declared Paid
2008:
First quarter $42.89 $31.14 $ — $ 010
Second quarter 46.36 33.14 0.10 0.10
Third quarter 43.07 29.45 0.10 0.10
Fourth quarter 33.96 15.41 0.20 0.10
Year ended December 31, 2008 $ 040 $ 0.40
2007:
First quarter $76.09 $58.65 $ — $ 0.08
Second quarter 73.69 59.91 0.08 0.08
Third quarter 63.70 42.42 0.08 0.08
Fourth quarter 55.99 35.05 0.18 0.08
Year ended December 31, 2007 $ 034 $ 0.32

During 2006, the Company paid a quarterly dividend of $0.07 per share of Moody’s common stock in each of the quarters,

resulting in dividends paid per share during the year ended December 31, 2006 of $0.28.

On December 16, 2008, the Board of the Company approved the declaration of a quarterly dividend of $0.10 per share of Moody’s

common stock, payable on March 10, 2009 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 20, 2009. The
continued payment of dividends at the rate noted above, or at all, is subject to the discretion of the Board.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The table below sets forth, as of December 31, 2008, certain information regarding the Company’s equity compensation plans.

Number of
Securities to be Weighted-
Average Exercise
Issued Upon
Exercise of Price of
Outstanding Outstanding
Options, Options,
Warrants and Warrants and
Rights Rights
Plan Category (a) (b)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 19,408,014W $ 37.72
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — —
Total 19,408,014 $ 37.72

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans

(excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))

(©

15,252,866

15,252,866

(1) Includes 11,563,350 options outstanding under the Company’s 2001 Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan, 7,670,664 options outstanding under the Company’s 1998

Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan, and 174,000 options issued under the 1998 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive

Plan.

(2) Includes 11,492,279 shares available for issuance as options, stock appreciation rights or other stock-based awards under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 235,989
shares available for issuance as options, shares of restricted stock or performance shares under the 1998 Directors Plan, and 3,524,598 shares available for issuance
under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan. No new grants may be made under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, which expired by its terms in June 2008.

24 MOODY’S 2008 ANNUAL REPORT FINANCIALS



Table of Contents

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the total cumulative shareholder return of the Company to the performance of Standard & Poor’s
Stock 500 Index, an index of performance peer group companies (the “Performance Peer Group”) and the Russell 3000 Financial
Services Index.

The Company is electing to use the Russell 3000 Financial Services Index, which is accessible to our shareholders in
newspapers, the internet and other readily available sources for purposes of the following graph. The Company previously utilized
the Performance Peer Group, which is a custom composite index of peer issuers that were selected in good faith. At December
31, 2008 this Performance Peer Group consisted of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Pearson PLC, Thomson-Reuters Corporation
and Wolters Kluwer N.V. Late in 2007, Dow Jones & Company, Inc was acquired by News Corporation and in 2008 Reuters
Group PLC was acquired by Thomson Corporation. As a result of these changes, and because of the limited number of
companies contained in the Performance Peer Group index, the Company believes that the index previously utilized is not as
representative for comparison purposes as the Russell 3000 Financial Services Index.

The comparison assumes that $100.00 was invested in the Company’s common stock and in each of the foregoing indices on
December 31, 2003. The comparison also assumes the reinvestment of dividends, if any. The total return for the common stock
was (31%) during the performance period as compared with a total return during the same period of (10%) for the S&P 500,
(48%) for the Russell 3000 Financial Services Index and (19%) for the Performance Peer Group.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
Since December 31, 2003
Moody’s Corporation, Peer Group Index, Russell 3000 Financial Services Index and S&P Composite Index

5L+

(TR TINE | 2031004 1203105 12031006 12131007 | 293100

—a— MOODYS CORPORATION --u- PEER GROUT IKDEX

= g o =58P COMPOSITE INDEX —i— RLISELL 3000 FINAMNCIAL SERVICES INIIEX

PERIOD ENDING
12/31/2003 12/31/2004 12/31/2005 12/31/2006 12/31/2007 12/31/2008

Moody’s Corporation $100.00 $144.06 $204.89 $231.41 $120.35 $ 68.58
Peer Group Index 100.00 111.83 117.81 151.18 131.14 81.38
Russell 3000 — Financial Services Index 100.00 110.57 113.85 131.56 106.26 52.09
S&P Composite Index 100.00 110.88 116.33 134.70 142.10 89.53
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The comparisons in the graph above are provided in response to disclosure requirements of the SEC and are not intended to
forecast or be indicative of future performance of the Company’s common stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Company’s selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7. “MD&A” and the Moody'’s
Corporation consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

amounts in millions, except per share data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Results of operations

Revenue $1,755.4 $2,259.0 $2,037.1 $1,731.6 $1,438.3

Operating and SG&A expenses 934.6 1,035.1 898.7 756.8 617.8

Depreciation and amortization 75.1 42.9 39.5 35.2 34.1

Restructuring (2.5) 50.0 — — —

Gain on sale of building — — (160.6) — —
Operating income 748.2 1,131.0 1,259.5 939.6 786.4

Non-operating (expense) income, net ® (22.4) (14.3) 1.0 (4.9) (15.1)
Income before provision for income taxes 725.8 1,116.7 1,260.5 934.7 771.3

Provision for income taxes @ 268.2 415.2 506.6 373.9 346.2
Net income $ 457.6 $ 7015 $ 753.9 $ 560.8 $ 425.1
Earnings per share

Basic $ 189 $ 2.63 $ 265 $ 188 $ 143

Diluted $ 1.87 $ 258 $ 2.58 $ 184 $ 1.40
Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 242.4 266.4 284.2 297.7 297.0

Diluted 245.3 272.2 291.9 305.6 304.7
Dividends declared per share $ 040 $ 034 $ 029 $ 024 $ 0.15

DECEMBER 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Balance sheet data
Total assets $1,773.4 $1,714.6 $1,497.7 $1,457.2 $1,389.3
Long-term debt @ $ 750.0 $ 600.0 $ 300.0 $ 300.0 —
Shareholders’ (deficit) equity $(994.4) $ (783.6) $ 167.4 $ 309.4 $ 317.5

(1) The 2008 and 2007 amounts include a benefit of $13.3 million and $31.9 million, respectively, related to the favorable resolution of certain Legacy Tax Matters.
(2) The 2007, 2006 and 2005 amounts include net benefits of $20.4 million, $2.4 million and $8.8 million, respectively and the 2004 amount includes an expense of $30.0

million, relating to certain Legacy Tax Matters.

(3) AtDecember 31, 2004, the $300 million notes payable scheduled to mature in September 2005 were classified as a current liability.
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I TEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Moody’s
Corporation consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

This MD&A contains Forward-Looking Statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” commencing on page 53 and Item 1A.
“Risk Factors” commencing on page 18 for a discussion of uncertainties, risks and other factors associated with these statements.

THE COMPANY

Moody'’s is a provider of (i) credit ratings and related research, data and analytical tools, (ii) quantitative credit risk measures, risk
scoring software and credit portfolio management solutions and (iii) software for fixed income pricing data and valuation models.
Moody’s operates in two reportable segments: MIS and MA.

MIS, the credit rating agency, publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such
obligations in markets worldwide. Revenue is derived from the originators and issuers of such transactions who use MIS ratings in
the distribution of their debt issues to investors.

The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that support the risk management activities of institutional
participants in global financial markets. These offerings include quantitative credit risk scores, credit processing software,
economic research, analytical models, financial data, securities pricing and valuation services, and specialized consulting
services. MA also distributes investor-oriented research and data developed by MIS as part of its rating process, including in-
depth research on major debt issuers, industry studies, and commentary on topical credit related events.

Beginning in January 2008, Moody’s segments were changed to reflect the Reorganization announced in August 2007. As a result
of the Reorganization, the rating agency is reported in the MIS segment and several ratings business lines have been realigned.
All of Moody’s other non-rating commercial activities, including MKMV and sales of research produced by MIS analysts and the
production and sales of other products and services, are represented in the MA segment.

As part of the Reorganization there were several realignments within the MIS LOBs. Sovereign and sub-sovereign ratings, which
were previously part of financial institutions; infrastructure/utilities ratings, which were previously part of corporate finance; and
project finance, which was previously part of structured finance, were combined with the public finance business to form a new
LOB called public, project and infrastructure finance. In addition, real estate investment trust ratings were moved from financial
institutions and corporate finance to the structured finance business. Furthermore, in August 2008 the global managed
investments ratings group, previously part of the structured finance business, was combined with the financial institutions
business.

Within MA, various aspects of the legacy MIS research business and MKMV business were combined to form the subscriptions,
software and consulting businesses. The subscriptions business includes credit and economic research, data and analytical
models that are sold on a subscription basis; the software business includes license and maintenance fees for credit risk,
securities pricing and valuation software products; and the consulting business includes professional services and credit training
associated with risk modeling, credit scorecard development, and other specialized analytical projects, as well as credit education
services that are typically sold on a per-engagement basis. Subscription services are typically sold for an initial 12-month term,
with renewal features for subsequent annual periods.

The following is a discussion of the results of operations of these segments, excluding the intersegment royalty revenue for MIS
and expense charged to MA for the rights to use and distribute content, data and products developed by MIS. Additionally,
overhead costs and corporate expenses of the Company are allocated to each segment based on a revenue-split methodology.
Overhead expenses include costs such as rent and occupancy, information technology and support staff such as finance, human
resource, information technology and legal.

In addition to its reported results, Moody’s has included in this MD&A certain adjusted results that the SEC defines as “non-GAAP
financial measures.” Management believes that such non-GAAP financial measures, when read in conjunction with the
Company’s reported results, can provide useful supplemental information for investors analyzing period to period comparisons of
the Company'’s performance. These non-GAAP financial measures relate to Legacy Tax Matters and adjustments made to the
Company’s 2007 Restructuring Plan, further described in Note 17 and Note 10, respectively, to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Moody'’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires
Moody'’s to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the reporting periods.
These estimates are based on historical experience and on other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. On an ongoing basis, Moody’s evaluates its estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, accounts
receivable allowances, contingencies, goodwill and intangible assets, pension and other post-retirement benefits and stock-based
compensation. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The following accounting
estimates are considered critical because they are particularly dependent on management’s judgment about matters that are
uncertain at the time the accounting estimates are made and changes to those estimates could have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

Revenue Recognition

In recognizing revenue related to ratings, MIS uses judgments to allocate billed revenue between the initial assignment of ratings
and the future monitoring of ratings in cases where MIS does not charge ongoing monitoring fees for a particular issuer. These
judgments are not dependent on the outcome of future uncertainties, but rather relate to allocating revenue across accounting
periods. In such cases, MIS defers portions of rating fees that it estimates will be attributed to future monitoring activities and
recognizes the deferred revenue ratably over the estimated monitoring periods.

The portion of the revenue to be deferred is based upon a number of factors, including the estimated fair market value of the
monitoring services charged for similar securities or issuers. The monitoring period over which the deferred revenue will be
recognized is determined based on factors such as the estimated lives of the rated securities. Currently, the estimated monitoring
periods range from one to ten years. At December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, deferred revenue included approximately $48
million, $54 million and $47 million, respectively, related to such monitoring fees.

Additionally, in the case of commercial mortgage-backed securities, derivatives, international residential mortgage-backed and
asset-backed securities, issuers can elect to pay the monitoring fees upfront. These fees are deferred and recognized over the
future monitoring periods, ranging from three to 51 years, which are based on the expected lives of the rated securities at
December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, deferred revenue related to these securities was approximately $82
million, $86 million and $72 million, respectively.

MIS estimates revenue for ratings of commercial paper for which, in addition to a fixed annual monitoring fee, issuers are billed
quarterly based on amounts outstanding. Revenue is accrued each quarter based on estimated amounts outstanding and is billed
when actual data is available. The estimate is determined based on the issuers’ most recent reported quarterly data. At
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, accounts receivable included approximately $34 million, $38 million and $34 million,
respectively, related to accrued commercial paper revenue. Historically, MIS has not had material differences between the
estimated revenue and the actual billings.

Revenue earned within the MA segment relating to the three lines of business are recognized as follows: subscription-based
revenue is recognized ratably over the subscription period which is typically for an initial 12-month term with renewal features for
subsequent annual periods, beginning upon delivery of the initial product; software revenue is recognized at time of delivery which
is considered to have occurred upon transfer of the product master or first copy. If uncertainty exists regarding customer
acceptance of the product or service, revenue is not recognized until acceptance occurs; consulting revenue is generally
recognized at the time services are performed.

Certain revenue arrangements within the MA segment include multiple elements such as software licenses, maintenance,
subscription fees and professional services. In these types of arrangements, the fee is allocated to the various products or
services based on objective measurements of fair value; that is, generally the price charged when sold separately — or vendor-
specific objective evidence.
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Accounts Receivable Allowance

Moody'’s records provisions for estimated future adjustments to customer billings as a reduction of revenue, based on historical
experience and current conditions. Such provisions are reflected as additions to the accounts receivable allowance. Additionally,
estimates of uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are reflected as additions to the accounts receivable
allowance. Billing adjustments and uncollectible account write-offs are recorded against the allowance. Moody’s evaluates its
accounts receivable allowance by reviewing and assessing historical collection and adjustment experience and the current status
of customer accounts. Moody'’s also considers the economic environment of the customers, both from an industry and geographic
perspective, in evaluating the need for allowances. Based on its analysis, Moody’s adjusts its allowance as considered
appropriate in the circumstances. This process involves a high degree of judgment and estimation and could involve significant
dollar amounts. Accordingly, Moody’s results of operations can be affected by adjustments to the allowance. Management
believes that the allowance for uncollectible accounts is adequate to cover anticipated adjustments and write-offs under current
conditions. However, significant changes in any of the above factors, or actual write-offs or adjustments that differ from the
estimated amounts could result in amounts that are greater or less than estimates. In each of 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company
revised its provision rates for billing adjustments and uncollectible accounts to reflect its current estimate of the appropriate
accounts receivable allowance.

Contingencies

Accounting for contingencies, including those matters described in the “Contingencies” section of this “MD&A”, commencing on
page 51 is highly subjective and requires the use of judgments and estimates in assessing their magnitude and likely outcome. In
many cases, the outcomes of such matters will be determined by third parties, including governmental or judicial bodies. The
provisions made in the consolidated financial statements, as well as the related disclosures, represent management’s best
estimates of the then current status of such matters and their potential outcome based on a review of the facts and in consultation
with outside legal counsel where deemed appropriate. The Company regularly reviews contingencies and as new information
becomes available may, in the future, adjust its associated liabilities. Based on its review of the latest information available, and
subject to the contingencies described in Iltem 7. “MD&A — Contingencies”, the ultimate monetary liability of the Company in
connection with pending legal and tax proceedings, claims and litigation is not likely to have a material adverse effect on Moody’s
future reported results and financial position.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the provision for income taxes reflected credits of $8.7 million, $27.3
million and $2.4 million, respectively, due to changes in the Company'’s liabilities for Legacy Tax exposures that were assumed by
Moody'’s in connection with its separation from Old D&B in October 2000. These tax matters are more fully described under the
caption “Legacy Tax Matters” within Item 7, “MD&A”.

Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

Moody'’s evaluates its goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, defined as an operating segment or one level below an
operating segment, annually as of November 30 " or more frequently if impairment indicators arise in accordance with SFAS

No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. These impairment indicators could include significant events or circumstances
that would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. These events or circumstances could include a
significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition or sale or disposition of a
significant portion of a reporting unit. As of the 2008 impairment test, the reporting units were determined to be MIS, MA and
Fermat. To test goodwill for impairment the fair value of the reporting unit is compared to its carrying value including goodwill and
if the fair value exceeds its carrying value then goodwill is not impaired. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value then the
implied fair value of goodwill is compared to the carrying value of goodwill. If the implied fair value exceeds the carrying value then
goodwill is not impaired; otherwise, an impairment loss will be recorded by the amount the carrying value exceeds the implied fair
value. The Company allocates corporate items to the carrying value of the reporting unit based on the same methodology as
corporate and overhead expenses are allocated. The fair value of each reporting unit is estimated using a discounted cash flow
methodology. This analysis requires significant judgments, including estimation of future operating results and cash flows of each
reporting unit, which is based on internal budgets and strategic plans, expected long-term growth rates, terminal values, discount
rates, determination of Moody’s weighted average cost of capital and the effects of external factors and market conditions.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and goodwill impairment for
each reporting unit, and an impairment charge may be necessary to reduce the carrying value of goodwill, which charge could be
material to the Company’s financial position and results of operations. Moody’s allocates goodwill to reporting units based on the
reporting unit expected to benefit from the combination. The Company evaluates its reporting units on an annual basis.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, amortizable intangible
assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Restructuring

The Company has engaged, and may continue to engage, in restructuring actions, which require management to utilize significant
estimates related to expenses for severance and other employee benefit costs, contract termination costs and asset impairments.
If the actual amounts differ from these estimates, the amount of the restructuring charge could be impacted. For a full description
of Moody'’s restructuring actions, refer to the “Results of Operations” section below and Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits
The expenses, assets and liabilities that Moody’s reports for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans are dependent on
many assumptions concerning the outcome of future events and circumstances. These assumptions include the following:

» future compensation increases, based on the Company’s long-term actual experience and future outlook

» long-term return on pension plan assets, based on historical portfolio results and the expected future average annual return
for each major asset class within the plan’s portfolio (which is principally comprised of equity and fixed-income investments)

« future healthcare cost trends, based on historical market data, near-term outlooks and assessments of likely long-term trends
« discount rates, based on current yields on high-grade corporate long-term bonds

The discount rate selected to measure the present value of the Company’s benefit obligations as of December 31, 2008 was
derived using a cash flow matching method whereby the Company compares the plans’ projected payment obligations by year
with the corresponding yield on the Citibank pension discount curve. The cash flows are then discounted back to their present
value and an overall discount rate is determined.

Moody’s major assumptions vary by plan and assumptions used are set forth in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
In determining these assumptions, the Company consults with outside actuaries and other advisors as deemed appropriate. While
the Company believes that the assumptions used in its calculations are reasonable, differences in actual experience or changes in
assumptions could have a significant effect on the expenses, assets and liabilities related to the Company’s Post-Retirement
Plans.

When actual plan experience differs from the assumptions used, actuarial gains or losses arise. To the extent the total outstanding
gain or loss exceeds a corridor threshold as defined in SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”, and the excess is
subject to amortization in annual expense over the estimated average future working lifetime of active plan participants. For
Moody’s Post-Retirement Plans, the total losses as of December 31, 2008 that have not been recognized in annual expense are
$27.1 million, and Moody’s expects to recognize in net periodic pension expense $0.8 million for the amortization of actuarial
losses.

For Moody'’s funded pension plan, the differences between the expected long-term rate of return assumption and actual
experience could also affect the net periodic pension expense. As permitted under SFAS No. 87, the Company spreads the
impact of asset experience over a five-year period for purposes of calculating the market-related value of assets that is used in
determining the expected return on assets’ component of annual expense and in calculating the total unrecognized gain or loss
subject to amortization. As of December 31, 2008, the Company has an unrecognized asset loss of $32.6 million, of which $7.6
million will be recognized in the market-related value of assets that is used to calculate the expected return on assets’ component
of 2010 expense.
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The table below shows the estimated effect that a one percentage-point decrease in each of these assumptions will have on
Moody’s 2009 operating income. These effects have been calculated using the Company’s current projections of 2009 expenses,
assets and liabilities related to Moody’s Post-Retirement Plans, which could change as updated data becomes available.

Estimated Impact on

Assumption Used for 2009 Operating Income

2009 (Decrease)/Increase

Discount Rate* 6.00%/6.25% $ (5.4)
Weighted Average Assumed Compensation Growth Rate 4.00% $ 1.2
Assumed Long-Term Rate of Return on Pension Assets 8.35% $ (1.2)

* Discount rates of 6.00% and 6.25% are used for pension plans and other post-retirement plans, respectively.

A one percentage-point increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rates will not affect 2009 projected expenses. Based on
current projections, the Company estimates that expenses related to Post-Retirement Plans will be $15.2 million in 2009
compared with $14.2 million in 2008, excluding the costs of curtailment and special termination benefits of $3.8 million in 2008.
The expected expense increase in 2009 reflects the effects of lower discount rates, higher amortization of actuarial losses, and
higher loss on plan assets.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payments”. Under this pronouncement, companies are required to record compensation expense for all share-based payment
award transactions granted to employees based on the fair value of the equity instrument at the time of grant. This includes
shares issued under employee stock purchase plans, stock options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. The fair value
of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses assumptions and
estimates that the Company believes are reasonable. Some of the assumptions and estimates, such as share price volatility and
expected option holding period, are based in part on Moody’s experience during the period since becoming a public company,
which is limited. The use of different assumptions and estimates in the Black-Scholes option pricing model could produce
materially different estimated fair values for option awards and related expense.

An increase in the following assumptions would have had the following estimated effect on operating income in 2008 (dollars in
millions):

Estimated Impact on

Assumption Used for Operating Income in 2008

Increase in

2004-2008 grants Assumption Increase/(Decrease)

Average Expected Dividend Yield 0.1% -1.9% 0.10% $ 0.4

Average Expected Share Price Volatility 23% - 37.3% 5% $ (4.2)
Expected Option Holding Period 5.0 -

6.0 years 1.0 year $ (3.4)

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s tax assets and liabilities are
affected by the amounts charged for service provided and expenses incurred as well as other tax matters such as inter-company
transactions. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109.
Therefore, income tax expense is based on reported income before income taxes, and deferred income taxes reflect the effect of
temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts that are recognized for income tax purposes.

Moody'’s is subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions which involve Legacy Tax and other tax matters. The Company regularly
assesses the likely outcomes of such audits in order to determine the appropriateness of its FIN 48 tax liabilities. On January 1,
2007, upon the implementation of FIN 48, the Company implemented the accounting policy to classify interest related to income
taxes as a component of interest expense in the Company'’s consolidated financial statements and to classify associated
penalties, if any, as part of other non-operating expenses. Prior to the implementation of FIN 48, the Company had classified
interest related to income taxes and associated penalties as components of income tax expense. In accordance with FIN 48, prior
period financial statements have not been reclassified for this change.
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FIN 48 requires a company to first determine whether it is more-likely-than-not (defined as a likelihood of more than fifty percent)
that a tax position will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing authorities will
examine the position and have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets this more-likely-than-not
threshold is then measured and recognized at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized
upon effective settlement with a taxing authority. Upon the initial implementation of FIN 48, the Company recorded a reduction of
its January 1, 2007 retained earnings of $43.3 million, which is comprised of $32.9 million of tax and accrued interest of $17.3
million ($10.4 million, net of tax). As the determination of FIN 48 liabilities and associated interest and penalties requires
significant estimates to be made by the Company, there can be no assurance that the Company will accurately predict the
outcomes of these audits, and thus the eventual outcomes could have a material impact on the Company’s operating results or
financial condition.

Other Estimates

In addition, there are other accounting estimates within Moody’s consolidated financial statements, including recoverability of
deferred tax assets, anticipated dividend distributions from non-U.S. subsidiaries and valuation of investments in affiliates.
Management believes the current assumptions and other considerations used to estimate amounts reflected in Moody’s
consolidated financial statements are appropriate. However, if actual experience differs from the assumptions and other
considerations used in estimating amounts reflected in Moody’s consolidated financial statements, the resulting changes could
have a material adverse effect on Moody’s consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for further information on significant accounting policies that impact Moody’s.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Beginning in January 2008, Moody’s segments were changed to reflect the Reorganization announced in August 2007. As a result
of the Reorganization, the rating agency is reported in the MIS segment and several ratings business lines have been realigned.
All of Moody’s other non-rating commercial activities, including MKMV and sales of research produced by MIS analysts and the
production and sales of other products and services, are represented in the MA segment.

As part of the Reorganization there were several realignments within the MIS LOBs. Sovereign and sub-sovereign ratings, which
were previously part of financial institutions; infrastructure/utilities ratings, which were previously part of corporate finance; and
project finance, which was previously part of structured finance, were combined with the public finance business to form a new
LOB called public, project and infrastructure finance. In addition, real estate investment trust ratings were moved from financial
institutions and corporate finance to the structured finance business. Furthermore, in August 2008 the global managed
investments ratings group, previously part of the structured finance business, was combined with the financial institutions
business.

Within MA, various aspects of the legacy MIS research business and MKMV business were combined to form the subscriptions,
software and consulting businesses. The subscriptions business includes credit and economic research, data and analytical
models that are sold on a subscription basis; the software business includes license and maintenance fees for credit risk,
securities pricing and valuation software products, and the consulting business includes professional services and credit training
associated with risk modeling, credit scorecard development, and other specialized analytical projects, as well as credit education
services that are typically sold on a per-engagement basis. Subscription services are typically sold for an initial 12-month term,
with renewal features for subsequent annual periods.

The following is a discussion of the results of operations of the new segments, excluding the intersegment royalty revenue for MIS
and expense charged to MA for the rights to use and distribute content, data and products developed by MIS. Additionally,
overhead costs and corporate expenses of the Company, all of which were previously included in the former MIS segment, are
allocated to each new segment based on a revenue-split methodology. Overhead expenses include costs such as rent and
occupancy, information technology and support staff such as finance, human resource, information technology and legal.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2008 compared with Year End ed December 31, 2007

Executive summary

Moody'’s revenue for 2008 totaled $1,755.4 million, a decrease of 22% from $2,259.0 million in 2007. Operating income was
$748.2 million, down $382.8 million or 34% from $1,131.0 million in 2007. Excluding the positive impact from FX translation, global
revenue and operating income declined 23% and 36%, respectively. Diluted EPS of $1.87 for 2008 included a benefit of $0.05
related to the resolution of certain Legacy Tax Matters and minor adjustments to the 2007 restructuring. Excluding the Legacy Tax
Matters and impact of restructuring in both years, diluted EPS of $1.82 for 2008 decreased 27% from $2.50 for 2007.

Revenue at MIS totaled $1,204.7 million for 2008, a decrease of $575.2 million, or 32% from 2007. Excluding the positive impact
from FX translation, revenue declined $591.7 million, or 33% from prior year. U.S. revenue of $645.0 million decreased $474.0
million or 42%, while non-U.S. revenue of $559.7 million decreased $101.2 million or 15% from the prior year. The public, project
and infrastructure business line achieved modest growth. Due to the credit market crisis that began in mid-2007 all other MIS
business lines recorded declines from the prior year, led by structured finance.

MA revenue rose to $550.7 million for 2008, up 15% from 2007 with all lines of business growing. U.S. revenue of $265.1 million
for 2008 increased 9% from 2007. Non-U.S. revenue of $285.6 million increased 21% from 2007 and represented 52% of global
revenue, compared to 49% a year earlier.

Total expenses for Moody’s Corporation of $1,007.2 million were down $120.8 million compared to the prior year. Excluding the
restructuring charge in 2007 and minor adjustments to this charge in 2008, Moody's total expenses were $68.3 million, or 6%,
lower in 2008, due primarily to lower compensation costs.

Moody’s Corporation
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 % Change
Revenue:
United States $ 910.1 $ 1,361.8 (33.2)%
International:
EMEA 603.1 659.3 (8.5)%
Other 242.2 237.9 1.8%
Total International 845.3 897.2 (5.8)%
Total $ 1,7554 $ 2,259.0 (22.3)%
Expenses:
Operating $ 493.3 $ 584.0 (15.5)%
SG&A 441.3 451.1 (2.2)%
Restructuring (2.5) 50.0 (105.0)%
Depreciation and amortization 75.1 42.9 75.1%
Total $ 1,007.2 $ 1,128.0 (20.7)%
Operating income $ 748.2 $ 1,131.0 (33.8)%
Interest (expense) income, net $ (52.2) $ (24.3) 114.8%
Other non-operating (expense) income, net $ 290.8 $ 10.0 198.0%

Net income $ 457.6 $ 701.5 (34.8)%

Total revenue of $1,755.4 million decreased $503.6 million from 2007, due to the significant decline in MIS partly offset by good
growth in MA.

Total relationship and transaction-based revenue for Moody’s in 2008 was 64% and 36%, respectively, compared to 45% and
55%, respectively in the prior year. Relationship revenue in the MIS segment represents the recurring monitoring of a rated debt
obligation and/or entities that issue such obligations, as well as revenue from programs such as commercial paper, medium-term
notes and shelf registrations, while transaction revenue represents the initial rating of a new debt issuance as well as other one-
time fees. In the MA segment, relationship revenue represents the entire subscription-based business line and the
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maintenance revenue within the software line of business. Transaction revenue in MA represents the license fees for credit risk
software products and revenue from the consulting line of business which offers professional services and credit training, which
are typically sold on a per-engagement basis.

U.S. revenue was $910.1 million, down $451.7 million from the prior year primarily reflecting significantly reduced issuance activity
due to the broader downturn in global economic activity, significant financial market volatility, worsening credit market conditions
and record-high interest rate spreads.

International revenue of $845.3 million decreased $51.9 million from 2007 and accounted for 48% of global revenue compared to
40% a year ago. FX translation contributed approximately $23 million to 2008 international revenue. Issuance volumes were
significantly lower across most of the EMEA and Asian markets compared to 2007.

Operating expenses were $493.3 million, down $90.7 million due primarily to lower compensation costs of $70.5 million. Incentive
compensation of $30.8 million decreased $27.8 million due to weak financial performance within the MIS segment and the impact
of restructuring. Salaries and wages decreased approximately $21 million primarily reflecting the effects of the 2007 restructuring.
Stock-based compensation of $40.6 million declined $17.3 million due to the impact of the 2007 restructuring which resulted in
higher forfeitures of awards than in the previous year. Non-compensation costs of $76.6 million decreased $20.2 million due to
strong cost controls, particularly in the areas of T&E and recruiting which declined approximately $9 million and $3 million,
respectively.

SG&A expenses of $441.3 million decreased $9.8 million from the prior year due to declines in both compensation and non-
compensation expenses. Compensation costs decreased $4.9 million, or 2%, primarily reflecting reductions of approximately $5
million and $10 million in incentive and stock-based compensation, respectively. These decreases were partially offset by an
approximate $9 million increase in salaries and wages due primarily to $6 million in senior executive severance expense recorded
in the second quarter of 2008. Non-compensation expenses of $207.4 million were down $4.9 million from prior year reflecting
decreases in T&E, rent and occupancy costs, and professional service fees of $4.6 million, $5.4 million and $6.8 million,
respectively, partially offset by approximately $11 million of bad debt reflecting the increase in bankruptcies and collection issues,
compared to less than $1 million in 2007.

The table below shows Moody’s global staffing by geographic area:

DECEMBER 31,

2008* 2007 % Change
United States 2,130 2,175 2.1)%
International 1,817 1,397 30.1%
Total 3,947 3,572 10.5%

* reflects approximately 350 additional headcount due to acquisitions made during the year, of which approximately 290 were added in the fourth quarter.

Restructuring in 2008 reflects adjustments of previous estimates for severance and contract termination costs associated with the
2007 Restructuring Plan.

Depreciation and amortization of $75.1 million increased $32.2 million from 2007 primarily due to: an approximate $11 million
impairment of certain software and database intangible assets within the MA segment, approximately $6 million of incremental
depreciation reflecting the use of 7WTC for the full year of 2008, approximately $6 million of purchase accounting amortization
associated with the acquisition of Fermat of which $4.5 million was a write-off of acquired in-process technology and
approximately $4 million of accelerated depreciation related to the closure of the Company’s New Jersey office in the second
quarter of 2008.

Operating income in 2008 of $748.2 million decreased $382.8 million from the prior year reflecting the significant decline in
revenue resulting in an operating margin of 42.6%, which was 750 basis points lower than the 50.1% margin in 2007. Operating
income in 2007 reflected a $50.0 million restructuring charge. FX translation positively impacted operating income by
approximately $28 million.

Net interest expense was $52.2 million, an increase of $27.9 million from prior year primarily due to higher debt levels and the
absence in 2008 of $17.5 million of income relating to the reversal of accrued interest resulting from the resolution of a Legacy
Tax Matter in the second quarter of 2007 compared to $2.3 million in 2008.
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Other non-operating income was $29.8 million, up about 200% from the prior year, due primarily to FX gains of approximately $25
million recorded during the year reflecting the strengthening of the U.S. dollar and the euro to the British pound.

Moody'’s effective tax rate of 37.0% remained essentially flat with 37.2% in 2007. Excluding the impact of restructuring and Legacy
Tax items in both years, Moody’s ETR was 37.3%, down 290 bps from 40.2% in 2007, due primarily to a larger portion of
consolidated taxable income being generated from outside the U.S., which is generally taxed at a lower rate than the U.S.
statutory rate, and the realization of benefits available for U.S.-based manufacturing and research activities.

Net income was $457.6 million, a decrease of $243.9 million from the prior year, primarily reflecting revenue declines that
outpaced cost reductions. Excluding the impact of Legacy Tax Matters and restructuring, net income of $445.3 million was $235.3
million lower than 2007. Diluted EPS was $1.87, or 28% lower than in the prior year resulting from the 35% reduction in net
income, partially offset by 10% fewer diluted shares outstanding.

Segment Results

Moody'’s Investors Service
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further analysis and commentary:

YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31,
2008 2007 % Change
Revenue:
Structured finance $ 411.2 $ 873.3 (52.9)%
Corporate finance 300.5 411.5 (27.0)%
Financial institutions 263.0 274.3 (4.1)%
Public, project and infrastructure finance 230.0 220.8 4.2%
Total $1,204.7 $1,779.9 (32.3)%
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A $ 636.0 $ 759.4 (16.2)%
Restructuring (1.6) 41.3 (103.9)%
Depreciation and amortization 33.3 24.0 38.8%
Total $ 667.7 $ 824.7 (19.0)%
Operating income $ 537.0 $ 955.2 (43.8)%

Global MIS revenue of $1,204.7 million was down $575.2 million from 2007, reflecting the significant declines in global SFG and
U.S. CFG revenue. In the U.S., revenue of $645.0 million was down $474.0 million, or 42%, due to decreases in SFG and CFG.
Internationally, revenue was $559.7 million, a decline of $101.2 million, or 15%, from a year-ago, with declines in SFG and CFG,
partially offset by growth in PPIF. In 2008, international revenue comprised 46% of global revenue, compared to 37% in 2007. FX
contributed approximately $16 million to international revenue in 2008. The split of revenue between relationship and transaction
was 51% and 49%, respectively, versus the prior year when the split was 32% relationship and 68% transaction revenue.
Globally, the lower proportion of transaction revenue in 2008 was primarily due to the significant decline in new issuance due to
the broader downturn in global economic activity reflected in the extreme market volatility, worsening credit market conditions and
record-high interest rate spreads in the later part of the year.

Global SFG revenue decreased $462.1 million, due to declines in derivatives, CREF and RMBS of $194.5 million or 57%, $123.8
million or 69%, and $103.1 million or 58%, respectively, which together accounted for 91% of the decrease. Continued turbulence
in the capital and credit markets, combined with lack of market liquidity and higher interest rate spreads, has resulted in lower loan
origination and securitization which led to a significant decline in new issuance revenue. In 2008, transaction-based revenue
accounted for 51% of total SFG down from 77% in the prior year. In the U.S., revenue of $190.7 million was down $370.7 million
or 66%, from a year ago, led by declines in the aforementioned asset classes due to significantly reduced issuance volume.
International revenue was $220.5 million, a decrease of $91.4 million or 29% from 2007, led by declines in derivatives and CREF
of $48.5 million or 42%, and $41.6 million or 66%, respectively. FX translation contributed approximately $8 million to international
SFG revenue in 2008.

Global CFG revenue was down $111.0 million from prior year, due to low issuance volumes particularly in the U.S. Revenue from
new issuance declined approximately $121 million, or 43% from the prior year, due primarily to lower issuance in both investment-
grade and speculative-grade securities, resulting from the broader downturn in global economic activity, reflected in

MOODY’S 2008 ANNUAL REPORT FINANCIALS 35



Table of Contents

the significant financial market volatility, worsening credit market conditions and record-high interest rate spreads in the later part
of the year. Transaction-based revenue comprised 53% of global CFG revenue, compared to 68% in 2007. Revenue in the U.S.
was $176.6 million, a decrease of $93.4 million, or 35%, from the prior year as revenue from bank loans and speculative-grade
bond ratings declined $64.1 million or 66% and $30.6 million or 62%, respectively, and was slightly offset by $6.6 million, or 18%,
of growth in revenue from monitoring fees. International revenue of $123.9 million was down $17.6 million, or 12%, from prior year
comprised of declines in speculative-grade bond ratings, bank loan ratings, estimated ratings and investment-grade bond ratings
of $10.4 million or 56%, $7.4 million or 67%, $4.4 million or 25%, and $3.7 million or 13%, respectively. These declines were offset
by growth in monitoring fees of $5.3 million, as well as a $2.7 million increase in other CFG services such as national scale ratings
and company credit assessment services. FX translation contributed approximately $3 million to international CFG revenue in
2008.

Global FIG revenue decreased $11.3 million from the prior year reflecting significant declines in issuance volumes primarily in the
U.S. insurance and banking markets due to the on-going credit crisis. Revenue from new transactions accounted for 33% of total
FIG in 2008, compared to 42% in the prior year. In the U.S., revenue of $117.8 million decreased $12.2 million, or 9%, from prior
year, led by an $8.9 million decline in the insurance sector, specifically the property and casualty insurance industry which was
down $5.0 million or 22% from 2007. International revenue of $145.2 million remained flat with prior year reflecting growth from
the life insurance industry offset by declines from rating financial guarantors and the property and casualty insurance industry. FX
translation contributed $5 million to international FIG revenue in 2008.

Global PPIF revenue increased $9.2 million from prior year due to growth in municipal structured products and in the project and
infrastructure finance sectors of $10.3 million or 35%, and $2.5 million or 3%, respectively. Recurring revenue represented 41% of
total in 2008 compared with 40% in 2007. In the U.S., revenue of $159.9 million grew $2.3 million, with increases in the
aforementioned municipal structured products partially offset by declines of $6.4 million in other public finance issuance. Outside
the U.S., revenue of $70.1 million was up $6.9 million, or 11%, from prior year, reflecting growth primarily within the EMEA region
of $4.6 million and $2.1 million in the infrastructure finance and public finance sectors, respectively.

Operating and SG&A expenses of $636.0 million, including allocated corporate overhead costs, decreased $123.4 million, with
declines in both compensation and non-compensation expenses of approximately $83 million and approximately $40 million,
respectively. Incentive compensation decreased approximately $39 million primarily due to weak financial performance. Stock-
based compensation decreased approximately $20 million primarily reflecting the impact of the 2007 Restructuring Plan which
resulted in higher forfeitures of awards than in the previous year. Salary and benefits expense decreased approximately $24
million from prior year, reflecting the change in the mix of employees and timing of adding new hires during the year, partially
offset by approximately $6 million in senior executive severance expense recorded in the second quarter of 2008. The decrease in
non-compensation expenses from 2007 reflected continued strong cost controls, resulting in reductions within T&E, recruiting and
marketing of $14.6 million, $3.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively. Offsetting these decreases in 2008 was an $8.1 million
increase in bad debt expense compared to prior year, primarily related to bankruptcies and collection issues, including $2.3 million
for Lehman Brothers and $1.7 million for issuers of structured investment vehicles.

The 2008 restructuring amount primarily reflects adjustments of previous estimates for severance and contract termination costs
associated with the Restructuring Plan.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $9.3 million primarily due to the accelerated depreciation recorded in the
second quarter of 2008 relating to the Jersey City office closure and a full year of depreciation on 7WTC assets.

Operating income decreased $418.2 million from 2007 reflecting the 32% reduction in revenue outpacing the 19% decline in
Operating and SG&A expenses. Excluding the impact of the 2007 restructuring and minor adjustments made in 2008 relating to
this charge, operating income declined $461.1 million or 46% from the prior year. FX translation had a positive impact of
approximately $17 million on MIS operating income in 2008.
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Moody’s Analytics
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 % Change
Revenue:
Subscriptions $ 475.9 $ 421.5 12.9%
Software 49.2 39.5 24.6%
Consulting 25.6 18.1 41.4%
Total $ 550.7 $ 479.1 14.9%
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A $ 298.6 $ 275.7 8.3%
Restructuring (0.9) 8.7 (110.3)%
Depreciation and amortization 41.8 18.9 121.2%
Total $ 339.5 $ 303.3 11.9%
Operating income $ 211.2 $ 175.8 20.1%

Global MA revenue increased $71.6 million, with 69% of the growth generated internationally, and accounted for 31% of global
MCO revenue in 2008 compared to 21% in the prior year. Recurring revenue, which includes subscription and software
maintenance fees, comprised 91% of the total in 2008, Compared to 92% in the prior year. In the U.S., revenue of $265.1 million
increased 9%, primarily reflecting growth in subscription revenue. International revenue of $285.6 million was $49.3 million higher
than in 2007, reflecting growth in all business lines, particularly the software line of business which benefited from the acquisition
of Fermat. FX translation contributed approximately $7 million to international MA revenue in 2008.

Global subscription revenue, which comprises 86% of total MA in 2008, increased $54.4 million and accounted for 76% of global
MA growth, reflecting continued demand from new and existing customers for credit and economic research, structured finance
analytics, credit risk assessment and other offerings. U.S. revenue was $239.4 million, an increase of $20.3 million from 2007.
Internationally, revenue totaled $236.5 million, an increase of $34.1 million or 17% over the prior year, with 78% of the growth
generated within the EMEA region.

Global software revenue increased $9.7 million, including the positive impact of the Fermat acquisition in the fourth quarter of
2008. U.S. revenue of $20.0 million remained flat with prior year, while international revenue of $29.2 million increased $9.0
million or 45% from the prior year with growth generated from all regions.

Global consulting revenue increased $7.5 million over prior year reflecting relatively higher demand internationally for credit
education, portfolio analysis, risk modeling and scorecard development services, primarily in the EMEA region.

Operating and SG&A expenses, including allocated corporate overhead costs, were $298.6, an increase of $22.9 million from the
prior year due to increases in both compensation and non-compensation expenses of approximately $8 million and approximately
$15 million, respectively. The increase in compensation expense primarily reflects approximately $6 million of higher incentive
compensation costs due to better than expected financial performance, and a 30% increase in average headcount due to
acquisitions made during the year. Non-compensation expenses of $98.0 million increased due primarily to the impact of
acquisitions and a higher proportion of allocated corporate overhead expenses in 2008 compared to prior year based on the
revenue-split methodology, as well as the absence in 2008 of a $2.5 million sales tax benefit received in the second quarter of
2007.

The 2008 restructuring amount primarily reflects adjustments of previous estimates for severance and contract termination costs
associated with the Restructuring Plan.

The increase in depreciation and amortization of $22.9 million compared to 2007 is primarily due to the approximate $11 million
impairment of certain software and database intangible assets and amortization of approximately $6 million related to the Fermat
acquisition, including a $4.5 million write-off of acquired in-process technology.

Operating income increased $35.4 million from 2007, reflecting strong revenue growth and an approximate $10 million positive
impact from FX translation.
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Year Ended December 31, 2007 compared with December 31, 2006

Executive Summary

Revenue for 2007 totaled $2,259.0 million, an increase of 11% from $2,037.1 million in 2006. Operating income for 2007 was
$1,131.0 million and included a restructuring charge of $50.0 million. Diluted EPS of $2.58 for the full year 2007 included a $0.19
per share benefit from the settlement of a Legacy Tax Matter in the second quarter of 2007 and an $0.11 per share charge related
to restructuring actions. Excluding the 2007 restructuring charge and the $160.6 million gain on building sale in 2006, operating
income of $1,181.0 for 2007 grew 7% from $1,098.9 million in 2006. Excluding the adjustments listed above and the impact of
Legacy Tax Matters in both years, diluted EPS for 2007 were $2.50, 11% higher than $2.25 in 2006.

Revenue at MIS totaled $1,779.9 million in 2007, an increase of $140.1 million, or 9%, from the prior year period. Currency
translation had a positive impact on these results. Each of the global ratings business lines achieved year-over year revenue
growth, led by double-digit growth in corporate finance and financial institutions. Finally, revenue at MA for 2007 totaled $479.1
million an increase of $81.8 million, or 20.6% from the prior year, reflecting strong growth in the subscriptions line of business.

Moody’s Corporation
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2007 2006 % Change
Revenue:
United States $ 1,361.8 $ 1,277.8 6.6%
International:
EMEA 659.3 543.9 21.2%
Other 237.9 215.4 10.4%
Total International 897.2 $ 7593 18.2%
Total $ 2,259.0 $ 2,037.1 10.9%
Expenses:
Operating $ 584.0 $ 5394 8.3%
SG&A 451.1 359.3 25.5%
Restructuring 50.0 — NM
Gain on building Sale — (160.6) NM
Depreciation and amortization 42.9 39.5 8.6%
Total $ 1,128.0 $ 777.6 45.1%
Operating income $ 1,131.0 $ 1,2595 (10.2)%
Interest expense (income), net $ (24.3) $ 3.0 NM
Other non-operating expense (income) $ 10.0 $ (2.0) NM
Net income $ 7015 $ 7539 (7.0)%

Moody'’s revenue for 2007 totaled $2,259.0 million, an increase of $221.9 million from $2,037.1 million for the same period in
2006. The main contributors to this growth were from the CFG line of business within MIS and from MA. Revenue from MA
contributed 37% of the Company’s year-over-year growth, driven primarily by the subscriptions line of businesses.

Revenue in the U.S. was $1,361.8 million in 2007, an increase of $84.0 million, or 7%, from $1,277.8 million in 2006. International
revenue was $897.2 million in 2007, an increase of $137.9 million, or 18.2%, from $759.3 million in 2006. FX translation
accounted for approximately $39 million of international revenue growth in 2007.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company committed to a Restructuring Plan in response to the Company’s reorganization
and a decline in current and anticipated issuance of rated debt securities in some market sectors, as more fully described in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. A restructuring charge of $50.0 million was recorded in 2007, which consisted of
$45.9 million of expenses relating to severance and other employee benefit costs, and $4.1 million for contract termination costs.
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Moody'’s operating and SG&A expenses of $1,035.1 million in 2007 were $136.4 million higher than 2006. Compensation and
benefits continue to be Moody'’s largest expense, accounting for approximately 70% of total Operating and SG&A expenses,
representing approximately $77 million in growth from prior year. Moody’s average global staffing of approximately 3,500
employees during the year ended December 31, 2007 was approximately 13% higher than during 2006. This increase reflects the
impact of hiring from late 2006 and the first half of 2007 to support business growth mainly in the U.S., Asian and European
ratings businesses offset by a partial completion of the workforce reductions relating to the restructuring actions implemented in
the fourth quarter of 2007. The table below shows Moody’s global staffing by geographic area.

DECEMBER 31,

2007 2006 % Change
United States 2,175 2,155 0.9%
International 1,397 1,195 16.9%
Total 3,572 3,350 6.6%

Operating expenses were $584.0 million in 2007, an increase of $44.6 million, or 8.3%, from $539.4 million in 2006.
Compensation and benefits expense comprised approximately 77% of the growth, reflecting normal salary increases coupled with
higher staffing levels compared to prior year, partially offset by lower incentive compensation. The staffing level increase reflects
hiring in the first half of 2007 to support business growth, primarily in the international ratings businesses, where head count
increased by approximately 14% over 2006. Non-compensation expenses of $96.8 million increased $10.2 million, primarily from
higher professional service costs associated with technology investments.

SG&A expenses were $451.1 million in 2007, an increase of $91.8 million, or 25.5%, from $359.3 million in 2006. Compensation
expense of $238.8 million increased $46.5 million, or 24.2%, from 2006 reflecting increased staffing levels in the corporate
compliance and technology support functions coupled with the increase in stock-based compensation. Non-compensation
expense of $212.3 million was up $45.3 million, or 27.1%, over 2006 due to higher rent and occupancy costs of $39.3 million, or
88.2%, over 2006 primarily related to the Company’s relocation to its new corporate headquarters at 7WTC and an increase in
professional service costs of $21.6 million relating to technology investment spending and legal matters.

Operating income in 2007 includes a $50.0 million restructuring charge consisting of $45.9 million of expenses relating to
severance and other employee benefit costs and $4.1 million for contract termination costs, as further discussed in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Operating income of $1,131.0 million decreased $128.5 million, or 10.2%, from $1,259.5 million in 2006, which reflected a $160.6
million gain on building sale and approximately $21 million of FX translation gains in 2007. Moody’s operating margin for 2007
was 50.1% compared to 61.8% in 2006. The restructuring charge in 2007 decreased the 2007 margin by approximately 220 bps
while the gain on building sale increased the 2006 margin by approximately 790 bps.

Interest and other non-operating (expense) income, net was $(14.3) million in 2007 compared with $1.0 million in 2006. Interest
expense on borrowings was $40.7 million and $15.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
increase was due to borrowings under the Company'’s credit facilities, the issuance of the $300.0 million Series 2007-1 Notes in
September 2007, and issuance under the Company’s commercial paper program, which was established in October 2007.
Interest expense on FIN 48 and other tax liabilities was $21.5 million in 2007. In 2006, before FIN 48 became effective, interest on
tax liabilities was reported as part of income tax expense, net of federal tax benefit. Included in 2007 was a $17.5 million reduction
of accrued interest expense and a $14.4 million increase in other non-operating income relating to the resolution of a certain
Legacy Tax Matter more fully described in “Contingencies — Legacy Contingencies”, below. Interest income earned on short-term
investments and invested cash balances were $19.3 million and $18.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. FX gains (losses) were immaterial in both 2007 and 2006.

Moody’s Effective Tax Rate was 37.2% in 2007 compared to 40.2% in 2006. The 2007 and 2006 ETRs included benefits of $27.3
million and $2.4 million, respectively, related to Legacy Tax Matters. Additionally in 2007, there was a $14.4 million increase in
other non-operating income, which was not taxable, related to Legacy Tax Matters. These matters favorably impacted the
Company’s 2007 and 2006 ETR by approximately 295 bps and 30 bps, respectively.

Net income was $701.5 million in 2007, a decrease of $52.4 million, or 7.0%, from $753.9 million in 2006. Diluted EPS was $2.58
in both 2007 and 2006. Excluding the restructuring charge in 2007, the gain on building sale in 2006 and Legacy Tax adjustments
in both years, net income increased $21.8 million, or 3.3%, and diluted EPS increased $0.25, or 11.1%, to $2.50 per share.
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Segment Results

Moody'’s Investors Service
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2007 2006 % Change
Revenue:
Structured finance $ 8733  $ 872.6 0.1%
Corporate finance 411.5 335.9 22.5%
Financial institutions 274.3 233.1 17.7%
Public, project and infrastructure finance 220.8 198.2 11.4%
Total $ 17799 $ 1,639.8 8.6%
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A $ 759.4 % 666.1 14.0%
Restructuring 41.3 — NM
Depreciation and amortization 24.0 17.3 38.7%
Total $ 824.7 $ 683.4 20.7%
Operating income $ 955.2 % 956.4 (0.1)%

Revenue at MIS in 2007 was $1,779.9 million, up $140.1 million, from $1,639.8 million in 2006. Global CFG, FIG and the PPIF
business increased $75.6 million, $41.2 million, and $22.6 million, respectively.

Global SFG revenue was $873.3 million for 2007, flat with $872.6 million in 2006. Revenue of $561.5 million in the U.S. decreased
$36.2 million, or 6%, in a mixed year where strong growth in the first half of 2007, largely from credit derivatives and CREF was
offset in the second half of 2007 by declining revenue in the RMBS, derivatives and CREF as a result of credit market turmoil
which reduced ratable issuance volume. Outside the U.S., revenue of $311.8 million increased $36.9 million, or 13%, reflecting
strong growth from derivatives and RMBS of $19.8 million and $12.3 million, respectively, mostly in EMEA.

Global CFG revenue totaled $411.5 million in 2007, an increase of 75.6 million from 2006. Revenue in the U.S. increased $45.3
million, or 20.2%, primarily due to increased leveraged loan activities and growth in investment-grade bond issuance. International
revenue of $141.5 million increased $30.3 million, or 27.2%, largely driven by growth in European bond issuance.

Global FIG revenue was $274.3 million, up $41.2 million from $233.1 million in 2006. Revenue in the U.S. increased $19.6 million,
or 18%, principally due to strong performance within the banking and insurance sectors driven by debt refinancing and funding for
share repurchases. International revenue of $144.3 million grew $21.6 million, or 18%, from prior year mainly due to increased
corporate bond issuance activity and a significant number of new ratings mandates both within the European banking sector.

Global PPIF revenue was $220.8 million, an increase of $22.6 million from 2006. Revenue from project and infrastructure finance
of $76.1 million showed the strongest growth with an increase of $13.5 million, or 21.6%, over 2006, mostly from within the United
States. Revenue of $115.2 million from the public finance sector, including U.S. public finance, sovereign and sub-sovereign,
increased $6.1 million, or 6%, over prior year driven by growth in combined issuance and new money issuance.

Operating and SG&A expenses, including allocated corporate overhead costs, were $759.4 million, an increase of $93.3 million
from $666.1 million in 2006. Compensation and benefits expense was the largest contributor to the year-over-year growth
reflecting increased staffing internationally to support business growth, as well as additional head count in the corporate
compliance group. Stock-based compensation expense increased year-over-year primarily due to the higher Black-Scholes value
of the 2007 equity grants compared to prior years. Non-compensation expenses in 2007 included an increase in allocated
expenses such as increased rent and occupancy costs related to the Company’s relocation to its new corporate headquarters at
7WTC and increases in professional service costs primarily due to information technology investment spending and legal matters.

Operating income of $955.2 million in 2007 was flat compared to 2006. Excluding the $41.3 million restructuring charge, 2007
operating income of $996.5 million increased $40.1 million, or 4.2%, from $956.4 million in 2006.
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Moody’s Analytics
The table below provides a summary of revenue and operating results, followed by further insight and commentary:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2007 2006 % change
Revenue:
Subscriptions $ 421.5 $ 347.5 21.3%
Software 39.5 36.3 8.9%
Consulting 18.1 13.5 34.1%
Total $ 479.1 $ 397.3 20.6%
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A $ 275.7 $ 232.6 18.5%
Restructuring 8.7 — NM
Depreciation and amortization 18.9 22.2 (14.9%)
Total $ 303.3 $ 254.8 19.0%
Operating income $ 175.8 $ 142.5 23.4%

Revenue for MA was $479.1 million, an increase of $81.8 million from 2006. U.S. revenue of $242.8 million increased $38.1
million, or 18.6%, and international revenue increased $43.7 million, or 22.7%, with 90.3% of the growth from within the EMEA

region.

Revenue from subscription products of $421.5 million was up $74.0 million compared to 2006, reflecting continued demand from
new and existing customers for credit and economic research, structured finance analytics and other offerings. Software revenue
of $39.5 million increased $3.2 million from $36.3 million in 2006 primarily from additional license and maintenance fees for credit
decisioning and analysis products. Revenue from consulting services grew $4.6 million due to increased demand for credit
education, risk modeling and scorecard development among customers seeking to implement sophisticated risk management
processes and comply with regulatory requirements.

Operating and SG&A expenses in 2007 including allocated corporate overhead costs were $275.7 million, an increase of $43.1
million from 2006. The increase is a primarily a result of additional compensation due to head count growth of 8% and higher
sales commission expense resulting from better than expected revenue growth over 2006. It also reflected an increase in
allocated expenses due to increased rent and occupancy costs related to the Company’s relocation to its new corporate
headquarters at 7WTC and increases in professional service costs primarily due to information technology investment spending
and legal matters.

MA's operating income of $175.8 million in 2007 increased $33.3 million from $142.5 million in 2006. Operating income included
an $8.7 million restructuring charge in 2007. Excluding the restructuring charge, 2007 operating income of $184.5 million
increased $42.0 million, or 29.5%, from $142.5 million in 2006.

Market Risk

Moody’s maintains operations in 30 countries outside the U.S. In 2008, approximately 42% and 47% of the Company’s revenue
billed and expenses incurred, respectively, were in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally in the GBP and the euro. As
such, the Company is exposed to market risk from changes in FX rates.

As of December 31, 2008, approximately 34% of Moody’s assets were located outside the United States. Moody’s aggregate cash
and cash equivalents of $245.9 million at December 31, 2008, consisted of approximately $152 million, which was located outside
the U.S., making the Company susceptible to fluctuations in FX rates. Additionally, all of Moody’s aggregate short-term
investments of $7.1 million were located outside the United States. The effects of changes in the value of foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar on assets and liabilities of non-U.S. operations with non-U.S. functional currencies are charged or
credited to the cumulative translation adjustment account in the statement of shareholders’ equity (deficit).

Moody'’s cash equivalents consist of investments in high-quality investment-grade securities within and outside the U.S. with
maturities of three months or less when purchased. The Company manages its credit risk exposure by allocating its cash
equivalents among various money market mutual funds and issuers of high-grade commercial paper. Short-term investments
primarily consist of certificates of deposit and high quality investment-grade corporate bonds in Korea. The Company manages its
credit risk exposure on cash equivalents and short-term investments by limiting the amount it can invest with any single issuer.
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A portion of the Company’s future billings and related revenue is exposed to market risk associated with changes in FX rates
primarily related to the euro and GBP. Under the Company’s current FX hedging program, the Company hedges a portion of FX
currency risk for the purpose of reducing volatility in the Company’s cash flows related to future euro and GBP billings and related
revenue. FX options and forwards are currently utilized to hedge these exposures and have maturities between one and 14
months. As of December 2008 all FX derivative contracts were set to expire at various times through February 2010 and were
deemed to be highly effective under SFAS No. 133 and related accounting pronouncements. No credit losses are anticipated as
the counterparties to these agreements are major financial institutions. The fair value of the Company’s outstanding FX derivative
contracts was recorded within other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and consisted of the following notional
amounts:

December 31,

2008 2007

Notional amount of Currency Pair:
GBP/USD £ 7.4 million £ 7.9 million
EUR/USD € 12.9 million € 16.7 million
EUR/GBP € 24.3 million € 61.5 million
Fair value of derivative asset $ 4.9 million $ 2.3 million

Unrealized gains or losses are recorded in AOCI and, once realized, the gains or losses will be recognized as an adjustment to
revenue when the billings are recognized in revenue.

A sensitivity analysis has been prepared to estimate the exposure to fluctuations in the FX rates on Moody’s FX options. A
hypothetical 10% favorable change in the overall option currency portfolio would result in a gain of approximately $3.5 million as of
December 31, 2008. The maximum loss related to an adverse change in the option currency portfolio would be $3.1 million.

As a result of the 2008 Term Loan completed on May 7, 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional
amount of $150.0 million to protect against fluctuations in the LIBOR-based variable interest rate. These swaps are adjusted to fair
market value based on prevailing interest rates at the end of each reporting period and fluctuations are recorded into AOCI, while
net interest payments are recorded in the statement of operations. At December 31, 2008 the fair value of the interest rate swaps
was $10.7 million and is recorded in other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The objective of interest rate
risk management is to reduce the funding cost and volatility to the Company and to alter the interest rate exposure to the desired
risk profile. Moody’s uses interest rate swaps as deemed necessary to assist in accomplishing this objective.

A sensitivity analysis has been prepared to estimate the exposure to fluctuations in the short-term LIBOR on Moody'’s interest
expense relating to the 2008 Term Loan, assuming the interest rate swap was not in place. A hypothetical change of one-percent
in the LIBOR would result in an impact on annual interest expense of approximately $1.5 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow
The Company is currently financing its operations, capital expenditures and share repurchases through cash flow from operations
and from financing activities. The Company had net borrowings of $316.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following is a summary of the change in the Company’s cash flows followed by a brief discussion of these changes:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 $ Change 2007 2006 $ Change

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 534.7 $ 984.0 $(449.3) $ 984.0 $ 7525 $ 2315
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ (3193) $ (124.7) $(1946) $ (1247) $ 116.1 $(240.8)
Net cash used in financing activities $ (3448) $ (8615) $516.7 $ (861.5) $ (965.2) $103.7
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Net cash provided by operating activities

Year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2007

The following changes in non-cash and other one-time items impacted cash provided by operating activities in 2008 compared to
2007, relative to net income:

A $27.0 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense primarily reflecting the 2007 restructuring actions;

A $32.2 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense due primarily to an approximate $11 million impairment of
certain software and database intangibles within the MA segment, approximately $6 million relating to the acquisition of
Fermat including a $4.5 million write-off of acquired in-process technology, approximately $6 million reflecting the use of
7TWTC for the full year of 2008 and approximately $4 million of accelerated depreciation resulting from the closure of the
Company’s New Jersey office in the second quarter of 2008;

A $44.7 million decrease in Excess Tax Benefits due to fewer stock option exercises;
A $44.5 million decrease of an accrual for Legacy Tax Matters in 2007 compared to 2008;

A $59.1 million decrease in deferred income taxes due to lower restructuring, tenant allowances, and deferred revenue in
2008.

The $449.3 million reduction of net cash flows provided by operating activities was primarily attributed to a decrease in net income
of $243.9 million, adjusted for the non-cash and other one-time items discussed above, and the following changes in assets and
liabilities:

A decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $172.3 million, comprised of approximately $111 million of accrued
taxes relating to lower pre-tax income and the timing of payments and approximately $30 million related to lower annual
incentive compensation accruals reflecting weak financial performance;

A decrease in deferred revenue of $70.2 million as a result of lower billings reflecting the weak credit market conditions;

A decrease of $62.9 million in the restructuring liability relating to payments made during the year and other minor
adjustments;

A decrease in the growth of deferred rent of $46.5 million due primarily to a tenant allowance received in 2007 relating to
TWTC,;

An increase of approximately $33 million for a deposit returned from the IRS in March 2008 in connection with a Legacy Tax
Matter.

A $61.1 million decrease in UTBs and other non-current tax liabilities due primarily to the implementation of FIN 48 in 2007;

Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2006

The following changes in non-cash and other one-time items impacted cash provided by operating activities in 2007 compared to
20086, relative to net income:

A $51.0 million decrease in Excess Tax Benefits due to fewer stock option exercises;

A $52.3 million decrease to an accrual relating to the favorable resolution of a Legacy Tax Matter in the second quarter of
2007;

A $160.6 million gain on sale of the Company’s former headquarters building in 2006;

A $13.1 million increase in stock-based compensation expense due to higher staffing levels in 2007 and a higher Black-
Scholes value in 2007 compared to 2006;

The $231.5 million increase in net cash flows provided by operating activities was primarily attributed to the change in net income,
adjusted for the non-cash and other one-time items discussed above, and the following changes in assets and liabilities:

A $79.1 million decrease due to a 7% reduction in the accounts receivable balance in 2007 compared to 2006 when the
balance increased by 13%;

A $67.2 million increase in other current assets primarily for approximately $40 million of prepaid state income taxes and an
$8.5 million receivable from the IRS for a Legacy Tax Matter;

A positive impact from decreases in other assets, primarily relating to an approximate $40 million deposit made in the first
quarter of 2006 with the IRS relating to Amortization Expense Deductions, as discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements;
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An $87.5 million negative impact due to the decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities relating to $76.5 million lower
accrued income taxes and approximately $27 million lower accrued incentive compensation ;

A $33.1 million increase to the 2007 restructuring liability;
An $83.0 million increase of UTBs and other non-current tax liabilities due to the implementation of FIN 48 in 2007;
A $46.9 million increase in the deferred rent liability due primarily to a tenant allowance received in 2007 relating to 7WTC;

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2007
The $194.6 million increase in net cash used in investing activities was primarily attributed to:

A $237.0 million increase in net cash used resulting from the 2008 acquisitions of Fermat, BQuotes, Financial Projections
Limited and Enb Consulting;

A $55.9 million decrease of net cash provided by short-term investments in 2008 following the liquidation of a majority of the
portfolio in 2007 to finance share repurchases and other operational activities,

Partially offset by:

A $97.4 million decrease in capital additions resulting from reduced 7WTC build-out activity in 2008 compared to 2007.

Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2006
The $240.8 million increase in net cash used in investing activities was primarily attributed to:

A $150.7 million increase in capital additions resulting from the build-out of 7WTC;

A $163.9 million increase due to cash proceeds received in 2006 related to the sale of the Company’s former headquarters
building,

Partially offset by:

A $34.8 million decrease in cash paid for acquisitions relating to the investment in CCXI and purchase of Wall Street Analytics,
Inc in 2006;

A $39.0 million net increase of net cash provided by short-term investments related to the liquidation of a majority of the
portfolio in 2007 to finance share repurchases and other operational and investing activities.

Net cash used in financing activities

Year ended December 31, 2008 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2007

The $516.7 million decrease in net cash flows used in financing activities was primarily attributed to:

A $1,145.5 million decrease in treasury shares repurchased in 2008 compared to 2007,
A $44.7 million decrease in Excess Tax Benefits due to fewer stock option exercises;

Partially offset by:

A $381.1 million net increase in short-term borrowings under the Company’s CP program and revolving credit facilities, the
proceeds of which were used to fund share repurchases and other operational and investing activities;

A $150.0 million increase in long-term debt resulting from the issuance of the 2008 Term Loan compared to $300.0 million
received in 2007 from the issuance of the Series 2007-1 Notes.

Year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year e nded December 31, 2006
The $103.7 million decrease in net cash flows used in financing activities was primarily attributed to:
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A $547.4 million net increase in short-term borrowings under the Company’s CP program and revolving credit facilities, the
proceeds of which were used to fund share repurchases and other operational and investing activities;
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* A $300.0 million increase in long-term debt resulting from the issuance of the Series 2007-1 Notes in the third quarter of 2007,

Partially offset by:
* A $644.8 million increase in treasury shares repurchased in 2007 compared to 2006.

Future Cash Requirements

The Company believes that it has the financial resources needed to meet its cash requirements and expects to have positive
operating cash flow for the next twelve months. Cash requirements for periods beyond the next twelve months will depend, among
other things, on the Company'’s profitability and its ability to manage working capital requirements. The Company may also borrow
from various sources.

The Company remains committed to using its strong cash flow to create value for shareholders in a manner consistent with
maintaining sufficient liquidity, by investing in growing areas of the business, reinvesting in ratings quality initiatives, making
selective acquisitions in related business, repurchasing stock and paying a modest dividend. As a result of current market
conditions, in the near-term Moody’s will maintain its dividend and curtail share repurchase activity. As of December 31, 2008
Moody’s had $1.4 billion of share repurchase authority remaining under its current program, which does not have an established
expiration.

At December 31, 2008 the Company had total borrowings from its CP Program and 2007 Facility of $104.7 million and $613.0
million, respectively, the proceeds of which were or will be used to support the build-out of 7WTC and Canary Wharf, share
repurchases, acquisitions and other operational and investing activities. At December 31, 2008, Moody’s had $1.5 billion of
outstanding debt with $300 million of additional debt capacity available.

On October 20, 2006, the Company entered into an operating lease agreement with 7 World Trade Center, LLC for 589,945
square-feet of an office building located at 7WTC at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York, which is serving as Moody’s new
headquarters. The 7WTC Lease has an initial term of approximately 21 years with a total of 20 years of renewal options. The total
base rent of the 7TWTC Lease over its initial 21-year term is approximately $536 million including rent credits from the World Trade
Center Rent Reduction Program promulgated by the Empire State Development Corporation. On March 28, 2007, the 7WTC
lease agreement was amended for the Company to lease an additional 78,568 square feet at 7WTC. The additional base rent is
approximately $106 million over a 20-year term. The total remaining lease payments as of December 31, 2008, including the
aforementioned rent credits, are approximately $612 million.

On October 24, 2007, the Company announced a restructuring plan that would reduce global head count, terminate certain
technology contracts and consolidate certain corporate functions in response to both the Company’s Reorganization announced
on August 7, 2007 as well as a decline in current and anticipated issuance of rated debt securities in some market sectors.
Included in the $50.0 million restructuring charge reported in 2007 is $7.0 million of non-cash settlements relating to pension
curtailments and stock-based compensation award modifications for certain terminated employees. At December 31, 2008, the
remaining cash payments were $11.4 million of which $3.3 million is expected to be paid during 2009. The remaining liability of
$8.1 million relates to payments that will be made in connection with the Company’s unfunded pension plans for which payments
will commence when the affected employees reach retirement age beginning in 2009 and continue in accordance with plan
provisions. The amount to be paid in 2009 relating to these pension liabilities is approximately $2 million.

On February 6, 2008, the Company entered into a 17.5 year operating lease agreement to occupy six floors of an office tower
located in the Canary Wharf section of London, England. The total base rent of the Canary Wharf Lease over its 17.5-year term is
approximately 134 million GBPs, and the Company will begin making base rent payments in 2011. In addition to the base rent
payments the Company will be obligated to pay certain customary amounts for its share of operating expenses and tax obligation.
The Company expects to incur approximately 41 million GBP of costs to build out the floors to its specifications of which,
approximately 33 million GBP is expected to be incurred over the next twelve months.

The Company will be required to make a contribution in the later half of 2010 to its qualified Defined Benefit Pension Plan of
between approximately $10 million to $15 million. The contribution will be dependent on the 2009 plan asset returns as well as the
actuarial determination of plan liabilities.
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The Company also intends to use a portion of its cash flow to pay dividends. On December 16, 2008, the Board approved the
declaration of a quarterly dividend of $0.10 per share of Moody’s common stock, payable on March 10, 2009 to shareholders of
record at the close of business on February 20, 2009. The continued payment of dividends at this rate, or at all, is subject to the
discretion of the Board.

In addition, the Company will from time to time consider cash outlays for acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary
businesses, products, services and technologies. The Company may also be required to make future cash outlays to pay to New
Dé&B its share of potential liabilities related to the Legacy Tax Matters that are discussed in this MD&A under “Contingencies”.
These potential cash outlays could be material and might affect liquidity requirements, and they could cause the Company to
pursue additional financing. There can be no assurance that financing to meet cash requirements will be available in amounts or
on terms acceptable to the Company, if at all.

Indebtedness
The following table summarizes total indebtedness:

DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007
2007 Facility $ 613.0 $ —
Commercial paper, net of unamortized discount of $0.3 million at 2008 and $0.7 million at 2007 104.7 551.9
Notes payable:

Series 2005-1 Notes 300.0 300.0

Series 2007-1 Notes 300.0 300.0
2008 Term Loan 150.0 —
Total Debt 1,467.7 1,151.9
Current portion (717.7) (551.9)
Total long-term debt $ 750.0 $ 600.0
2007 Facility

On September 28, 2007, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion five-year senior, unsecured revolving credit facility, expiring in
September 2012. The 2007 Facility will serve, in part, to support the Company’s CP Program described below. Interest on
borrowings is payable at rates that are based on LIBOR plus a premium that can range from 16.0 to 40.0 basis points of the
outstanding borrowing amount depending on the Debt/EBITDA ratio. The Company also pays quarterly facility fees, regardless of
borrowing activity under the 2007 Facility. The quarterly fees for the 2007 Facility can range from 4.0 to 10.0 basis points of the
facility amount, depending on the Company’s Debt/EBITDA ratio. The Company also pays a utilization fee of 5.0 basis points on
borrowings outstanding when the aggregate amount outstanding exceeds 50% of the total facility. The weighted average interest
rate on borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2008 was 1.47%. The 2007 Facility contains certain covenants that, among
other things, restrict the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, without the approval of the lenders, to engage in
mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as defined in the
related agreement. The 2007 Facility also contains financial covenants that, among other things, require the Company to maintain
a Debt/EBITDA ratio of not more than 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of any fiscal quarter.

Commercial Paper

On October 3, 2007, the Company entered into a private placement commercial paper program under which the Company may
issue CP notes up to a maximum amount of $1.0 billion. Amounts available under the CP Program may be re-borrowed. The CP
Program is supported by the Company’s 2007 Facility. The maturities of the CP Notes will vary, but may not exceed 397 days
from the date of issue. The CP Notes are sold at a discount from par or, alternatively, sold at par and bear interest at rates that will
vary based upon market conditions at the time of issuance. The rates of interest will depend on whether the CP Notes will be a
fixed or floating rate. The interest on a floating rate may be based on the following: (a) certificate of deposit rate; (b) commercial
paper rate; (c) the federal funds rate; (d) the LIBOR; (e) prime rate; (f) treasury rate; or (g) such other base rate as may be
specified in a supplement to the private placement agreement. The weighted average interest rate on CP borrowings outstanding
was 2.08% and 5.13% as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The CP Program contains certain events of
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default including, among other things: non-payment of principal, interest or fees; violation of covenants; invalidity of any loan
document; material judgments; and bankruptcy and insolvency events, subject in certain instances to cure periods.

Notes Payable

On September 7, 2007, the Company issued and sold through a private placement transaction, $300.0 million aggregate principal
amount of its 6.06% Series 2007-1 Senior Unsecured Notes due 2017 pursuant to the 2007 Agreement. The Series 2007-1 Notes
have a ten-year term and bear interest at an annual rate of 6.06%, payable semi-annually on March 7 and September 7 of each
year. Under the terms of the 2007 Agreement, the Company may, from time to time within five years, in its sole discretion, issue
additional series of senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500.0 million pursuant to one or more supplements to
the 2007 Agreement. The Company may prepay the Series 2007-1 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to 100%
of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make Whole Amount. The 2007 Agreement
contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company, and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things: enter into
transactions with affiliates, dispose of assets, incur or create liens, enter into any sale-leaseback transactions, or merge with any
other corporation or convey, transfer or lease substantially all of its assets. The Company must also not permit its Debt/EBITDA
ratio to exceed 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of any fiscal quarter.

On September 30, 2005, the Company issued and sold through a private placement transaction, $300.0 million aggregate
principal amount of its Series 2005-1 Senior Unsecured Notes pursuant to the 2005 Agreement. The Series 2005-1 Notes have a
ten-year term and bear interest at an annual rate of 4.98%, payable semi-annually on March 30 and September 30. The proceeds
from the sale of the Series 2005-1 Notes were used to refinance $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Company’s
outstanding 7.61% senior notes which matured on September 30, 2005. In the event that Moody’s pays all, or part, of the Series
2005-1 Notes in advance of their maturity, such prepayment will be subject to a Make Whole Amount. The Series 2005-1 Notes
are subject to certain covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, without
the approval of the lenders, to engage in mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback
transactions or to incur liens, as defined in the related agreements.

2008 Term Loan

On May 7, 2008, Moody'’s entered into a five-year, $150.0 million senior unsecured term loan with several lenders. Proceeds from
the loan were used to pay off a portion of the CP outstanding. Interest on borrowings under the 2008 Term Loan is payable
quarterly at rates that are based on LIBOR plus a margin that can range from 125 basis points to 175 basis points depending on
the Company’s Debt/EBITDA ratio. The outstanding borrowings shall amortize beginning in 2010 in accordance with the schedule
of payments set forth in the 2008 Term Loan outlined in the table below.

The 2008 Term Loan contains restrictive covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company to engage, or to
permit its subsidiaries to engage in mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback
transactions or to incur, or permit its subsidiaries to incur, liens, in each case, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. The
2008 Term Loan also limits the amount of debt that subsidiaries of the Company may incur. In addition, the 2008 Term Loan
contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain a Debt/EBITDA ratio of not more than 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of
any fiscal quarter.

The principal payments due on the 2008 Term Loan through its maturity are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2010 $ 38
2011 11.3
2012 71.2
2013 63.7
Total $ 150.0

Also on May 7, 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $150.0 million to protect
against fluctuations in the LIBOR-based variable interest rate on the 2008 Term Loan. Fair market value adjustments are recorded
into other comprehensive income at the end of each period, while net interest payments are recorded in the statement of
operations. At December 31, 2008, the fair value of the interest rate swap was $10.7 million and is recorded in other liabilities in
the Company'’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Interest (expense) income, net
The following table summarizes the components of interest as presented in the consolidated statements of operations:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Income $18.1 $19.3 $18.2
Expense on borrowings (60.0) (40.7) (15.2)
FIN 48 and other tax related interest (23.7) (21.5) —
Reversal of accrued interest @ 2.3 175 —
Interest capitalized 1.1 1.1 —

Total $(52.2) $(243) $ 3.0
Interest paid $ 59.5 $ 325 $14.9

(@) Represents a reduction of accrued interest related to the favorable resolution of Legacy Tax Matters, further discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At December 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with all covenants contained within all of the debt agreements. In

addition to the covenants described above, the 2007 Facility, the 2005 Agreement, the 2007 Agreement and the 2008 Term Loan

contain cross default provisions whereby default under one of the aforementioned debt instruments could in turn permit lenders

under other debt instruments to declare borrowings outstanding under those instruments to be immediately due and payable.

Management may consider pursuing additional long-term financing when it is appropriate in light of cash requirements for
operations, share repurchase and other strategic opportunities, which would result in higher financing costs.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, Moody’s did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships,
such as entities often referred to as special purpose or variable interest entities where Moody'’s is the primary beneficiary, which
would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited
purposes. As such, Moody’s is not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if it had engaged in
such relationships.

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents payments due under the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008:

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

(in millions) Total Less Than 1 Year 3 Yearls 5 Yea?s Over 5 Years
Indebtedness @ $1,761.9 $ 757.8 $ 942 $207.3 $ 702.6
Operating lease obligations 929.2 60.3 101.2 100.7 667.0
Purchase obligations @ 139.8 711 42.0 23.8 29
Pension obligations ©) 71.2 1.7 16.2 7.1 46.2
Capital lease obligations 2.7 1.4 1.3 — —

Total ¥ $2,9048 $ 892.3 $254.9 $338.9 $ 1,418.7

(1) Reflects principal payments, related interest and applicable fees due on the 2008 Term Loan, the Series 2005-1 Notes, the Series 2007-1 Notes, borrowings under the
CP Program and the 2007 Facility, as described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) Includes amounts contractually committed to for the fit-out of the Canary Wharf Lease.

(3) Reflects projected benefit payments for the next ten years relating to the Company’s unfunded Post-Retirement Benefit Plans described in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(4) The table above does not include the Company’s net long-term tax liabilities of $141.7 million and $51.5 million relating to FIN 48 and Legacy Tax Matters, respectively,
since the expected cash outflow of such amounts by period cannot be reasonably estimated.
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2009 Outlook

Moody'’s outlook for 2009 is based on assumptions about many macroeconomic and capital market factors, including interest
rates, corporate profitability and business investment spending, merger and acquisition activity, consumer borrowing and
securitization, and the impact of government-sponsored economic stabilization initiatives. There is an important degree of
uncertainty surrounding these assumptions and, if actual conditions differ from these assumptions, Moody’s results for the year
may differ materially from current outlook.

For Moody’s overall, the Company expects full-year 2009 revenue to decline in the low single-digit percent range. This outlook
assumes foreign currency translation in 2009 at current rates. Although Moody’s has a solid base of recurring revenue, the
Company anticipates issuance-based revenue to reflect generally weak conditions throughout 2009, with any broad improvement
in market liquidity and issuance expected to be modest and to occur later in the year. Full-year 2009 operating expenses are
expected to increase in the mid single-digit percent range. Moody’s expects the full-year 2009 operating margin will be in the mid-
to high-thirties percent range, due to lower ratings revenue and higher comparable expenses. The Company projects diluted EPS
for full-year 2009 in the range of $1.40 to $1.50.

For the global MIS business, the Company expects revenue for the full-year 2009 to decline in the high single-digit percent range,
both in the U.S. and internationally. Structured finance revenue for full-year 2009 is expected to decrease in the high-teens to low-
twenties percent range, reflecting continued declines across all asset classes. Corporate finance revenue for full-year 2009 is
expected to decrease in the mid- to high single-digit percent range, with weakness most pronounced in speculative-grade
issuance and bank loans. Revenue from financial institutions and public, project and infrastructure finance ratings for full-year
2009 is expected to be about flat with full-year 2008.

For MA, the Company expects full-year 2009 revenue growth in the mid single-digit percent range. Moody's expects strong
revenue growth in the software and consulting businesses to offset a revenue decline in the subscription business in the low
single-digit percent range. Within the U.S., the Company projects MA revenue to be about flat with full-year 2008. Outside the U.S.
the Company expects MA revenue to increase in the low double-digit percent range.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Adopted:

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115”. SFAS No. 159 expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect
existing standards which require assets or liabilities to be carried at fair value. Under SFAS No. 159, a company may elect to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value on an instrument by instrument basis with changes in fair
value recognized in earnings each reporting period. Items eligible for fair-value election include recognized financial assets and
liabilities such as equity-method investments and investments in equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair
values, written loan commitments, and certain warranties and insurance contracts where a warrantor or insurer is permitted to pay
a third party to provide the warranty goods or services. If the use of fair value is elected, the election must be applied to individual
instruments with certain restrictions, is irrevocable and must be applied to an entire instrument. Any upfront costs and fees related
to the item elected for fair value must be recognized in earnings and cannot be deferred. At the implementation date, unrealized
gains and losses on existing items for which fair value has been elected are reported as a cumulative adjustment to beginning
retained earnings. Subsequent to the implementation of SFAS No. 159, changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings. SFAS
No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and was implemented by the Company as of January 1,
2008. The implementation did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and
cash flows.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-3 (“FSP 157-3"), Determining the Fair Value of a Financial
Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active. FSP 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS No. 157 in a market that is not
active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market
for that financial asset is not active. FSP 157-3 is effective upon issuance and the implementation did not have a material effect on
the Company'’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Not Yet Adopted:

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 establishes a single authoritative
definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires additional disclosures about fair-value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is expected to increase the consistency of fair value measurements and applies only to those
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measurements that are already required or permitted to be measured at fair value by other accounting standards. SFAS No. 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS
157-2 (“FSP FAS 157-2), which partially defers the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities, except
for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, until fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2008. The Company has implemented the deferral provisions of FSP FAS 157-2 and as a result has partially
implemented the provisions of SFAS No. 157 as of January 1, 2008. The partial implementation of SFAS No. 157 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations in 2008. The Company will apply, as of
January 1, 2009, the provisions of SFAS No. 157 to its non financial assets and liabilities initially measured at fair value in a
business combination and not subsequently remeasured at fair value, non financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value for
a goodwill impairment assessment, non-financial long-lived assets measured at fair value for an asset impairment assessment,
and asset retirement obligations initially measured at fair value. The Company does not expect the implementation of this
standard to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an
amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries
held by parties other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling
interest, changes in a parent’s ownership interest and the valuation of retained non-controlling equity investments when a
subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS No. 160 also establishes disclosure requirements that clearly identify and distinguish between
the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners and requires that a non-controlling interest in a
subsidiary be reported as equity. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and is
required to be implemented by the Company as of January 1, 2009. The adoption of this standard will have an immaterial impact
on the presentation of minority interest in the consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations. SFAS No. 141R extends its
applicability to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses and
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also
expands disclosure requirements to improve the statement users’ abilities to evaluate the nature and financial effects of business
combinations. SFAS No. 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and is required to be
implemented by the Company as of January 1, 2009. While SFAS No. 141R applies only to business combinations consummated
on or after its effective date, its amendments to SFAS No. 109 with respect to deferred tax valuation allowances and liabilities for
income tax uncertainties are required to be applied to all deferred tax valuation allowances and liabilities for income tax
uncertainties that existed and recognized in prior business combinations or that arise as a result of the prior business
combinations. The implementation of SFAS N0.141R is not expected to impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for prior periods.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities- an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 133. SFAS No. 161 amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133, and requires
qualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for using derivatives, quantitative disclosures in tabular format about fair
value amounts of and gains and losses on derivative instruments, and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in
derivative agreements. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company plans to
implement the provisions of SFAS No. 161 as of January 1, 2009 and does not expect the implementation to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. SFAS No. 162
identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial
statements of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with. SFAS No. 162 will become effective 60 days
following the SEC's approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, “The Meaning
of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.” The Company does not expect the
implementation of SFAS No. 162 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 08-6, “Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations” (“EITF 08-6").
EITF 08-6 applies to all investments accounted for under the equity method and clarifies the accounting for certain transactions
and impairment considerations involving those investments. EITF 08-6 is effective in fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008 and was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2009. The implementation of EITF 08-6 did not have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132R-1"). FSP FAS 132R-1 expands the disclosures set forth in SFAS No. 132R by adding
required disclosures about how investment allocation decisions are made by management, major categories of plan assets, and
significant concentrations of risk. Additionally, FSP FAS 132R-1 requires an employer to disclose information about the valuation
of plan assets similar to that required under SFAS No. 157. FSP FAS 132R-1 intends to enhance the transparency surrounding
the types of assets and associated risks in an employer’s defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan and the new
disclosures are required to be included in financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the implementation of FSP FAS 132R-1 on its consolidated financial
statements.

Contingencies

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal and tax proceedings, governmental investigations, claims and litigation that are
incidental to the Company’s business, including claims based on ratings assigned by MIS. Moody'’s is also subject to ongoing tax
audits in the normal course of business. Management periodically assesses the Company’s liabilities and contingencies in
connection with these matters based upon the latest information available. Moody’s discloses material pending legal proceedings
pursuant to SEC rules and other pending matters as it may determine to be appropriate.

As a result of recent events in the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector and the credit markets more broadly, various
legislative, regulatory and enforcement entities around the world are investigating or evaluating the role of rating agencies in the
U.S. subprime mortgage-backed securitization market and structured finance markets more generally. Moody's has received
subpoenas and inquiries from states attorneys general and other governmental authorities and is cooperating with such
investigations and inquiries. Moody’s is also cooperating with a review by the SEC relating to errors in the model used by MIS to
rate certain constant-proportion debt obligations. In addition, the Company is facing market participant litigation relating to the
performance of MIS rated securities. Although Moody’s in the normal course experiences such litigation, the volume and cost of
defending such litigation has significantly increased in the current economic environment.

On June 27, 2008, the Brockton Contributory Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a
purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and certain senior officers, and the
Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The plaintiff asserts various
causes of action relating to the named defendants’ oversight of MIS’s ratings of RMBS and constant-proportion debt obligations,
and their participation in the alleged public dissemination of false and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or
a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent the alleged wrongdoing. The plaintiff seeks compensatory
damages, restitution, disgorgement of profits and other equitable relief. On July 2, 2008, Thomas R. Flynn, a purported
shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a similar purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company
against its directors and certain senior officers, and the Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New
York, County of New York, asserting similar claims and seeking the same relief. The cases have been consolidated and plaintiffs
filed an amended consolidated complaint in November 2008. The Company removed the consolidated action to the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York in December 2008. In January 2009, the plaintiffs moved to remand the case to
the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The Company will oppose remand and expects to move to dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint upon resolution of the remand motion. On October 30, 2008, the Louisiana Municipal Police Employees
Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, also filed a shareholder derivative complaint on behalf
of the Company against its directors and certain officers, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York. This complaint too asserts various causes of action relating to the Company’s ratings of RMBS,
CDO and constant-proportion debt obligations, and named defendants’ participation in the alleged public dissemination of false
and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent
the alleged wrongdoing. On December 9, 2008, Rena Nadoff, a purported shareholder of the company, filed a shareholder
derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and its CEO, and the company as a nominal defendant, in the
Supreme Court of the State of New York. The complaint asserts a claim for breach of fiduciary duty in connection with alleged
overrating of asset-backed securities and underrating of municipal securities.

Two purported class action complaints have been filed by purported purchasers of the Company’s securities against the Company
and certain of its senior officers, asserting claims under the federal securities laws. The first was filed by Raphael Nach in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on July 19, 2007. The second was filed by Teamsters Local 282 Pension Trust

Fund in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York on September 26, 2007. Both actions have been consolidated
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into a single proceeding entitled In re Moody’s Corporation Securities Litigation in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York. On June 27, 2008, a consolidated amended complaint was filed, purportedly on behalf of all purchasers of the
Company’s securities during the period February 3, 2006 through October 24, 2007. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants issued
false and/or misleading statements concerning the Company’s business conduct, business prospects, business conditions and
financial results relating primarily to MIS’s ratings of structured finance products including RMBS, CDO and constant-proportion
debt obligations. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of compensatory damages and their reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the case. The Company moved for dismissal of the consolidated amended complaint in September
2008. On February 23, 2009, the court issued an opinion dismissing certain claims, sustaining others and granting plaintiffs leave
to amend their complaint by March 18, 2009.

For claims, litigation and proceedings not related to income taxes, where it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company has recorded liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and periodically adjusts these as appropriate. In other instances, because of uncertainties related to the probable outcome and/or
the amount or range of loss, management does not record a liability but discloses the contingency if significant. As additional
information becomes available, the Company adjusts its assessments and estimates of such matters accordingly. For income tax
matters, the Company employs the prescribed methodology of FIN 48 implemented as of January 1, 2007 which requires a
company to first determine whether it is more-likely-than-not (defined as a likelihood of more than fifty percent) that a tax position
will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing authorities will examine the position
and have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets this more-likely-than-not threshold is then measured
and recognized at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized upon effective settlement with
a taxing authority.

The Company cannot predict the ultimate impact that any of the legislative, regulatory, enforcement or litigation matters may have
on how its business is conducted and thus its competitive position, financial position or results of operations. Based on its review
of the latest information available, in the opinion of management, the ultimate monetary liability of the Company for the pending
matters referred to above (other than the Legacy Tax Matters that are discussed below) is not likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, although it is possible that the effect could be material to the Company’s
consolidated results of operations for an individual reporting period.

Legacy Tax Matters
Moody'’s continues to have exposure to certain Legacy Tax Matters. The following description of the relationships among Moody’s,
New D&B and their predecessor entities is important in understanding the Legacy Tax Matters.

In November 1996, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation separated into three separate public companies: The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation, ACNielsen Corporation and Cognizant Corporation. In June 1998, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation separated into
two separate public companies: Old D&B and R.H. Donnelley Corporation. During 1998, Cognizant separated into two separate
public companies: IMS Health Incorporated and Nielsen Media Research, Inc. In September 2000, Old D&B separated into two
separate public companies: New D&B and Moody'’s, as further described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into global tax planning initiatives in the normal course of business. These initiatives are
subject to normal review by tax authorities. Old D&B and its predecessors also entered into a series of agreements covering the
sharing of any liabilities for payment of taxes, penalties and interest resulting from unfavorable IRS determinations on certain tax
matters, and certain other potential tax liabilities, all as described in such agreements. Further, in connection with the 2000
Distribution and pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreement, New D&B and Moody’s have agreed on the financial
responsibility for any potential liabilities related to Legacy Tax Matters.

Settlement agreements were executed with the IRS in 2005 regarding Legacy Tax Matters for the years 1989-1990 and 1993-
1996. As of December 31, 2008, the Company continues to carry a liability of $1.8 million with respect to these matters. With
respect to these settlement agreements, Moody’s and New D&B believe that IMS Health and NMR did not pay their full share of
the liability to the IRS pursuant to the terms of the applicable separation agreements among the parties. Moody’s and New D&B
paid these amounts to the IRS on their behalf, and attempted to resolve this dispute with IMS Health and NMR. As a result,
Moody’s and New D&B commenced arbitration proceedings against IMS Health and NMR in connection with the 1989-1990
matter. This matter was resolved during the third quarter of 2008 in favor of Moody’s and New D&B, resulting in IMS Health and
NMR having paid a total of $6.7 million to Moody’s. Moody’s and New D&B may also commence an arbitration proceeding to
collect amounts owed by IMS Health and NMR with respect to the 1993-1996 matter. Moody’s cannot predict the outcome of this
matter with any certainty.
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Amortization Expense Deductions

This Legacy Tax Matter, which was affected by developments in June 2007 and 2008 as further described below, involves a
partnership transaction which resulted in amortization expense deductions on the tax returns of Old D&B since 1997. IRS audits of
Old D&B'’s and New D&B'’s tax returns for the years 1997 through 2002 concluded in June 2007 without any disallowance of the
amortization expense deductions, or any other adjustments to income related to this partnership transaction. These audits
resulted in the IRS issuing the Notices for other tax issues for the 1997-2000 years aggregating $9.5 million in tax and penalties,
plus statutory interest of approximately $6 million, which should be apportioned among Moody’s, New D&B, IMS Health and NMR
pursuant to the terms of the applicable separation agreements. Moody’s share of this assessment was $6.6 million including
interest, net of tax. In November 2007, the IRS assessed the tax and penalties and used a portion of the deposit discussed below
to satisfy the assessment, together with interest. The Company believes it has meritorious grounds to challenge the IRS’s actions
and is evaluating its alternatives to recover these amounts. The absence of any tax deficiencies in the Notices for the amortization
expense deductions for the years 1997 through 2002, combined with the expiration of the statute of limitations for 1997 through
2002, for issues not assessed, resulted in Moody's recording an earnings benefit of $52.3 million in the second quarter of 2007.
This is comprised of two components, as follows: (i) a reversal of a tax liability of $27.3 million related to the period from 1997
through the Distribution Date, reducing the provision for income taxes; and (ii) a reduction of accrued interest expense of $17.5
million ($10.6 million, net of tax) and an increase in other non-operating income of $14.4 million, relating to amounts due to New
D&B. In June 2008, the statute of limitations for New D&B relating to the 2003 tax year expired. As a result, in the second quarter
of 2008, Moody’s recorded a reduction of accrued interest expense of $2.3 million ($1.4 million, net of tax) and an increase in
other non-operating income of $6.4 million, relating to amounts due to New D&B.

On the Distribution Date, New D&B paid Moody’s $55.0 million for 50% of certain anticipated future tax benefits of New D&B
through 2012. It is possible that IRS audits of New D&B for tax years after 2003 could result in income adjustments with respect to
the amortization expense deductions of this partnership transaction. In the event these tax benefits are not claimed or otherwise
not realized by New D&B, or there is an audit adjustment, Moody’s would be required, pursuant to the terms of the 2000
Distribution Agreement, to repay to New D&B an amount equal to the discounted value of its share of the related future tax
benefits and its share of any tax liability that New D&B incurs. As of December 31, 2008, Moody’s liability with respect to this
matter totaled $48.7 million.

In March 2006, New D&B and Moody's each deposited $39.8 million with the IRS in order to stop the accrual of statutory interest
on potential tax deficiencies with respect to the 1997 through 2002 tax years. In July 2007, New D&B and Moody’s commenced
procedures to recover approximately $57 million of these deposits ($24.6 million for New D&B and $31.9 million for Moody’s),
which represents the excess of the original deposits over the total of the deficiencies asserted in the Notices. As noted above, in
November 2007 the IRS used $7.9 million of Moody’s portion of the deposit to satisfy an assessment and related interest.
Additionally, in the first quarter of 2008 the IRS returned to Moody’s $33.1 million in connection with this matter, which includes
$3.0 million of interest. In July 2008, the IRS paid Moody'’s the remaining $1.8 million balance of the original deposit, and in
September 2008 the IRS paid Moody’s $0.2 million of interest on that balance.

At December 31, 2008, Moody'’s has recorded liabilities for Legacy Tax Matters totaling $51.5 million. This includes liabilities and
accrued interest due to New D&B arising from the 2000 Distribution Agreement. It is possible that the ultimate liability for Legacy
Tax Matters could be greater than the liabilities recorded by the Company, which could result in additional charges that may be
material to Moody’s future reported results, financial position and cash flows.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements and are based on future
expectations, plans and prospects for the Company'’s business and operations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties.
Such statements involve estimates, projections, goals, forecasts, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results or
outcomes to differ materially from those contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking
statements. Those statements appear at various places throughout this annual report on Form 10-K, including in the sections
entitled “Outlook” and “Contingencies” under Item 7. “MD&A”, commencing on page 27 of this annual report on Form 10-K, under
“Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3, of this Form 10-K, and elsewhere in the context of statements containing the words
“believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “will", “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “strategy”, “aspire”, “target”, “forecast”,
“project”, “estimate”, “should”, “could”, “may” and similar expressions or words and variations thereof relating to the Company’s
views on future events, trends and contingencies. Stockholders and investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these

forward-
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looking statements. The forward-looking statements and other information are made as of the date of this annual report on Form
10-K, and the Company undertakes no obligation (nor does it intend) to publicly supplement, update or revise such statements on
a going-forward basis, whether as a result of subsequent developments, changed expectations or otherwise. In connection with
the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is identifying examples of
factors, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ, perhaps materially, from those indicated by these forward-
looking statements. Those factors, risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the current world-wide credit market
disruptions and economic slowdown, which is affecting and could continue to affect the volume of debt and other securities issued
in domestic and/or global capital markets; other matters that could affect the volume of debt and other securities issued in
domestic and/or global capital markets, including credit quality concerns, changes in interest rates and other volatility in the
financial markets; the uncertain effectiveness and possible collateral consequences of U.S. and foreign government initiatives to
respond to the economic slowdown; concerns in the marketplace affecting our credibility or otherwise affecting market perceptions
of the integrity or utility of independent agency ratings; the introduction of competing products or technologies by other companies;
pricing pressure from competitors and/or customers; the impact of regulation as a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization and the potential for new U.S., state and local legislation and regulations; the potential for increased competition and
regulation in foreign jurisdictions; exposure to litigation related to our rating opinions, as well as any other litigation to which the
Company may be subject from time to time; the possible loss of key; failures or malfunctions of our operations and infrastructure;
the outcome of any review by controlling tax authorities of the Company’s global tax planning initiatives; the outcome of those
Legacy Tax Matters and legal contingencies that relate to the Company, its predecessors and their affiliated companies for which
Moody’s has assumed portions of the financial responsibility; the ability of the Company to successfully integrate acquired
businesses; and a decline in the demand for credit risk management tools by financial institutions. These factors, risks and
uncertainties as well as other risks and uncertainties that could cause Moody’s actual results to differ materially from those
contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements are described in greater detail under
“Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this annual report on Form 10-K, elsewhere in this Form 10-K and in other filings made by the
Company from time to time with the SEC or in materials incorporated herein or therein. Stockholders and investors are cautioned
that the occurrence of any of these factors, risks and uncertainties may cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially
from those contemplated, expressed, projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements, which could have a
material and adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. New factors may emerge
from time to time, and it is not possible for the Company to predict new factors, nor can the Company assess the potential effect of
any new factors on it.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Information in response to this Iltem is set forth under the caption “Market Risk” in Part Il, tem 7 on page 41 of this annual report

on Form 10-K.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC IAL REPORTING

Management of Moody’s Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. As defined by the SEC in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the Company’s Board, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Moody'’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets of the Company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of Moody’s management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has undertaken an assessment of the design and operational effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The COSO framework is based
upon five integrated components of control: risk assessment, control activities, control environment, information and
communications and ongoing monitoring.

Based on the assessment performed, management has concluded that Moody’s maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2008.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

/S RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/S/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Moody’s Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Moody’s Corporation (the Company) as of December 31,
2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ deficit, for the year then ended. We
also have audited Moody’s Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Moody’s Corporation’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our integrated audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Moody’s Corporation as of December 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and
shareholders’ deficit for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion,
Moody’s Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

/s KPMG LLP

KPMG LLP
New York, New York

February 27, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Moody’s Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of two years in the period ended December 31, 2007 present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Moody’s Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed the manner in which it accounts for
uncertainty in income taxes as of January 1, 2007 and the manner in which it accounts for defined benefit pension and other post-
retirement plans as of December 31, 2006.

/ s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York

February 28, 2008, except for the effects of
the change in the composition of reportable
segments as discussed in Note 18 as to which
the date is February 27, 2009
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MOODY’'S CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Revenue
Expenses
Operating
Selling, general and administrative
Restructuring
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of building
Total expenses
Operating income
Interest income (expense), net
Other non-operating income (expense), net
Non-operating income (expense), net
Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008

2007

2006

$1,755.4  $2,259.0  $2,037.1
493.3 584.0 539.4
441.3 451.1 359.3
(2.5) 50.0 —
75.1 42.9 39.5

— — (160.6)
1,007.2 1,128.0 777.6
748.2 1,131.0 1,259.5
(52.2) (24.3) 3.0
29.8 10.0 (2.0)
(22.4) (14.3) 1.0
725.8 1,116.7 1,260.5
268.2 415.2 506.6
$ 4576 $ 7015 $ 753.9
$ 189 $ 263 $ 265
$ 187 $ 258 $ 258
242.4 266.4 284.2
245.3 272.2 291.9
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MOODY'S CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE DATA)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $23.9 in 2008 and $16.2 in 2007
Deferred tax assets, net
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and shareholders ' deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Commercial paper
Revolving credit facility
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Non-current portion of deferred revenue
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Unrecognized tax benefits
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 16 and 17)
Shareholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding

Series common stock, par value $.01 per share; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued

and outstanding

Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 342,902,272 shares

issued at December 31, 2008 and 2007
Capital surplus
Retained earnings
Treasury stock, at cost; 107,757,537 and 91,495,426 shares of common stock at December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total shareholders’ deficit
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007

$ 2459 $ 4263
7.1 14.7
421.8 443.6
26.5 13.1
107.8 91.4
809.1 989.1
247.7 214.6
338.0 179.9
114.0 56.9
220.1 166.3
44.5 107.8
$1,7734  $17146
$ 2404 $ 3713
104.7 551.9
613.0 —
435.0 426.0
1,393.1 1,349.2
114.8 121.1
750.0 600.0
19.0 —
185.1 156.1
305.8 271.8
2,767.8 2,498.2
3.4 3.4

392.7 387.9
3,023.2 2,661.1
(4,361.6) (3,851.6)
(52.1) 15.6
(994.4) (783.6)
$1,7734  $17146
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MOODY'S CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 4576 $ 7015 $ 753.9
Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 75.1 42.9 39.5
Stock-based compensation expense 63.2 90.2 77.1
Non-cash portion of restructuring charge — 7.0 —
Deferred income taxes (17.3) (76.4) (27.2)
Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock options (7.5) (52.2) (103.2)
Legacy Tax Matters (7.8) (52.3) —
Gain on sale of building — — (160.6)
Other — — 1.2
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 26.2 36.7 (42.4)
Other current assets (23.1) (58.3) 8.9
Other assets and prepaid pension costs 26.0 15.5 (40.0)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (118.4) 53.9 141.4
Restructuring liability (29.8) 33.1 —
Deferred revenue 9.0 79.2 80.2
Unrecognized tax benefits and other non-current tax liabilities 30.8 91.9 8.9
Deferred rent 6.6 53.1 6.2
Other liabilities 44.1 18.2 8.6
Net cash provided by operating activities 534.7 984.0 752.5
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital additions (84.4) (181.8) (31.1)
Purchases of Short-term investments (10.3) (191.4) (414.0)
Sales and maturities of Short-term investments 15.9 252.9 436.5
Net proceeds from sale of building — — 163.9
Cash paid for acquisitions and investment in affiliates, net of cash acquired (241.4) (4.4) (39.2)
Insurance recovery 0.9 — —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (319.3) (124.7) 116.1
Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings under revolving credit facilities 4,266.2 1,000.0 —
Repayments of borrowings under revolving credit facilities (3,653.2) (1,000.0) —
Issuance of commercial paper 11,522.7 6,684.1 —
Repayment of commercial paper (11,969.4) (6,136.7) —
Issuance of long term debt 150.0 300.0 —
Net proceeds from stock plans 23.5 65.9 105.3
Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock options 7.5 52.2 103.2
Cost of treasury shares repurchased (592.9) (1,738.4) (1,093.6)
Payment of dividends (96.8) (85.2) (79.5)
Payments under capital lease obligations @.7) (2.0) (0.6)
Debt issuance costs and related fees (0.7) (1.4) —
Net cash used in financing activities (344.8) (861.5) (965.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (51.0) 20.4 18.7
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (180.4) 18.2 (77.9)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 426.3 408.1 486.0
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 2459 $ 426.3 $ 408.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MOODY’'S CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS)

ACCUMULATED
OTHER TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE SHAREHOLDERS' COMPREHENSIVE
TREASURY
COMMON STOCK STOCK INCOME (LOSS)  EQUITY (DEFICIT) INCOME
Retained
Capital
Shares  Amount Surplus Earnings Shares  Amount

Balance at December 31, 2005 3429 $ 34 $ 2409 $1,419.2 (52.6) $(1,353.2) $ 0.9) $ 309.4

Net income 753.9 7539 $ 753.9

Dividends (81.7) (81.7)

Proceeds from stock plans,

including excess tax benefits 209.0 209.0

Stock-based compensation 77.3 77.3

Net treasury stock activity (181.5) (11.7) (911.5) (1,093.0)

Currency translation adjustment 11.4 114 11.4

Additional minimum pension

liability (net of tax of $0.7 million) 1.0 1.0 1.0

Amounts eliminated related to

additional minimum pension

liability upon the implementation

of SFAS No. 158 (net of tax of

$1.8 million) 2.5 25

Actuarial losses and prior service

costs recognized upon the

implementation of SFAS No. 158

(net of tax of $16.3 million) (22.5) (22.5)

Unrecognized losses on cash flow

hedges 0.1 0.1 0.1
Comprehensive income $ 766.4
Balance at December 31, 2006 3429 $ 3.4 $ 345.7 $2,0914 (64.3) $(2,264.7) $ 8.4 % 167.4

Net income 701.5 701.5 701.5

Dividends (88.4) (88.4)

Amounts recognized upon

implementation of FIN 48 (43.4) (43.4)

Proceeds from stock plans,

including excess tax benefits 92.0 92.0

Stock-based compensation 94.6 94.6

Net treasury stock activity (144.4) (27.2) (1,586.9) (1,731.3)

Currency translation adjustment

(net of tax of $5.5 million) 12.9 12.9 12.9

Net actuarial gains and prior

service costs (net of tax of $5.9

million) 7.8 7.8 7.8

Amortization and recognition of

prior service cost and actuarial

losses (net of tax of $2.5 million) 3.4 3.4 3.4

Unrealized loss on cash flow

hedges (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)
Comprehensive income $ 725.5

(continued on next page)
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Balance at December 31, 2007
Net income
Dividends
Proceeds from stock plans,
including excess tax benefits
Stock -based compensation
Net treasury stock activity
Currency translation
adjustment (net of tax of
$12.1 million)
Net actuarial losses and prior
service costs (net of tax of
$18.0 million)
Amortization and recognition of
prior service cost and
actuarial losses (net of tax of
$0.8 million)
Net unrealized loss on cash flow
hedges (net of tax of $2.1
million)

Comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2008

ACCUMULATED TOTAL

OTHER SHAREHOLDERS'

COMPREHENSIVE COMPREHENSIVE
EQUITY
COMMON STOCK TREASURY STOCK INCOME (LOSS) (DEFICIT) INCOME
Retained
Capital
Shares Amount Surplus Earnings  Shares Amount

3429 $ 34 $ 387.9 $2661.1 (91.5) $ (3,851.6) $ 156 $ (783.6)
457.6 4576 $ 457.6

(95.5) (95.5)

8.1 8.1

63.2 63.2

(66.5) (16.3) (510.0) (576.5)
(37.8) (37.8) (37.8)
(26.7) (26.7) (26.7)
0.9 0.9 0.9
(4.1) (4.1) (4.1)
$ 389.9

3429 $ 34 $ 392.7 $3,023.2 (107.8) $ (4,361.6) $ (52.1) $ (994.4)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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MOODY'S CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(TABULAR DOLLAR AND SHARE AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

NOTE1 DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Moody'’s is a provider of (i) credit ratings and related research, data and analytical tools, (ii) quantitative credit risk measures, risk
scoring software, and credit portfolio management solutions and (iii) beginning in January 2008, securities pricing software and
valuation models. In 2007 and prior years, Moody'’s operated in two reportable segments: Moody'’s Investors Service and Moody'’s
KMV. Beginning in January 2008, Moody’s segments were changed to reflect the Reorganization announced in August 2007. As a
result of the Reorganization, the rating agency remains in the MIS operating company and several ratings business lines have
been realigned. All of Moody’s other non-rating commercial activities, including MKMV and sales of MIS research, are now
combined under a new operating company known as Moody’s Analytics. Moody’s now reports in two new reportable segments:
MIS and MA. The MIS segment publishes credit ratings on a wide range of debt obligations and the entities that issue such
obligations in markets worldwide. Revenue is derived from the originators and issuers of such transactions who use MIS’s ratings
to support the distribution of their debt issues to investors. The MA segment develops a wide range of products and services that
support the credit risk management activities of institutional participants in global financial markets. These offerings include
guantitative credit risk scores, credit processing software, economic research, analytical models, financial data, securities pricing
software and valuation models, and specialized consulting services. MA also distributes investor-oriented research and data
developed by MIS as part of its rating process, including in-depth research on major debt issuers, industry studies, and
commentary on topical events.

The Company operated as part of Old D&B until September 30, 2000, when Old D&B separated into two publicly traded
companies — Moody’s Corporation and New D&B. At that time, Old D&B distributed to its shareholders shares of New D&B stock.
New D&B comprised the business of Old D&B’s Dun & Bradstreet operating company. The remaining business of Old D&B
consisted solely of the business of providing ratings and related research and credit risk management services and was renamed
Moody’s Corporation. For purposes of governing certain ongoing relationships between the Company and New D&B after the
2000 Distribution and to provide for an orderly transition, the Company and New D&B entered into various agreements including a
distribution agreement, tax allocation agreement and employee benefits agreement.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include those of Moody’s Corporation and its majority- and wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
effects of all intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Investments in companies for which the Company has significant
influence over operating and financial policies but not a controlling interest are accounted for on an equity basis. Investments in
companies for which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are carried on the cost basis of
accounting.

The Company applies the guidelines set forth in Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51” in assessing its interests in variable interest entities to decide whether
to consolidate that entity. The Company has reviewed the potential variable interest entities and determined that there are no
consolidation requirements under FIN 46R.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents principally consist of investments in money market mutual funds and high-grade commercial paper with
maturities of three months or less when purchased. Interest income on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
was $12.2 million, $19.3 million and $18.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives,
typically three to 20 years for computer equipment and office furniture, fixtures and equipment. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement. Expenditures for maintenance
and repairs that do not extend the economic useful life of the related assets are charged to expense as incurred. Gains and losses
on disposals of property and equipment are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Computer Software

Costs for the development of computer software that will be sold, leased or otherwise marketed are capitalized when technological
feasibility has been established in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold,
Leased, or Otherwise Marketed”. These costs primarily relate to the development of credit processing software and quantitative
credit risk assessment products sold by the MA segment, to be licensed to customers and generally consist of professional
services provided by third parties and compensation costs of employees that develop the software. The Company amortizes these
assets based on the greater of either (i) a ratio of current product revenue to estimated total product revenue or (ii) the straight-line
basis over the useful life. Amortization expense for all such software for the year ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$0.2 million, $1.7 million and $6.0 million, respectively. In accordance with SFAS No. 86, the Company assesses the recoverability
of these assets at each period end date.

The Company capitalizes costs related to software developed or obtained for internal use in accordance with Statement of
Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”. These assets, included in
property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheets, relate to the Company’s accounting, product delivery and other
systems. Such costs generally consist of direct costs of third-party license fees, professional services provided by third parties and
employee compensation, in each case incurred either during the application development stage or in connection with upgrades
and enhancements that increase functionality. Such costs are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, generally three to
seven years. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage of development as well as maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Acq uired Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are
lower than the carrying amount of the related asset, a loss is recognized for the difference between the carrying amount and the
estimated fair value of the asset. Goodwill is tested for impairment, at the reporting unit level, annually on November 30 " or more
frequently if events or circumstances indicate the assets may be impaired, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. If
the estimated fair value is less than its carrying amount, a loss is recognized.

Rent Expense

The Company records rent expense on straight-line basis over the life of the lease. In cases where there is a free rent period or
future fixed rent escalations the Company will record a deferred rent liability. Additionally, the receipt of any lease incentives will
be recorded as a deferred rent liability which will be amortized over the lease term as a reduction of rent expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Under this
pronouncement, companies are required to record compensation expense for all share-based payment award transactions
granted to employees based on the fair value of the equity instrument at the time of grant. This includes shares issued under
employee stock purchase plans, stock options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. The Company has also established
a pool of additional paid-in capital related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation (“APIC Pool”), which is
available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized in accordance with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election
Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” which provides for an alternative transition method for
establishing the beginning balance of the APIC Pool.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Based on the Company’s risk management policy, from time to time the Company may use derivative financial instruments to
reduce exposure to changes in foreign currencies and interest rates. The Company does not enter into derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes. The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities in
accordance with SFAS N0.133, as amended and interpreted, which requires that all derivative financial instruments be recorded
on the balance sheet at their respective fair values. The changes in the value of derivatives that qualify as fair value hedges are
recorded currently into earnings. Changes in the derivative’s fair value that qualify as cash flow hedges are recorded as other
comprehensive income or loss, to the extent the hedge is effective, and such amounts are reclassified to earnings in the same
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects income.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”. As such,
revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or the services have been
provided and
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accepted by the customer, fees are determinable and the collection of resulting receivables is considered probable. If uncertainty
exists regarding customer acceptance of the product or service, revenue is not recognized until acceptance occurs.

In the MIS segment, revenue attributed to initial ratings of issued securities is recognized when the rating is issued. Revenue
attributed to monitoring of issuers or issued securities is recognized over the period in which the monitoring is performed. In most
areas of the ratings business, MIS charges issuers annual monitoring fees and amortizes such fees ratably over the related one-
year period. In the case of commercial mortgage-backed securities, derivatives, international residential mortgage-backed and
asset-backed securities, issuers can elect to pay the monitoring fees upfront. These fees are deferred and recognized over the
future monitoring periods, ranging from three to 51 years, which are based on the expected lives of the rated securities as of
December 31, 2008.

In areas where MIS does not separately charge monitoring fees, it defers portions of the rating fees that it estimates will be
attributed to future monitoring activities and recognizes such fees ratably over the applicable estimated monitoring period. The
portion of the revenue to be deferred is based upon a number of factors, including the estimated fair market value of the
monitoring services charged for similar securities or issuers. The estimated monitoring period is determined based on factors such
as the lives of the rated securities. Currently, the estimated monitoring periods range from one to ten years.

In the MA segment, revenue from sales of research products and from credit risk management subscription products is
recognized ratably over the related subscription period, which is principally one year, beginning upon delivery of the initial product.
Revenue from licenses of credit processing software is recognized in accordance with SOP 97-2, at the time the product master or
first copy is delivered or transferred to customers. Related software maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the annual
maintenance period. Revenue from professional services rendered within the consulting line of business is generally recognized
as the services are performed.

Certain revenue arrangements within the MA segment include multiple elements such as software licenses, maintenance,
subscription fees and professional services. In these types of arrangements, the fee is allocated to the various products or
services based on objective measurements of fair value; that is, generally the price charged when sold separately — or vendor-
specific objective evidence. Revenue is recognized for each element based upon the conditions for revenue recognition noted
above unless objective evidence of fair value is not available for an undelivered element. If the fair value is not available for an
undelivered element, the revenue for all elements is deferred. The deferred revenue will be recognized when MA has delivered
the elements that do not have fair value or the fair value becomes readily determinable.

Amounts billed or received in advance of providing the related products or services are reflected in revenue when earned and are
classified in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated financial statements, as are customer overpayments and
other credits. In addition, the consolidated balance sheets reflect as current deferred revenue amounts that are expected to be
recognized within one year of the balance sheet date, and as non-current deferred revenue amounts that are expected to be
recognized over periods greater than one year. The majority of the balance in non-current deferred revenue relates to fees for
future monitoring of CMBS.

In 2008, 2007 and 2006, no single customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenue.

Accounts Receivable Allowances

Moody'’s records provisions for estimated future adjustments to customer billings as a reduction of revenue, based on historical
experience and current conditions. Such provisions are reflected as additions to the accounts receivable allowance. Additionally,
estimates of uncollectible accounts are recorded as bad debt expense and are reflected as additions to the accounts receivable
allowance. Billing adjustments and uncollectible account write-offs are recorded against the allowance. Moody’s evaluates its
accounts receivable allowance by reviewing and assessing historical collection and adjustment experience and the current status
of customer accounts. Moody'’s also considers the economic environment of the customers, both from an industry and geographic
perspective, in evaluating the need for allowances. Based on its analysis, Moody’s adjusts its allowance as considered
appropriate in the circumstances.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses are charged to income as incurred. These expenses include costs associated with the development and
production of the Company’s products and services and their delivery to customers. These expenses principally include employee
compensation and benefits and travel costs that are incurred in connection with these activities.
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Restructuring
The Company’s restructuring accounting follows the provisions of: SFAS No. 112 for severance relating to employee terminations,
SFAS No. 88 for pension settlements and curtailments, and SFAS No. 146 for contract termination costs and other exit activities.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses are charged to income as incurred. These expenses include such items as compensation and benefits for
corporate officers and staff and compensation and other expenses related to sales of products. They also include items such as
office rent, business insurance, professional fees and gains and losses from sales and disposals of assets.

Foreign Currency Translation

For all operations outside the U.S. where the Company has designated the local currency as the functional currency, assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using end of year exchange rates, and revenue and expenses are translated using
average exchange rates for the year. For these foreign operations, currency translation adjustments are accumulated in a
separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income represents the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period due to transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner sources including foreign currency translation impacts, net actuarial losses and
net prior service costs related to pension and other post-retirement plans recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 158, changes in
minimum pension liability and derivative instruments. Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income is primarily comprised of
currency translation adjustments of $(10.1) million and $27.7 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and net
actuarial losses and net prior service costs related to the Company’s Post-Retirement Plans-net of tax, of $(37.2) million and
$(11.3) million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes”. Therefore, income tax expense is based on reported income before income taxes, and deferred income taxes
reflect the effect of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities that are recognized for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts that are recognized for income tax purposes. On January 1, 2007, the Company implemented the
provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”.

The Company classifies interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense in its consolidated statements of
operations. Penalties, if incurred, would be recognized in other non-operating expenses. Prior to the implementation of FIN 48,
interest expense and, if necessary, penalties associated with tax contingencies were recorded as part of the provision for income
taxes.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company'’s financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables, all of which are short-term
in nature and, accordingly, approximate fair value. Additionally, the Company invests in short-term investments that are carried at
cost, which approximates fair value due to their short-term maturities. The fair value of the Company’s CP Notes, 2007 Facility
and 2008 Term Loan approximates cost due to the floating interest rate paid on these outstanding loans. The fair value of the
Company'’s Series 2005-1 Notes and Series 2007-1 Notes, both of which have a fixed rate of interest, is estimated using
discounted cash flow analyses based on the prevailing interest rates available to the Company for borrowings with similar
maturities. The carrying amount of these notes was $600.0 million and $600.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Their estimated fair value was $732.1 million and $650.8 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk principally consist of cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments and trade receivables.

Cash equivalents consist of investments in high quality investment-grade securities within and outside the U.S. The Company
manages its credit risk exposure by allocating its cash equivalents among various money market mutual funds and issuers of
high- grade commercial paper. Short-term investments primarily consist of certificates of deposit and high-grade corporate bonds
in
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Korea as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. The Company manages its credit risk exposure on cash equivalents and short-term
investments by limiting the amount it can invest with any single issuer. No customer accounted for 10% or more of accounts
receivable at December 31, 2008 or 2007.

Earnings per Share of Common Stock

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share”, basic EPS is calculated based on the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS is calculated giving effect to all potentially dilutive
common shares, assuming that such shares were outstanding during the reporting period.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

Moody’s maintains various noncontributory DBPPs as well as other contributory and noncontributory retirement and post-
retirement plans. The expenses, assets, liabilities and obligations that Moody'’s reports for pension and other post-retirement
benefits are dependent on many assumptions concerning the outcome of future events and circumstances. Moody’s major
assumptions vary by plan and the Company determines these assumptions based on the Company’s long-term actual experience
and future outlook as well as consultation with outside actuaries and other advisors where deemed appropriate. If actual results
differ from the Company’s assumptions, such differences are deferred and amortized over the estimated future working life of the
plan participants.

The Company accounts for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans in accordance with SFAS No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106,
and 132(R)". SFAS No. 158 requires an employer to recognize as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position the
funded status of its defined benefit post-retirement plans and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the
changes occur through other comprehensive income.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, revenue recognition, accounts receivable allowances, income taxes,
contingencies, valuation of investments in affiliates, long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill, pension and other post-
retirement benefits, stock-based compensation, and depreciation and amortization rates for property and equipment and computer
software.

The financial market volatility and poor economic conditions beginning in the third quarter of 2007 and continuing into early 2009,
both in the U.S. and in many other countries where the Company operates, have impacted and will continue to impact Moody's
business. Such conditions could have a material impact to the Company’s significant accounting estimates discussed above, in
particular those around accounts receivable allowances, valuations of investments in affiliates, goodwill and other acquired
intangible assets, and pension and other post-retirement benefits.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Adopted:

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—including
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115". SFAS No. 159 expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing
standards which require assets or liabilities to be carried at fair value. Under SFAS No. 159, a company may elect to measure
many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value on an instrument by instrument basis with changes in fair value
recognized in earnings each reporting period. Items eligible for fair-value election include recognized financial assets and liabilities
such as equity-method investments and investments in equity securities that do not have readily determinable fair values, written
loan commitments, and certain warranties and insurance contracts where a warrantor or insurer is permitted to pay a third party to
provide the warranty goods or services. If the use of fair value is elected, the election must be applied to individual instruments
with certain restrictions, is irrevocable and must be applied to an entire instrument. Any upfront costs and fees related to the item
elected for fair value must be recognized in earnings and cannot be deferred. At the implementation date, unrealized gains and
losses on existing items for which fair value has been elected are reported as a cumulative adjustment to beginning retained
earnings. Subsequent to the implementation of SFAS No. 159, changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings. SFAS No. 159
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and was implemented by the Company as of January 1, 2008. The
implementation did not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
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In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-3 (“FSP 157-3"), Determining the Fair Value of a Financial
Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active. FSP 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS No. 157 in a market that is not
active and provides an example to illustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market
for that financial asset is not active. FSP 157-3 is effective upon issuance and the implementation did not have a material effect on
the Company'’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Not Yet Adopted:

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 establishes a single authoritative
definition of fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and requires additional disclosures about fair-value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is expected to increase the consistency of fair value measurements and applies only to those
measurements that are already required or permitted to be measured at fair value by other accounting standards. SFAS No. 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS
157-2 (“FSP FAS 157-2), which partially defers the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for non-financial assets and liabilities, except
for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis, until fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2008. The Company has implemented the deferral provisions of FSP FAS 157-2 and as a result has partially
implemented the provisions of SFAS No. 157 as of January 1, 2008. The partial implementation of SFAS No. 157 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations in 2008. The Company will apply, as of
January 1, 2009, the provisions of SFAS No. 157 to its non financial assets and liabilities initially measured at fair value in a
business combination and not subsequently remeasured at fair value, non financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value for
a goodwill impairment assessment, non-financial long-lived assets measured at fair value for an asset impairment assessment,
and asset retirement obligations initially measured at fair value. The Company does not expect the implementation of this
standard to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an
amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS No. 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries
held by parties other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling
interest, changes in a parent’s ownership interest and the valuation of retained non-controlling equity investments when a
subsidiary is deconsolidated. SFAS No. 160 also establishes disclosure requirements that clearly identify and distinguish between
the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners and requires that a non-controlling interest in a
subsidiary be reported as equity. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and is
required to be implemented by the Company as of January 1, 2009. The adoption of this standard will have an immaterial impact
on the presentation of minority interest in the consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations. SFAS No. 141R extends its
applicability to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over one or more other businesses and
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also
expands disclosure requirements to improve the statement users’ abilities to evaluate the nature and financial effects of business
combinations. SFAS No. 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008 and is required to be
implemented by the Company as of January 1, 2009. While SFAS No. 141R applies only to business combinations consummated
on or after its effective date, its amendments to SFAS No. 109 with respect to deferred tax valuation allowances and liabilities for
income tax uncertainties are required to be applied to all deferred tax valuation allowances and liabilities for income tax
uncertainties that existed and recognized in prior business combinations or that arise as a result of the prior business
combinations. The implementation of SFAS N0.141R is not expected to impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for prior periods.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities- an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 133. SFAS No. 161 amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133, and requires
gualitative disclosures about objectives and strategies for using derivatives, quantitative disclosures in tabular format about fair
value amounts of and gains and losses on derivative instruments, and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in
derivative agreements. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company plans to
implement the provisions of SFAS No. 161 as of January 1, 2009 and does not expect the implementation to have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. SFAS No. 162
identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles used in the preparation of financial
statements
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of nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with. SFAS No. 162 will become effective 60 days following the
SEC'’s approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, “The Meaning of Present
Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.” The Company does not expect the implementation of
SFAS No. 162 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 08-6, “Equity Method Investment Accounting Considerations” (“EITF 08-6").
EITF 08-6 applies to all investments accounted for under the equity method and clarifies the accounting for certain transactions
and impairment considerations involving those investments. EITF 08-6 is effective in fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008 and was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2009. The implementation of EITF 08-6 did not have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 132(R)-1, “Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement
Benefit Plan Assets” (“FSP FAS 132R-1"). FSP FAS 132R-1 expands the disclosures set forth in SFAS No. 132R by adding
required disclosures about how investment allocation decisions are made by management, major categories of plan assets, and
significant concentrations of risk. Additionally, FSP FAS 132R-1 requires an employer to disclose information about the valuation
of plan assets similar to that required under SFAS No. 157. FSP FAS 132R-1 intends to enhance the transparency surrounding
the types of assets and associated risks in an employer’s defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan and the new
disclosures are required to be included in financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the implementation of FSP FAS 132R-1 on its consolidated financial
statements.

NOTE3 RECONCILIATION OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDI NG
Below is a reconciliation of basic to diluted shares outstanding:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Basic 242.4 266.4 284.2
Dilutive effect of shares issuable under stock-based compensation plans 2.9 5.8 7.7
Diluted 245.3 2722 2919

Antidilutive options to purchase common shares and restricted stock excluded from the table above 11.3 5.6 2.9

The calculation of diluted EPS requires certain assumptions regarding the use of both cash proceeds and assumed proceeds that
would be received upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock outstanding as of December 31, 2008, 2007

and 2006. These assumed proceeds include those from excess tax benefits that would be realized upon exercise of the option or
vesting of the restricted stock and any unrecognized compensation as calculated under SFAS No. 123R.

NOTE 4 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments are securities with maturities greater than 90 days at the time of purchase that are available for use in the
Company'’s operations in the next twelve months. The short-term investments, primarily consisting of certificates of deposit, are
classified as held-to-maturity and therefore are carried at cost. The remaining contractual maturities of the short-term investments
were one to ten months for both December 31, 2008 and 2007. Interest and dividends are recorded into income when earned.

NOTES5 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

In December 2007, the Company commenced a hedging program to protect against FX rate risks from forecasted billings and
related revenue denominated in the euro and the GBP. FX options and forward exchange contracts were utilized to hedge
exposures related to changes in FX rates. As of December 31, 2008 all option contracts have maturities between one and

14 months and were set to expire at various times through February 26, 2010.
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The following table summarizes the notional amounts of the Company’s outstanding options and the fair value of the asset
recorded in other current assets in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets:

December 31,

2008 2007
Notional amount of Currency Pair:
GBP/USD £ 7.4 million £ 7.9 million
EUR/USD €12.9 million €16.7 million
EUR/GBP €24.3 million €61.5 million
Fair value of derivative asset $ 4.9 million $ 2.3 million

The amount of unrecognized FX hedge gains recorded in AOCI at December 31, 2008 and 2007, was approximately $2 million,
net of tax, and nil, respectively. The hedges’ ineffectiveness for the years then ended recorded within revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations was immaterial. Additionally, the existing realized gains as of December 31, 2008 expected to be
classified to earnings in the next twelve months are $2.3 million. Gains and losses reported in AOCI are reclassified into earnings
as the underlying transaction is recognized.

In May 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $150.0 million to protect against
fluctuations in the LIBOR-based variable interest rate on the 2008 Term Loan, further described in Note 14. These are designated
as cash flow hedges. The amount of unrecognized hedge losses, net of tax, reported in AOCI was $6.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008. Changes in the fair value of the related derivative instrument are included in AOCI. As of December 31,
2008, the fair value of the interest rate swaps was $10.7 million and is recorded in other liabilities in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet.

NOTE6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consisted of:

December 31,

2008 2007
Office and computer equipment $ 893 $ 924
Office furniture and fixtures 34.4 35.6
Internal-use computer software 101.2 69.8
Leasehold improvements 153.2 137.7
Total property and equipment, at cost 378.1 335.5
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (130.4) (120.9)
Total property and equipment, net $247.7 $214.6

Depreciation and amortization expense related to the above assets was $46.7 million, $31.5 million and $23.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 7 ACQUISITIONS

During 2008, the Company completed the acquisitions of Financial Projections, BQuotes, Fermat and Enb. These acquisitions
were accounted for using the purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”. These
acquisitions are discussed below in more detalil.

Enb Consulting

In December 2008, a subsidiary of the Company acquired Enb Consulting, a provider of credit and capital markets training
services. The purchase price was not material and the near term impact to operations and cash flow is not expected to be
material. Enb is part of the MA segment.
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Fermat International

On October 9, 2008, a subsidiary of the Company acquired Fermat International, a provider of risk and performance management
software to the global banking sector, which is now part of the MA segment. The combination of MA’s credit portfolio management
and economic capital tools with Fermat’s expertise in risk management software positions MA to deliver comprehensive analytical
solutions for financial institutions worldwide. The results of Fermat are reflected in the MA operating segment since the acquisition
date.

The aggregate purchase price of $211 million consisted of $204.5 million in cash payments to the sellers and $6.5 million in direct
transaction costs, primarily professional fees. The purchase price was funded by using Moody’s cash on hand.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. Shown below is the preliminary purchase price allocation, which
summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, at the date of acquisition:

Current assets $ 54.0
Property and equipment, net 1.6
Intangible assets:

Software (9.0 year weighted average life) $ 43.0

Client relationships (16.0 year weighted average life) 12.1

Other intangibles (1.8 year weighted average life) 2.7

Total intangible assets 57.8
In-process technology 4.5
Goodwill 123.1
Liabilities assumed (30.0)
Net assets acquired $211.0

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the acquired goodwill, which has been assigned to the MA segment, will not be amortized and
will not be deductible for tax. In accordance with SFAS No. 141, the $4.5 million allocated to acquired in-process technology was
written off immediately following the acquisition because the technological feasibility had not yet been established as of the
acquisition date and was determined to have no future use. This write-off is included in depreciation and amortization expenses
for the year ended December 31, 2008. Current assets include acquired cash of approximately $26 million.

BQuotes, Inc.

In January 2008, a subsidiary of the Company acquired BQuotes, Inc., a global provider of price discovery tools and end-of-day
pricing services for a wide range of fixed income securities. The purchase price was not material and the near term impact to
operations and cash flow is not expected to be material. BQuotes is part of the MA segment.

Financial Projections Limited

In January 2008, a subsidiary of the Company acquired Financial Projections Ltd., a leading provider of in-house credit training
services, with long-standing relationships among European banks. The purchase price was not material and the near term impact
to operations and cash flow is not expected to be material. Financial Projections is part of the MA segment.
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NOTE8 GOODWILL AND OTHER ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes the activity in goodwill for the years ended December 31:

2008 2007
MIS MA Consolidated MIS MA Consolidated
Beginning balance $ 114 $ 1685 $ 1799 $ 94 $ 166.7 $ 176.1
Additions 1.4 158.7 160.1 1.9 1.8 3.7
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2.2) 0.2 (2.0) 0.1 — 0.1
Ending balance $ 106 $ 3274 % 3380 $ 114 $ 1685 $ 179.9
Acquired Intangible assets at December 31 consisted of:
2008 2007
Customer lists $ 805 $ 627
Accumulated amortization (37.7) (31.8)

Net customer lists 42.8 30.9
Trade secret 255 255
Accumulated amortization (6.6) (4.4)

Net trade secret 18.9 21.1
Software 55.2 2.2
Accumulated amortization (11.0) (0.4)

Net software 44.2 1.8
Other 28.2 13.9
Accumulated amortization (20.1) (10.8)

Net other 8.1 3.1

Total $ 114.0 $ 56.9

The weighted average life of customer lists, software and other intangible assets acquired during the year ended December 31,
2008 was 15.9 years, 8.8 years and 9.8 years, respectively. Other intangible assets primarily consist of databases, trade-names
and covenants not to compete. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $28.2 million,
$9.7 million and $9.9 million, respectively.

Estimated future annual amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization is as follows:

Year Ending December 31,

2009 $ 16.9
2010 15.7
2011 14.5
2012 14.3
2013 14.3
Thereafter 38.3

Intangible assets are reviewed for recoverability whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. If the estimated undiscounted future cash flows are lower than the carrying amount of the related asset, a loss is
recognized for the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value of the asset. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate the assets may be impaired.
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For the year ended December 31, 2008, there were no impairments to goodwill, and an impairment of $11.1 million was
recognized for certain software and database intangible assets within the MA segment, which is reflected in amortization expense.
These intangible assets were determined to be impaired, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, as a result of comparing the carrying
amount to the undiscounted cash flows of the related asset group expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the
assets. The Company measured the amount of the impairment loss by comparing the carrying amount of the related assets to
their fair value. The fair value was determined by utilizing the expected present value technique which uses multiple cash flow
scenarios that reflect the range of possible outcomes and a risk-free rate. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
there were no impairments to goodwill or other intangible assets.

NOTE9 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of:

December 31,

2008 2007
Salaries and benefits $ 497 $ 51.2
Incentive compensation 47.1 90.4
Customer credits, advanced payments and advanced billings 23.4 18.2
Dividends 24.5 26.0
Professional service fees 23.9 18.1
Interest 10.2 9.5
Accounts payable 8.6 8.1
Income taxes (see Note 13) 3.5 69.4
Restructuring (see Note 10) 3.3 33.1
Other 46.2 47.3

Total $240.4  $371.3

NOTE 10 RESTRUCTURING

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company committed to a Restructuring Plan to reduce global head count by approximately
275 positions, or approximately 7.5% of the workforce, in response to both the Company’s Reorganization and to a decline in
current and anticipated issuance of rated debt securities in some market sectors. Included in the Restructuring Plan is a reduction
of staff as a result of: (i) consolidation of certain corporate staff functions, (ii) the integration of businesses comprising MA, and
(iii) an anticipated decline in new securities issuance in some market sectors. The Restructuring Plan also calls for the termination
of technology contracts as well as the outsourcing of certain technology functions which began in the first half of 2008. The
Restructuring Plan is complete as of December 31, 2008.

Restructuring amounts for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $(2.5) million and $50.0 million, respectively. The
2008 amount primarily reflects adjustments of previous estimates for severance and contract termination costs associated with the
Restructuring Plan. As of December 31, 2008, there was $11.4 million of accrued restructuring remaining of which $3.3 million will
be paid in 2009. Payments related to the $8.1 million unfunded pension liability will commence when the affected employees
reach retirement age beginning in 2009. The 2009 payments are expected to be approximately $2 million, and will continue in
accordance with the provisions of the Post-Retirement Plan.
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Changes to the restructuring liability during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:

EMPLOYEE TERMINATION COSTS

Contract

Pension Stock Termination Total Restructuring

Severance Settlements Compensation Total Costs Liability
Balance at January 1, 2007 $ —  $ —  $ — $ — 3 —  $ —
Costs incurred 30.8 10.8 4.3 45.9 4.1 50.0
Cash payments (1.8) — — (1.8) — (1.8)
Non-cash charges — (2.7) (4.3) (7.0) — (7.0)
Balance at December 31, 2007 29.0 8.1 — 37.1 4.1 41.2
Costs incurred and adjustments (2.5) — — (2.5) 0.3 (2.2)
Cash payments (25.0) — — (25.0) (2.6) (27.6)
Balance at December 31, 2008 $ 15 $ 81 $ — $ 96 $ 1.8 $ 11.4

Severance and contract termination costs of $3.3 million and $33.1 million are recorded in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Additionally, pension settlements of $8.1 million are recorded within
other liabilities. The non-cash charges in 2007 reflect a $2.7 million pension curtailment which reduced AOCI and a $4.3 million
increase to capital surplus relating to a stock option modification charge.

NOTE 11 PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Moody’s maintains funded and unfunded noncontributory Defined Benefit Pension Plans. The plans provide defined benefits using
a cash balance formula based on years of service and career average salary or final average pay for selected executives. The
Company also provides certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired U.S. employees. The post-retirement healthcare
plans are contributory with participants’ contributions adjusted annually; the life insurance plans are noncontributory. Moody’s
funded and unfunded pension plans, the post-retirement healthcare plans and the post-retirement life insurance plans are
collectively referred to herein as the “Post-Retirement Plans”. Effective at the Distribution Date, Moody’s assumed responsibility
for the pension and other post-retirement benefits relating to its active employees. New D&B has assumed responsibility for the
Company’s retirees and vested terminated employees as of the Distribution Date.

Through 2007, substantially all U.S. employees were eligible to participate in the Company’s DBPPs. Effective January 1, 2008,
the Company no longer offers DBPPs to employees hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2008 and new hires instead will receive
a retirement contribution in similar benefit value under the Company’s Profit Participation Plan. Current participants of the
Company’s DBPPs continue to accrue benefits based on existing plan benefit formulas.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company implemented the provisions of SFAS No. 158 and the incremental effect of
implementation was a decrease in other assets of $15.9 million, an increase in other liabilities of $18.6 million and a pre-tax
increase in AOCI of $34.5 million ($20.0 million, net of tax). The amounts recognized in AOCI are subsequently recognized as
components of net periodic benefit expense over future years pursuant to the recognition and amortization provisions of SFAS
No. 87 and SFAS No. 106.
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Following is a summary of changes in benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets for the Post-Retirement Plans for the years
ended December 31.:

OTHER POST-
PENSION PLANS RETIREMENT PLANS
2008 2007 2008 2007
Change in Benefit Obligation:

Benefit obligation, beginning of the period $ (149.3) $ (134.6) $ (9.7) $ (9.4)
Service cost (12.4) (12.6) (0.8) (0.9
Interest cost (9.7) (8.1) (0.6) (0.6)
Plan participants’ contributions — — (0.2) (0.2)
Benefits paid 3.3 1.9 0.4 0.4
Plan amendments — (3.6) — 0.4
Impact of curtailment 1.1 5.3 — 0.4
Impact of special termination benefits (2.8) (8.1) — —
Actuarial gain (loss) (0.8) (2.5) (0.2) (0.4)
Assumption changes (1.2 13.0 — 0.5

Benefit obligation, end of the period (171.8) (149.3) (11.0) (9.7)

Change in Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the period 123.9 116.6 — —
Actual return on plan assets (33.9) 8.5 — —
Benefits paid (3.3) (1.9 (0.4) (0.4)
Employer contributions 1.9 0.7 0.3 0.3
Plan participants’ contributions — — 0.1 0.1

Fair value of plan assets, end of the period 88.6 123.9 — —

Funded status of the plans: (83.2) (25.4) (11.0) (9.7)
Amounts Recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Net post-retirement benefit asset — 37.4 — $ —

Pension and post-retirement benefits liability-current (1.3) (2.2) (0.4) (0.5)

Pension and post-retirement benefits liability-non

current (81.9) (60.6) (10.6) (9.2)

Net amount recognized (83.2) (25.4) (11.0) (9.7)
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of the period $ (1415) $  (113.7)

The 2007 pension plan amendment above reflects the impact of the new benefit payment provision related to an unfunded plan
which beginning January 1, 2008 requires lump sum payments to be paid to active participants when they retire. Previously the

plan allowed lump sum or annuity payments.

The pension plan curtailment and the special termination benefits in both 2008 and 2007 relate to the terminations of certain
participants of the Company’s Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan, which resulted in a curtailment under SFAS No. 88 as there
was a significant reduction in the expected years of future service of participants covered by this plan. The special termination
benefits relate to the Company waiving early retirement penalties otherwise required by this plan.

The following table summarizes the pre-tax net actuarial losses and prior service cost recognized in AOCI for the Company’s

Post-Retirement Plans as of December 31:

Net actuarial (losses)
Net prior service costs
Total recognized in AOCI- pretax
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For the Company’s pension plans, the Company expects to recognize in 2009 as components of net periodic expense $0.8 million
for the amortization of net actuarial losses and $0.4 million for the amortization of prior service costs. Expected amortizations for
other post-retirement plans in 2009 are not material.

Net periodic benefit expenses recognized for the Post-Retirement Plans for years ended December 31:

OTHER POST-
PENSION PLANS RETIREMENT PLANS

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Components of net periodic expense
Service cost $ 124 % 126 $ 112 8 08 $ 09 $ 0.8
Interest cost 9.7 8.1 7.0 0.6 0.6 0.5
Expected return on plan assets (9.9) (9.0) (8.5) — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss from earlier periods 0.2 25 3.3 — — —
Amortization of net prior service costs from earlier
periods 0.4 0.4 0.4 — 0.2 0.2
Curtailment loss 1.0 2.7 — — — —
Cost of special termination benefits 2.8 8.1 — — — —
Net periodic expense $ 16.6 $ 254 $ 134 $ 1.4 $ 1.7 $ 1.5

The following table summarizes the pre-tax amounts recognized in AOCI related to the Company’s Post-Retirement Plans for the
years ended December 31:

PENSION PLANS OTHER POST-RETIREMENT PLANS
2008 2007 2008 2007
Amortization of net actuarial losses $ 0.2 $ 2.5 $ — $ =]
Amortization of prior service costs 0.4 0.4 — 0.2
Accelerated recognition of prior service costs due to curtailment 1.0 2.7 — —
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period (44.7) 15.2 (0.2) 0.6
Net prior service cost arising during the period due to plan
amendment — (3.5) — 0.4
Total recognized in Other Comprehensive Income — pre-tax $ (431) $ 173 $ (0.2) $ 1.2

The following information is for those pension plan s with a benefit obligation in excess of plan asset  s:

DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007

Aggregate benefit obligation $ 171.8 $ 62.7

Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ 886 % —
The following information is for those pension plan s with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:
DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007

Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation $ 56.8 $ 42.2

Aggregate fair value of plan assets $ — $ —
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:
Assumptions
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

OTHER POST-
PENSION PLANS RETIREMENT PLANS
2008 2007 2008 2007
Discount rate 6.00% 6.45% 6.25% 6.35%

Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% — —

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit expense for years ended December 31.:

PENSION PLANS OTHER POST-RETIREMENT PLANS
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.45% 5.90% 5.60% 6.35% 5.80% 5.45%
Expected return on plan assets 8.35% 8.35% 8.35% — — —
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% — — —

For 2008, the Company continued to use an expected rate of return on assets of 8.35% for Moody’s funded pension plan.
Moody’s works with third-party consultants to determine assumptions for long-term rates of return for the asset classes that are
included in the pension plan investment portfolio. These return assumptions reflect a long-term time horizon. They also reflect a
combination of historical performance analysis and forward-looking views of the financial markets including consideration of
inflation, current yields on long-term bonds and price-earnings ratios of the major stock market indices. Moody’s expected return
on plan asset assumption is determined by using a building block approach, which weighs the expected rate of return for each
major asset class based on their respective allocation target within the plan portfolio. As the Company’s investment policy is to
primarily invest in index funds, the impact of active management is not considered in determining the expected rate of return
assumption.

Assumed Healthcare Cost Trend Rates at December 31:

2008 2007 2006
Pre-age 65 Post -age 65 Pre-age 65 Post-age 65 Pre-age 65 Post-age 65

Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for the

following year 9.4% 10.4% 10.4% 11.4% 9.0% 11.0%
Ultimate rate to which the cost trend rate is

assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2013

The assumed health cost trend rate was updated in 2007 to better reflect different expectations for the medical and prescribed
medication components of health care costs for pre and post-65 retirees. As the Company subsidies for retiree healthcare
coverage are capped at the 2005 level, for the majority of the post-retirement health plan participants, retiree contributions are
assumed to increase at the same rate as the healthcare cost trend rates. As such, a one percentage-point increase or decrease in
assumed healthcare cost trend rates would not have affected total service and interest cost and would have a minimal impact on
the post-retirement benefit obligation.
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Plan Assets
The assets of the funded pension plan were allocated among the following categories at December 31:

PERCENTAGE OF
PLAN ASSETS

Asset Category 2008 2007
Equity securities 60% 71%
Debt securities 26 19
Real estate 14 10
Total 100% 100%

Moody'’s investment objective for the assets in the funded pension plan is to earn total returns that will minimize future contribution
requirements over the long run within a prudent level of risk. Risk management practices include diversification across asset
classes and investment styles and periodic rebalancing toward asset allocation targets. The Company’s current pension plan
asset allocation targets are for approximately seventy percent of assets to be invested in equity securities, diversified across U.S.
and non-U.S. stocks of small, medium and large capitalization, twenty percent in investment-grade bonds and the remainder in
real estate funds. The use of derivatives to leverage the portfolio or otherwise is not permitted. The Company’s monitoring of the
plan includes ongoing reviews of investment performance, annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies and
investment portfolio reviews. The Company is currently reviewing its asset allocation targets with its advisors. Except for the
Company'’s funded pension plan, all of Moody’s Post-Retirement Plans are unfunded and therefore have no plan assets.

Cash Flows

The Company made payments of $1.9 million and $0.7 million related to its unfunded pension plan obligations during the years
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively and made no contributions to its funded pension plans during the
aforementioned years. The Company made payments of $0.4 million and $0.3 million to its other post-retirement plans during the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company presently anticipates making payments of $1.3 million to
its unfunded pension plans and $0.4 million to its other post-retirement plans during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Estimated Future Benefits Payable
Estimated future benefits payments for the Post-Retirement Plans are as follows at December 31, 2008:

Other Post-
Year ending December 31, Pension Plans Retirement Plans*
2009 $ 4.0 $ 0.4
2010 10.4 0.5
2011 11.2 0.6
2012 6.3 0.6
2013 7.5 0.7
2014 - 2018 72.5 5.3
* The estimated future benefits payable for the Post-Retirement Plans are reflected net of the expected Medicare Part D subsidy for which the subsidy is

insignificant on an annual basis for all the years presented.

Defined Contribution Plans

Moody’s has a Profit Participation Plan covering substantially all U.S. employees. The Profit Participation Plan provides for an
employee salary deferral and the Company matches employee contributions with cash contributions equal to 50% of employee
contribution up to a maximum of 3% of the employee’s pay. Moody’s also makes additional contributions to the Profit Participation
Plan based on year-to-year growth in the Company’s EPS. Effective January 1, 2008, all new hires are automatically enrolled in
the Profit Participation Plan when they meet eligibility requirements unless they decline participation. As the Company’s DBPPs
are closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, all eligible new hires will instead receive a retirement contribution into the
Profit Participation Plan in value similar to the pension benefits. Additionally, effective January 1, 2008, the
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Company implemented a deferred compensation plan in the U.S., which is unfunded and provides for employee deferral of
compensation and Company matching contributions related to compensation in excess of the IRS limitations on benefits and
contributions under qualified retirement plans. Total expenses associated with defined contribution plans were $8.0 million, $13.3
million and $15.5 million in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2008, Moody’s has designated the Moody’s Stock Fund, an investment option under the Profit Participation
Plan, as an Employee Stock Ownership Plan and, as a result, participants in the Moody’s Stock Fund may receive dividends in
cash or may reinvest such dividends into the Moody’s Stock Fund. Moody’s paid approximately $0.3 million in dividends for the
Company’s common shares held by the Moody’s Stock Fund in 2008. The Company records the dividends as a reduction of
retained earnings in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit). The Moody’s Stock Fund held approximately
922,000 shares of Moody’s common stock at December 31, 2008.

International Plans

Certain of the Company’s international operations provide pension benefits to their employees in the form of defined contribution
plans. Company contributions are primarily determined as a percentage of employees’ eligible compensation. Expenses related to
these plans for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 were $5.3 million, $4.8 million and $3.9 million, respectively.

In addition, the Company also maintains an unfunded DBPP for its German employees, which was closed to new entrants in
2002. Furthermore, as a result of the acquisition of its wholly owned French subsidiary Fermat (See Note 7, Acquisitions) in
October 2008, the Company has assumed Fermat’s pension liability related to a state pension plan mandated by the French
Government. Total defined benefit pension liabilities recorded related to these plans was $3.0 million, $2.9 million, and $3.2
million based on a weighted average discount rate of 5.76%, 5.60%, and 4.25% at December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006,
respectively. The pension liabilities recorded as of December 31, 2008 represents the unfunded status of these plans and were
recognized in the statement of financial position as a non-current liability. Total pension expense recorded for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was approximately $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively. These amounts
are not included in the tables above. The incremental effect of implementing SFAS No. 158 for the German plan was immaterial.
As of December 31, 2008, the Company has included in AOCI net actuarial gains of $1.3 million ($0.9 million, net of tax) that have
yet to be recognized as a reduction to net periodic pension expense. The Company expects its 2009 amortization of the net
actuarial gains to be immaterial.

NOTE 12 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Presented below is a summary of the stock compensation cost and associated tax benefit in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Stock compensation cost $63.2 $90.2 $77.1
Tax benefit $23.5 $34.0 $29.7

The 2007 restructuring charge, as described in Note 10, includes $4.3 million relating to a stock award modification for three
employees which is not included in the stock compensation cost for 2007 shown in the table above. The nature of the modification
was to accelerate the vesting of certain awards for the affected employees as if they were retirement-eligible at the date of their
termination.

The fair value of each employee stock option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model that uses the assumptions noted below. The expected dividend yield is derived from the annual dividend rate on the date of
grant. The expected stock volatility is based on an assessment of historical weekly stock prices of the Company as well as implied
volatility from Moody'’s traded options. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. government zero coupon bonds with maturities
similar to the expected holding period. The expected holding period was determined by examining historical and projected post-
vesting exercise behavior activity.
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The following weighted average assumptions were used for options granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
Expected dividend yield 1.06% 0.44% 0.44%
Expected stock volatility 25% 23% 23%
Risk-free interest rate 2.96% 4.78% 4.59%
Expected holding period 5.5yrs 5.7 yrs 6.0 yrs
Grant date fair value $9.73 $22.65 $19.97

Under the 1998 Plan, 33.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock have been reserved for issuance. The 2001 Plan,
which is shareholder approved, permits the granting of up to 28.6 million shares, of which not more than 8.0 million shares are
available for grants of awards other than stock options. The 2001 Plan was amended and approved at the annual shareholders
meeting on April 24, 2007, increasing the number of shares reserved for issuance by 3.0 million which are included in the
aforementioned amounts. The Stock Plans provide that options are exercisable not later than ten years from the grant date. The
vesting period for awards under the Stock Plans is generally determined by the Board at the date of the grant and has been four
years except for employees who are at or near retirement eligibility, as defined, for which vesting is between one and four years.
Options may not be granted at less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. The Stock
Plans also provide for the granting of restricted stock.

The Company maintains the Directors’ Plan for its Board, which permits the granting of awards in the form of non-qualified stock
options, restricted stock or performance shares. The Directors’ Plan provides that options are exercisable not later than ten years
from the grant date. The vesting period is determined by the Board at the date of the grant and is generally one year for options
and three years for restricted stock. Under the Directors’ Plan, 0.8 million shares of common stock were reserved for issuance.
Any director of the Company who is not an employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as of the date that an award is
granted is eligible to participate in the Directors’ Plan.

A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2008 and changes during the year then ended is presented below:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Price Contractual
Intrinsic
Options Shares Per Share Term Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2007 18.6 $ 37.43
Granted 3.2 37.44
Exercised (2.2) 19.25
Forfeited (0.8) 51.74
Expired 0.4) 53.27
Outstanding, December 31, 2008 194 $ 37.72 5.4 yrs $ 146
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2008 18.8 $ 37.30 5.3 yrs $ 146
Exercisable, December 31, 2008 13.1 $ 30.73 4.1 yrs $ 146

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between Moody’s
closing stock price on the last trading day of the year ended December 31, 2008 and the exercise prices, multiplied by the number
of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options as of
December 31, 2008. This amount varies based on the fair value of Moody’s stock. As of December 31, 2008, there was $52.6
million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to options. The expense is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.1 years.
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The following table summarizes information relating to stock option exercises:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Proceeds from stock option exercises $ 232 $ 693 $ 105.0
Aggregate intrinsic value $ 216 $ 1394 $ 269.6
Tax benefit realized upon exercise $ 85 $ 539 $ 108.0

A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested restricted stock as of December 31, 2008 and changes during the year then
ended is presented below:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Nonvested Restricted Stock Shares Value Per Share
Balance, December 31, 2007 1.7 $ 63.20
Granted 0.6 37.97
Vested (0.6) 57.69
Forfeited (0.2) 57.41
Balance, December 31, 2008 1.5 $ 55.33

As of December 31, 2008, there was $41.8 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested restricted
stock. The expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years.

The following table summarizes information relating to the vesting of restricted stock awards:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Fair value of vested shares $ 237 $ 432 $ 278
Tax benefit realized upon vesting $ 88 $ 166 $ 109

The Company has a policy of issuing treasury stock to satisfy shares issued under stock-based compensation plans.

In addition, the Company also sponsors the ESPP. Under the ESPP, 6.0 million shares of common stock were reserved for
issuance. The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase common stock of the Company on a monthly basis at 85% of the
average of the high and the low trading prices on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day of each month. The
employee purchases are funded through after-tax payroll deductions, which plan participants can elect from one percent to ten
percent of compensation, subject to the annual federal limit. This results in stock-based compensation expense for the difference
between the purchase price and fair market value under SFAS No. 123R. Beginning on January 1, 2009 the discount offered on
the ESPP will be reduced to 5% which will result in the ESPP qualifying for non-compensatory status under SFAS No. 123R.
Accordingly, no compensation expense will be recognized for the ESPP subsequent to December 31, 2008.
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NOTE 13 INCOME TAXES
Components of the Company’s income tax provision are as follows:

Current:
Federal
State and local
Non-U.S
Total
Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Non-U.S
Total
Total Income Tax Provision

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2008 2007 2006

$ 1475 $ 2770 $ 3622

49.3 89.8 105.0
88.7 124.8 66.6
2855 491.6 533.8
(10.9) (64.9) (20.1)
(0.8) (10.7) (5.8)
(5.6) (0.8) (1.3)
(17.3) (76.4) (27.2)

$ 2682 $ 4152 $ 506.6

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate on income before provision for income

taxes is as follows:

U.S. statutory tax rate

State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit
Benefit of foreign operations

Legacy Tax

Other

Effective tax rate

Income taxes paid

The source of income before provision for income taxes is as follows:

United States
International

Income before provision for income taxes

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
4.1 4.6 5.1
(2.6) 0.1) (0.5)
(0.3) (2.4) 0.1
0.8 0.1 0.5

37.0% 37.2% 40.2%
$319.9 $408.7 $408.8

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
$ 4374 $ 8147 $ 1,026.0
288.4 302.0 234.5

$ 7258 $1,116.7 $ 1,260.5
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The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:
Current:
Accounts receivable allowances $ 6.5 $ 4.9
Accrued compensation and benefits 7.8 4.6
Deferred Revenue 55 211
Restructuring 3.0 19.7
Other 3.4 0.6
Total 26.2 50.9
Non-current:
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1.9 —
Stock-based compensation 68.5 62.3
Deferred Revenue 38.6 —
Benefit plans 39.1 35.5
State taxes — 2.8
Deferred rent and construction allowance 27.9 23.1
Foreign net operating loss ® 2.9 —
Uncertain tax positions 59.8 37.8
Other 9.9 3.4
Total 248.6 164.9
Total deferred tax assets 274.8 215.8
Deferred tax liabilities:
Current:
Prepaid expenses (0.3) (0.3)
Other (0.2) —
Total (0.5) (0.3)
Non-current:
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (11.4) (3.2)
Benefit plans — (20.6)
Intangible assets and capitalized software (35.8) (12.7)
Other (0.3) (0.7)
Total (47.5) (36.1)
Total deferred tax liabilities (48.0) (36.4)
Net deferred tax assets $ 226.8 $ 1794

(1) Amounts are primarily set to expire at various times throughout 2015, if unused.

Prepaid taxes of $62.7 million and $52.0 million for December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively are included in other current
assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Non-current tax receivables of $31.9 million at December 31, 2007 are included in
other assets.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $216.8 million of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that it
intends to indefinitely reinvest in foreign operations. The Company has not provided deferred income taxes on these indefinitely

reinvested earnings. It is not practicable to determine the amount of deferred taxes that might be required to be provided if such

earnings were distributed in the future, due to complexities in the tax laws and in the hypothetical calculations that would have to
be made.
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On January 1, 2007, the Company implemented the provisions of FIN 48, resulting in a reduction to retained earnings of $43.3
million. This reduction is comprised of a $32.9 million increase in the liability for UTBs and accrued interest of $17.3 million ($10.4
million, net of tax).

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of UTBs is as follows:

2008 2007
Balance as of January 1 $ 156.1 $ 1227
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 34.5 41.5
Additions for tax positions of prior years 8.2 27.7
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (12.2) (4.0)
Settlements with taxing authorities 0.7) —
Lapse of statute of limitations (0.8) (31.8)
Balance as of December 31 $ 185.1 $ 156.1

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had $185.1 million of UTBs of which $141.7 million represents the amount that, if
recognized, would impact the effective income tax rate in future periods.

The Company classifies interest related to UTBs in interest expense in its consolidated statements of operations. Penalties, if
incurred, would be recognized in other non-operating expenses. Prior to the implementation of FIN 48, interest expense and, if
necessary, penalties associated with tax contingencies were recorded as part of the provision for income taxes. During 2008, the
Company accrued interest of $12.8 million related to UTPs. As of December 31, 2008 the amount of accrued interest recorded in
the Company’s balance sheet related to UTPs was $36.4 million.

Moody’s Corporation and subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax in various state and local and
foreign jurisdictions. Moody’s federal income tax returns filed for the years 2004 through 2007 remain subject to examination by
the IRS. New York City income tax returns for 2001 through 2004 are currently under examination and for 2005 through 2007
remain open to examination. New York State income tax returns for 2004 through 2005 are currently under examination and for
2006 through 2007 remain open to examination. Tax filings in the U.K. for 2001 through 2005 are currently under examination by
the U.K. taxing authorities and for 2006 through 2007 remain open to examination.

For current ongoing audits related to open tax years, the Company estimates that it is possible that the balance of UTBs could
decrease in the next twelve months as a result of the effective settlement of these audits, which might involve the payment of
additional taxes, the adjustment of certain deferred taxes and/or the recognition of tax benefits. It is also possible that new

issues might be raised by tax authorities which might necessitate increases to the balance of UTBs. As the Company is unable to
predict the timing of conclusion of these audits, the Company is unable to estimate the amount of changes to the balance of
UTBs at this time. However, the Company believes that it has adequately provided for its financial exposure for all open tax years
by tax jurisdiction in accordance with the provisions of FIN 48. Additionally, the Company is seeking tax rulings on certain tax
positions which, if granted, could decrease the balance of UTBs over the next twelve months however, due to the uncertainty
involved with this process, the Company is unable to estimate the amount of changes to the balance of UTBs at this time.
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NOTE 14 INDEBTEDNESS
The following table summarizes total indebtedness:

December 31,

2008 2007
2007 Facility $ 613.0 $ —
Commercial paper, net of unamortized discount of $0.3 million at 2008 and $0.7 million at 2007 104.7 551.9
Notes payable:

Series 2005-1 Notes 300.0 300.0

Series 2007-1 Notes 300.0 300.0
2008 Term Loan 150.0 —
Total Debt 1,467.7 1,151.9
Current portion (717.7) (551.9)
Total long-term debt $ 750.0 $ 600.0
2007 Facility

On September 28, 2007, the Company entered into a $1.0 billion five-year senior, unsecured revolving credit facility, expiring in
September 2012. The 2007 Facility will serve, in part, to support the Company’s CP Program described below. Interest on
borrowings is payable at rates that are based on LIBOR plus a premium that can range from 16.0 to 40.0 basis points of the
outstanding borrowing amount depending on the Debt/EBITDA ratio. The Company also pays quarterly facility fees, regardless of
borrowing activity under the 2007 Facility. The quarterly fees for the 2007 Facility can range from 4.0 to 10.0 basis points of the
facility amount, depending on the Company’s Debt/EBITDA ratio. The Company also pays a utilization fee of 5.0 basis points on
borrowings outstanding when the aggregate amount outstanding exceeds 50% of the total facility. The weighted average interest
rate on borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2008 was 1.47%. The 2007 Facility contains certain covenants that, among
other things, restrict the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, without the approval of the lenders, to engage in
mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback transactions or to incur liens, as defined in the
related agreement. The 2007 Facility also contains financial covenants that, among other things, require the Company to maintain
a Debt/EBITDA ratio of not more than 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of any fiscal quarter.

Commercial Paper

On October 3, 2007, the Company entered into a private placement commercial paper program under which the Company may
issue CP notes up to a maximum amount of $1.0 billion. Amounts available under the CP Program may be re-borrowed. The CP
Program is supported by the Company’s 2007 Facility. The maturities of the CP Notes will vary, but may not exceed 397 days
from the date of issue. The CP Notes are sold at a discount from par or, alternatively, sold at par and bear interest at rates that will
vary based upon market conditions at the time of issuance. The rates of interest will depend on whether the CP Notes will be a
fixed or floating rate. The interest on a floating rate may be based on the following: (a) certificate of deposit rate; (b) commercial
paper rate; (c) the federal funds rate; (d) the LIBOR; (e) prime rate; (f) treasury rate; or (g) such other base rate as may be
specified in a supplement to the private placement agreement. The weighted average interest rate on CP borrowings outstanding
was 2.08% and 5.13% as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The CP Program contains certain events of default
including, among other things: non-payment of principal, interest or fees; violation of covenants; invalidity of any loan document;
material judgments; and bankruptcy and insolvency events, subject in certain instances to cure periods.

Notes Payable

On September 7, 2007, the Company issued and sold through a private placement transaction, $300.0 million aggregate principal
amount of its 6.06% Series 2007-1 Senior Unsecured Notes due 2017 pursuant to the 2007 Agreement. The Series 2007-1 Notes
have a ten-year term and bear interest at an annual rate of 6.06%, payable semi-annually on March 7 and September 7 of each
year. Under the terms of the 2007 Agreement, the Company may, from time to time within five years, in its sole discretion, issue
additional series of senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of up to $500.0 million pursuant to one or more supplements to
the 2007 Agreement. The Company may prepay the Series 2007-1 Notes, in whole or in part, at any time at a price equal to 100%
of the principal amount being prepaid, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a Make Whole Amount. The 2007 Agreement
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contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company, and certain of its subsidiaries to, among other things: enter into
transactions with affiliates, dispose of assets, incur or create liens, enter into any sale-leaseback transactions, or merge with any
other corporation or convey, transfer or lease substantially all of its assets. The Company must also not permit its Debt/EBITDA
ratio to exceed 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of any fiscal quarter.

On September 30, 2005, the Company issued and sold through a private placement transaction, $300.0 million aggregate
principal amount of its Series 2005-1 Senior Unsecured Notes pursuant to the 2005 Agreement. The Series 2005-1 Notes have a
ten-year term and bear interest at an annual rate of 4.98%, payable semi-annually on March 30 and September 30. The proceeds
from the sale of the Series 2005-1 Notes were used to refinance $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Company’s
outstanding 7.61% senior notes which matured on September 30, 2005. In the event that Moody’s pays all, or part, of the Series
2005-1 Notes in advance of their maturity, such prepayment will be subject to a Make Whole Amount. The Series 2005-1 Notes
are subject to certain covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, without
the approval of the lenders, to engage in mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback
transactions or to incur liens, as defined in the related agreements.

2008 Term Loan

On May 7, 2008, Moody’s entered into a five-year, $150.0 million senior unsecured term loan with several lenders. Proceeds from
the loan were used to pay off a portion of the CP outstanding. Interest on borrowings under the 2008 Term Loan is payable
quarterly at rates that are based on LIBOR plus a margin that can range from 125 basis points to 175 basis points depending on
the Company’s Debt/EBITDA ratio. The outstanding borrowings shall amortize beginning in 2010 in accordance with the schedule
of payments set forth in the 2008 Term Loan outlined in the table below.

The 2008 Term Loan contains restrictive covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of the Company to engage, or to
permit its subsidiaries to engage in mergers, consolidations, asset sales, transactions with affiliates and sale-leaseback
transactions or to incur, or permit its subsidiaries to incur, liens, in each case, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. The
2008 Term Loan also limits the amount of debt that subsidiaries of the Company may incur. In addition, the 2008 Term Loan
contains a financial covenant that requires the Company to maintain a Debt/EBITDA ratio of not more than 4.0 to 1.0 at the end of
any fiscal quarter.

The principal payments due on the 2008 Term Loan through its maturity are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

2010 $ 3.8
2011 11.3
2012 71.2
2013 63.7
Total $ 150.0

Also on May 7, 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $150.0 million to protect
against fluctuations in the LIBOR-based variable interest rate on the 2008 Term Loan. Fair market value adjustments are recorded
into other comprehensive income at the end of each period, while net interest payments are recorded in the statement of
operations. At December 31, 2008, the fair value of the interest rate swap was $10.7 million and is recorded in other liabilities in
the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
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INTEREST (EXPENSE) INCOME, NET
The following table summarizes the components of interest as presented in the consolidated statements of operations:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
Income $ 181 $ 193 $ 18.2
Expense on borrowings (60.0) (40.7) (15.2)
FIN 48 and other tax related interest (23.7) (21.5) —
Reversal of accrued interest (a) 2.3 175 —
Interest capitalized 1.1 1.1 —
Total $ (522) $ (243) $ 3.0
Interest paid $ 505 § 325 $ 14.9

(@) Represents a reduction of accrued interest related to the favorable resolution of Legacy Tax Matters, further discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

At December 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with all covenants contained within all of the debt agreements. In
addition to the covenants described above, the 2007 Facility, the 2005 Agreement, the 2007 Agreement and the 2008 Term Loan
contain cross default provisions whereby default under one of the aforementioned debt instruments could in turn permit lenders
under other debt instruments to declare borrowings outstanding under those instruments to be immediately due and payable.

NOTE 15 CAPITAL STOCK

Authorized Capital Stock

The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Company has authority to issue under its Restated Certificate of
Incorporation is 1.02 billion shares with a par value of $0.01, of which 1.0 billion are shares of common stock, 10.0 million are
shares of preferred stock and 10.0 million are shares of series common stock. The preferred stock and series common stock can
be issued with varying terms, as determined by the Board.

Rights Agreement

The Company had a rights agreement, which expired as of June 30, 2008 and was not renewed. The rights agreement was
designed to protect its shareholders in the event of unsolicited offers to acquire the Company and coercive takeover tactics that, in
the opinion of the Board, could impair its ability to represent shareholder interests.

Share Repurchase Program

The Company implemented a systematic share repurchase program in the third quarter of 2005 through an SEC Rule 10b5-1
program. Moody’s may also purchase opportunistically when conditions warrant. On June 5, 2006, the Board authorized a $2.0
billion share repurchase program, which the Company completed during January 2008. On July 30, 2007, the Board of the
Company authorized an additional $2.0 billion share repurchase program, which the Company began utilizing in January 2008
after completing the June 2006 authorization. There is no established expiration date for the remaining authorization. The
Company’s intent is to return capital to shareholders in a way that serves their long-term interests. As a result, Moody’s share
repurchase activity will continue to vary from quarter to quarter.

During 2008, Moody’s repurchased 18.2 million shares of its common stock, at an aggregate cost of approximately $593 million,
and issued 2.2 million shares under employee stock-based compensation plans.

Dividends

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company paid a quarterly dividend of $0.10, $0.08 and $0.07 per share of Moody’s common
stock in each of the quarters, resulting in dividends paid per share during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 of
$0.40, $0.32 and $0.28, respectively.

On December 16, 2008, the Board of the Company approved the declaration of a quarterly dividend of $0.10 per share of Moody’s
common stock, payable on March 10, 2009 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 20, 2009. The
continued payment of dividends at the rate noted above, or at all, is subject to the discretion of the Board.
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NOTE 16 LEASE COMMITMENTS

Moody'’s operates its business from various leased facilities, which are under operating leases that expire over the next 19 years.
Moody'’s also leases certain computer and other equipment under operating and capital leases that expire over the next five
years. Rent expense, including lease incentives, is amortized on a straight-line basis over the related lease term. Rent and
amortization expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $64.4 million, $65.8
million and $27.9 million, respectively. The amount of deferred rent that is included in the other liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets is $67.1 million and $60.5 million, at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company has $5.5 million
and $6.8 million of computer equipment subject to capital lease obligations at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, with
accumulated amortization of $2.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively.

The approximate minimum rent for leases that have remaining or original noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year at
December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Capital Operating
Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases
2009 $ 1.4 $ 60.3
2010 13 52.1
2011 — 49.1
2012 — 50.3
2013 — 50.4
Thereafter — 667.0
Total minimum lease payments $ 2.7 $ 929.2
Less: amount representing interest (0.1)
Present value of net minimum lease payments under capital leases $ 2.6

On October 20, 2006, the Company entered into a 21-year operating lease agreement to occupy 15 floors of an office building at
7WTC. On March 28, 2007 the 7WTC lease agreement was amended for the Company to lease an additional two floors for a term
of 20 years. The total base rent, including rent credits, for the 7WTC lease is approximately $642 million.

On February 6, 2008, the Company entered into a 17.5 year operating lease agreement to occupy six floors of an office tower
located in the Canary Wharf section of London, England. The total base rent of the Canary Wharf Lease over its 17.5-year term is
approximately 134 million GBPs, and the Company will begin making base rent payments in 2011. In addition to the base rent
payments the Company will be obligated to pay certain customary amounts for its share of operating expenses and tax obligation.
The Company expects to incur approximately 41 million GBP of costs to build out the floors to its specifications of which,
approximately 33 million GBPs is expected to be incurred over the next twelve months.

NOTE 17 CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, Moody’s is involved in legal and tax proceedings, governmental investigations, claims and litigation that are
incidental to the Company’s business, including claims based on ratings assigned by MIS. Moody'’s is also subject to ongoing tax
audits in the normal course of business. Management periodically assesses the Company’s liabilities and contingencies in
connection with these matters based upon the latest information available. Moody’s discloses material pending legal proceedings
pursuant to SEC rules and other pending matters as it may determine to be appropriate.

As a result of recent events in the U.S. subprime residential mortgage sector and the credit markets more broadly, various
legislative, regulatory and enforcement entities around the world are investigating or evaluating the role of rating agencies in the
U.S. subprime mortgage-backed securitization market and structured finance markets more generally. Moody’s has received
subpoenas and inquiries from states attorneys general and other governmental authorities and is cooperating with such
investigations and inquiries. Moody’s is also cooperating with a review by the SEC relating to errors in the model used by MIS to
rate certain constant-proportion debt obligations. In addition, the Company is facing market participant litigation relating to the
performance
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of MIS rated securities. Although Moody'’s in the normal course experiences such litigation, the volume and cost of defending such
litigation has significantly increased in the current economic environment.

On June 27, 2008, the Brockton Contributory Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a
purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and certain senior officers, and the
Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The plaintiff asserts various
causes of action relating to the named defendants’ oversight of MIS’s ratings of RMBS and constant-proportion debt obligations,
and their participation in the alleged public dissemination of false and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or
a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent the alleged wrongdoing. The plaintiff seeks compensatory
damages, restitution, disgorgement of profits and other equitable relief. On July 2, 2008, Thomas R. Flynn, a purported
shareholder of the Company’s securities, filed a similar purported shareholder derivative complaint on behalf of the Company
against its directors and certain senior officers, and the Company as nominal defendant, in the Supreme Court of the State of New
York, County of New York, asserting similar claims and seeking the same relief. The cases have been consolidated and plaintiffs
filed an amended consolidated complaint in November 2008. The Company removed the consolidated action to the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York in December 2008. In January 2009, the plaintiffs moved to remand the case to
the Supreme Court of the State of New York. The Company will oppose remand and expects to move to dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint upon resolution of the remand motion. On October 30, 2008, the Louisiana Municipal Police Employees
Retirement System, a purported shareholder of the Company’s securities, also filed a shareholder derivative complaint on behalf
of the Company against its directors and certain officers, and the Company as a nominal defendant, in the U.S. District Court for
the Southern District of New York. This complaint too asserts various causes of action relating to the Company’s ratings of RMBS,
CDO and constant-proportion debt obligations, and named defendants’ participation in the alleged public dissemination of false
and misleading information about MIS’s ratings practices and/or a failure to implement internal procedures and controls to prevent
the alleged wrongdoing. On December 9, 2008, Rena Nadoff, a purported shareholder of the company, filed a shareholder
derivative complaint on behalf of the Company against its directors and its CEO, and the company as a nominal defendant, in the
Supreme Court of the State of New York. The complaint asserts a claim for breach of fiduciary duty in connection with alleged
overrating of asset-backed securities and underrating of municipal securities.

Two purported class action complaints have been filed by purported purchasers of the Company’s securities against the Company
and certain of its senior officers, asserting claims under the federal securities laws. The first was filed by Raphael Nach in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois on July 19, 2007. The second was filed by Teamsters Local 282 Pension Trust
Fund in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York on September 26, 2007. Both actions have been consolidated
into a single proceeding entitled In re Moody’s Corporation Securities Litigation in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York. On June 27, 2008, a consolidated amended complaint was filed, purportedly on behalf of all purchasers of the
Company'’s securities during the period February 3, 2006 through October 24, 2007. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants issued
false and/or misleading statements concerning the Company’s business conduct, business prospects, business conditions and
financial results relating primarily to MIS’s ratings of structured finance products including RMBS, CDO and constant-proportion
debt obligations. The plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of compensatory damages and their reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in connection with the case. The Company moved for dismissal of the consolidated amended complaint in September
2008. On February 23, 2009, the court issued an opinion dismissing certain claims, sustaining others and granting plaintiffs leave
to amend their complaint by March 18, 2009.

For claims, litigation and proceedings not related to income taxes, where it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company has recorded liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and periodically adjusts these as appropriate. In other instances, because of uncertainties related to the probable outcome and/or
the amount or range of loss, management does not record a liability but discloses the contingency if significant. As additional
information becomes available, the Company adjusts its assessments and estimates of such matters accordingly. For income tax
matters, the Company employs the prescribed methodology of FIN 48 implemented as of January 1, 2007 which requires a
company to first determine whether it is more-likely-than-not (defined as a likelihood of more than fifty percent) that a tax position
will be sustained based on its technical merits as of the reporting date, assuming that taxing authorities will examine the position
and have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets this more-likely-than-not threshold is then measured
and recognized at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely to be realized upon effective settlement with
a taxing authority.

The Company cannot predict the ultimate impact that any of the legislative, regulatory, enforcement or litigation matters may have
on how its business is conducted and thus its competitive position, financial position or results of operations. Based on its
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review of the latest information available, in the opinion of management, the ultimate monetary liability of the Company for the
pending matters referred to above (other than the Legacy Tax Matters that are discussed below) is not likely to have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, although it is possible that the effect could be material to the
Company'’s consolidated results of operations for an individual reporting period.

Legacy Tax Matters
Moody'’s continues to have exposure to certain Legacy Tax Matters. The following description of the relationships among Moody's,
New D&B and their predecessor entities is important in understanding the Legacy Tax Matters.

In November 1996, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation separated into three separate public companies: The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporation, ACNielsen Corporation and Cognizant Corporation. In June 1998, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation separated into
two separate public companies: Old D&B and R.H. Donnelley Corporation. During 1998, Cognizant separated into two separate
public companies: IMS Health Incorporated and Nielsen Media Research, Inc. In September 2000, Old D&B separated into two
separate public companies: New D&B and Moody'’s, as further described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Old D&B and its predecessors entered into global tax planning initiatives in the normal course of business. These initiatives are
subject to normal review by tax authorities. Old D&B and its predecessors also entered into a series of agreements covering the
sharing of any liabilities for payment of taxes, penalties and interest resulting from unfavorable IRS determinations on certain tax
matters, and certain other potential tax liabilities, all as described in such agreements. Further, in connection with the 2000
Distribution and pursuant to the terms of the 2000 Distribution Agreement, New D&B and Moody’s have agreed on the financial
responsibility for any potential liabilities related to Legacy Tax Matters.

Settlement agreements were executed with the IRS in 2005 regarding Legacy Tax Matters for the years 1989-1990 and 1993-
1996. As of December 31, 2008, the Company continues to carry a liability of $1.8 million with respect to these matters. With
respect to these settlement agreements, Moody’s and New D&B believe that IMS Health and NMR did not pay their full share of
the liability to the IRS pursuant to the terms of the applicable separation agreements among the parties. Moody’s and New D&B
paid these amounts to the IRS on their behalf, and attempted to resolve this dispute with IMS Health and NMR. As a result,
Moody’s and New D&B commenced arbitration proceedings against IMS Health and NMR in connection with the 1989-1990
matter. This matter was resolved during the third quarter of 2008 in favor of Moody’s and New D&B, resulting in IMS Health and
NMR having paid a total of $6.7 million to Moody’s. Moody’s and New D&B may also commence an arbitration proceeding to
collect amounts owed by IMS Health and NMR with respect to the 1993-1996 matter. Moody’s cannot predict the outcome of this
matter with any certainty.

Amortization Expense Deductions

This Legacy Tax Matter, which was affected by developments in June 2007 and 2008 as further described below, involves a
partnership transaction which resulted in amortization expense deductions on the tax returns of Old D&B since 1997. IRS audits of
Old D&B'’s and New D&B'’s tax returns for the years 1997 through 2002 concluded in June 2007 without any disallowance of the
amortization expense deductions, or any other adjustments to income related to this partnership transaction. These audits
resulted in the IRS issuing the Notices for other tax issues for the 1997-2000 years aggregating $9.5 million in tax and penalties,
plus statutory interest of approximately $6 million, which should be apportioned among Moody’s, New D&B, IMS Health and NMR
pursuant to the terms of the applicable separation agreements. Moody'’s share of this assessment was $6.6 million including
interest, net of tax. In November 2007, the IRS assessed the tax and penalties and used a portion of the deposit discussed below
to satisfy the assessment, together with interest. The Company believes it has meritorious grounds to challenge the IRS’s actions
and is evaluating its alternatives to recover these amounts. The absence of any tax deficiencies in the Notices for the amortization
expense deductions for the years 1997 through 2002, combined with the expiration of the statute of limitations for 1997 through
2002, for issues not assessed, resulted in Moody’s recording an earnings benefit of $52.3 million in the second quarter of 2007.
This is comprised of two components, as follows: (i) a reversal of a tax liability of $27.3 million related to the period from 1997
through the Distribution Date, reducing the provision for income taxes; and (ii) a reduction of accrued interest expense of $17.5
million ($10.6 million, net of tax) and an increase in other non-operating income of $14.4 million, relating to amounts due to New
D&B. In June 2008, the statute of limitations for New D&B relating to the 2003 tax year expired. As a result, in the second quarter
of 2008, Moody'’s recorded a reduction of accrued interest expense of $2.3 million ($1.4 million, net of tax) and an increase in
other non-operating income of $6.4 million, relating to amounts due to New D&B.

On the Distribution Date, New D&B paid Moody’s $55.0 million for 50% of certain anticipated future tax benefits of New D&B
through 2012. It is possible that IRS audits of New D&B for tax years after 2003 could result in income adjustments with respect
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to the amortization expense deductions of this partnership transaction. In the event these tax benefits are not claimed or otherwise
not realized by New D&B, or there is an audit adjustment, Moody’s would be required, pursuant to the terms of the 2000
Distribution Agreement, to repay to New D&B an amount equal to the discounted value of its share of the related future tax
benefits and its share of any tax liability that New D&B incurs. As of December 31, 2008, Moody'’s liability with respect to this
matter totaled $48.7 million.

In March 2006, New D&B and Moody’s each deposited $39.8 million with the IRS in order to stop the accrual of statutory interest
on potential tax deficiencies with respect to the 1997 through 2002 tax years. In July 2007, New D&B and Moody’s commenced
procedures to recover approximately $57 million of these deposits ($24.6 million for New D&B and $31.9 million for Moody'’s),
which represents the excess of the original deposits over the total of the deficiencies asserted in the Notices. As noted above, in
November 2007 the IRS used $7.9 million of Moody'’s portion of the deposit to satisfy an assessment and related interest.
Additionally, in the first quarter of 2008 the IRS returned to Moody’s $33.1 million in connection with this matter, which includes
$3.0 million of interest. In July 2008, the IRS paid Moody'’s the remaining $1.8 million balance of the original deposit, and in
September 2008 the IRS paid Moody’s $0.2 million of interest on that balance.

At December 31, 2008, Moody'’s has recorded liabilities for Legacy Tax Matters totaling $51.5 million. This includes liabilities and
accrued interest due to New D&B arising from the 2000 Distribution Agreement. It is possible that the ultimate liability for Legacy
Tax Matters could be greater than the liabilities recorded by the Company, which could result in additional charges that may be
material to Moody’s future reported results, financial position and cash flows.

NOTE 18 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Beginning in January 2008, Moody’s segments were changed to reflect the business Reorganization announced in August 2007.
As a result of the Reorganization, the rating agency is reported in the MIS segment and several ratings business lines have been
realigned. All of Moody’s other non-rating commercial activities, including MKMV and sales of research produced by MIS analysts
and the production and sales of other products and services, are reported in the MA segment. As a result, the Company operates
in two new reportable segments in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information”, beginning in January 2008.

Revenue for MIS and expenses for MA include an intersegment royalty charged to MA for the rights to use and distribute content,
data and products developed by MIS. Additionally, overhead costs and corporate expenses of the Company, all of which were
previously included in the former MIS segment, are allocated to each new segment based on a revenue-split methodology.
Overhead expenses include costs such as rent and occupancy, information technology and support staff such as finance, human
resource, information technology and legal. “Eliminations” in the table below represents intersegment royalty revenue/expense.
Below is financial information by segment, MIS revenue by business unit and consolidated revenue by geographic area and total
assets by segment. The effects of the change in the composition of reportable segments have been reflected throughout the
accompanying financial statements.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY SEGMENT:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007
MIS MA  Eliminations Consolidated MIS MA  Eliminations Consolidated
Revenue $ 12683 $ 5507 $ (636) $ 17554 $ 18354 $ 479.1 $ (55.5) $ 2,259.0
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A 636.0 362.2 (63.6) 934.6 759.4 331.2 (55.5) 1,035.1
Restructuring (1.6) (0.9 — (2.5) 41.3 8.7 — 50.0
Depreciation and
amortization 33.3 41.8 — 75.1 24.0 18.9 — 42.9
Total 667.7 403.1 (63.6) 1,007.2 824.7 358.8 (55.5) 1,128.0
Operating income $ 6006 $ 1476 $ — 3 748.2 $ 1,010.7 $ 1203 $ — $ 1,131.0
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006
Eliminations/
MIS MA Corporate Items Consolidated
Revenue $ 1,685.6 $ 397.3 $ (458) $ 2,037.1
Expenses:
Operating and SG&A 666.1 278.4 (45.8) 898.7
Gain on sale of building — — (160.6) (160.6)
Depreciation and amortization 17.3 22.2 — 39.5
Total 683.4 300.6 (206.4) 777.6
Operating income $ 1,002.2 $ 96.7 $ 160.6 $ 1,259.5

MIS AND MA REVENUE BY LINE OF BUSINESS

As part of the Reorganization there were several realignments within the MIS LOB as follows: Sovereign and sub-sovereign
ratings, which were previously part of financial institutions; infrastructure/utilities ratings, which were previously part of CFG; and
project finance, which was previously part of structured finance, were combined with the public finance business to form a new
LOB called public, project and infrastructure finance or PPIF. In addition, real estate investment trust ratings were moved from FIG
and CFG to the SFG business. Furthermore, in August 2008, the global managed investments ratings group which was previously
part of SFG, was moved to the FIG business.

Within MA, various aspects of the legacy MIS research business and MKMV business were combined to form the subscriptions,
software and consulting LOB. The subscriptions business includes credit and economic research, data and analytical models that
are sold on a subscription basis; the software business includes license and maintenance fees for credit risk software products;
and the consulting business includes professional services associated with risk modeling, credit scorecard development, and
other specialized analytical projects, as well as credit education services that are typically sold on a per-engagement basis.
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The tables below present revenue by LOB within each new segment and the related intra-segment realignment:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
MIS:
Structured finance $ 411.2 $ 873.3 $ 872.6
Corporate finance 300.5 411.5 335.9
Financial institutions 263.0 274.3 233.1
Public, project and infrastructure finance 230.0 220.8 198.2
Total external revenue 1,204.7 1,779.9 1,639.8
Intersegment royalty 63.6 55.5 45.8
Total 1,268.3 1,835.4 1,685.6
MA:
Subscriptions 475.9 421.5 347.5
Software 49.2 39.5 36.3
Consulting 25.6 18.1 13.5
Total 550.7 479.1 397.3
Eliminations (63.6) (55.5) (45.8)
Total MCO $ 1,755.4 $ 2,259.0 $ 2,037.1
CONSOLIDATED REVENUE INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2008 2007 2006
Revenue:
u.s. $ 910.1 $1,361.8 $1,277.8
International:
EMEA 603.1 659.3 543.9
Other 242.2 237.9 215.4
Total International 845.3 897.2 759.3
Total $1,755.4 $2,259.0 $2,037.1
Long-lived assets at December 31:
United States $ 4564 $ 4146 $ 283.6
International 243.3 37.1 22.0
Total $ 699.7 $ 4517 $ 305.6
TOTAL ASSETS BY SEGMENT
DECEMBER 31, 2008 DECEMBER 31, 2007
Corporate Corporate
MIS MA  Assets (a) Consolidated MIS MA  Assets (a) Consolidated
Total Assets $ 392.4 6925 688.5 $ 17734 $ 548.9 376.7 789.0 $ 1,714.6

(@) Represents common assets that are shared between each segment or utilized by the corporate entity. Such assets primarily include cash and cash equivalents, short-
term investments, unallocated property and equipment and deferred tax assets.
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NOTE 19 VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Accounts receivable allowances primarily represent adjustments to customer billings that are estimated when the related revenue
is recognized. Below is a summary of activity:

Balance at Write- offs Balance

Beginning and at End of
Year Ended December 31, of the Year Additions Adjustments the Year
2008 $  (16.2) (39.6) 3.9 $ (23.9)
2007 $  (14.5) (39.3) 376 $ (16.2)
2006 $  (12.7) (34.9) 331 $ (14.5)

NOTE 20 OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

The following table summarizes the components of other non-operating income (expense) as presented in the consolidated
statements of operations:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2008 2007 2006
FX gain/(loss) $ 247 $ 02 $ —
Legacy Tax (see Note 17) 11.0 14.4 —
Joint venture income 3.9 2.2 14
Minority Interest (4.0) (5.3) (3.4)
Other (5.8) (1.5) —

Total $ 298 $ 10.0 $ (2.0

NOTE 21 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Moody’s Corporation made grants of $6.0 million to The Moody’s Foundation (the “Foundation”) in 2006. No grants were made
during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. The Foundation carries out philanthropic activities primarily in the areas of
education and health and human services. Certain members of Moody’s senior management are on the Board of the Foundation.
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NOTE 22 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

(amounts in millions, except EPS)

THREE MONTHS ENDED

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2008
Revenue $ 4307 $ 4876 $ 4334 % 403.7
Operating income $ 1993 $ 2337 $ 189.8 $ 125.4
Net income $ 1207 $ 1352 $ 1130 $ 88.7
EPS:
Basic $ 049 $ 055 $ 047 $ 0.38
Diluted $ 048 $ 054 % 046 $ 0.37
2007
Revenue $ 5830 $ 646.1 $ 525.0 $ 504.9
Operating income $ 3047 $ 3637 $ 2505 $ 212.1
Net income $ 1754 $ 2619 $ 1369 $ 127.3
EPS:
Basic $ 063 $ 097 $ 052 $ 0.50
Diluted $ 062 $ 09 % 051 $ 0.49

Basic and diluted EPS are computed for each of the periods presented. The number of weighted average shares outstanding
changes as common shares are issued pursuant to employee stock plans and for other purposes or as shares are repurchased.
Therefore, the sum of basic and diluted EPS for each of the four quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted EPS.

The quarterly financial data includes a $7.8 million, $2.9 million and $52.3 million benefit to net income related to the resolution of
Legacy Tax Matters for the three months ended June 30, 2008, September 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007, respectively. There was
a $47.8 million pre-tax restructuring charge for the three months ended December 31, 2007.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On or about February 28, 2008, the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company and the Profit Participation
Plan of Moody’s Corporation was changed from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to KPMG LLP. Information regarding this change in
the independent registered public accounting firm was disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 5, 2008. There
were no disagreements or any reportable events requiring disclosure under Item 304(b) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company carried out an evaluation, as required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures,
as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report (the “Evaluation Date”).
Based on such evaluation, such officers have concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC'’s rules and forms and to provide reasonable assurance that such information is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reportin g
Information in response to this Item is set forth under the caption “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting”, in Part Il, Item 8 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

In addition, the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
determined that there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, these internal controls over financial reporting during the period covered by this report.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Except for the information relating to the executive officers of the Company set forth in Part | of this annual report on Form 10-K,
the information called for by Items 10-13 is contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for use in connection with its
annual meeting of stockholders scheduled to be held on April 28, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The Audit Committee has established a policy setting forth the requirements for the pre-approval of audit and permissible non-
audit services to be provided by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. Under the policy, the Audit
Committee pre-approves the annual audit engagement terms and fees, as well as any other audit services and specified
categories of non-audit services, subject to certain pre-approved fee levels. In addition, pursuant to the policy, the Audit
Committee has authorized its chair to pre-approve other audit and permissible non-audit services up to $50,000 per engagement
and a maximum of $250,000 per year. The policy requires that the Audit Committee chair report any pre-approval decisions to the
full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the Audit Committee approved all of
the services provided by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, which are described below.

AUDIT FEES

The aggregate fees for professional services rendered for (i) the integrated audit of the Company’s annual financial statements for
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, (ii) the review of the financial statements included in the Company’s Reports on
Forms 10-Q and 8-K, and (iii) statutory audits of non-U.S. subsidiaries, were approximately $1.8 million and $2.6 million in 2008
and 2007, respectively. These fees included amounts accrued but not billed of $0.9 million and $0.2 million in 2008 and 2007,
respectively. All 2008 fees were attributable to KPMG LLP and all 2007 fees were attributable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

AUDIT-RELATED FEES

The aggregate fees billed for audit-related services rendered to the Company were approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Such services included employee benefit plan audits and
consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards. All 2008 fees were attributable to KPMG LLP and all 2007
fees were attributable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

TAX FEES

The aggregate fees for professional services rendered for tax services rendered by the auditors for the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007 were $0 and $0, respectively.

ALL OTHER FEES

The aggregate fees billed for all other services rendered to the Company by KPMG LLP for the year ended December 31, 2008
was $0.3 million primarily relating to accounting and payroll services prior to their appointment as independent auditors and
$6,000 by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the year ended December 31, 2007 principally related to accounting research
software.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
LIST OF DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS REPORT.

(1) Financial Statements.
See Index to Financial Statements on page 55, in Part Il. Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
None.

(3) Exhibits.
See Index to Exhibits on pages 101-106 of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MOODY’S CORPORATION
(Registrant)
By: /s RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.,
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

/s/ JOSEPH MCCABE

Joseph McCabe,
Senior Vice President—Corporate
Controller (principal accounting officer)

/s/ BASIL L. ANDERSON /sl HENRY A. MCKINNELL, JR.
Basil L. Anderson, Henry A. McKinnell, Jr. Ph.D.,
Director Director

/sl ROBERT R. GLAUBER /s NANCY S. NEWCOMB
Robert R. Glauber, Nancy S. Newcomb,

Director Director

/sl EWALD KIST /s/ JOHN K. WULFF

Ewald Kist, John K. Wulff,

Director Director

/s/ CONNIE MACK /s/ DARRELL DUFFIE
Connie Mack, Darrell Duffie,

Director Director

Date: February 27, 2009
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

S-K EXHIBIT NUMBER
3

10

Articles Of Incorporation And By  -laws

A

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant dated June 15, 1998, as amended
effective June 30, 1998, as amended effective October 1, 2000, and as further amended
effective April 26, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of
the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed October 4, 2000, and Exhibit 3.1 to the Report on
Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed April 27, 2005)

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to
the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed February 25, 2008)

Instruments Defining The Rights Of Security Holders , Including Indentures

A

Specimen Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report
on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed October 4, 2000)

Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 30, 2005, by and among Moody’s Corporation
and the Note Purchasers party thereto, including the form of the 4.98% Series 2005-1 Senior
Unsecured Note due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Report on Form 8-
K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed October 5, 2005).

Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 7, 2007, by and among Moody’s Corporation
and the Note Purchasers party thereto, including the form of the Series 2007-1 Note
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant file
number 1-14037, filed September 13, 2007)

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2007, among Moody’s Corporation,
the Borrowing Subsidiaries Party Hereto, the Lenders Party Hereto, Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Documentation Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Report
on Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed October 4, 2007)

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated as of May 7, 2008, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent, Bank of China and Fifth Third Bank, as co-syndication agents, Barclays
Commercial Bank, as documentation agent, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. and
Commerce Bank, N.A., as co-agents, J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., as lead arranger and
bookrunner, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed May 8, 2008)

Material Contracts

A

Distribution Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between the Registrant and The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed
October 4, 2000)
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S-K EXHIBIT NUMBER

102

5t

6*t

Tt

8t

9*t

A0t

A1t

A2

137

14

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between the Registrant and The
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed
October 4, 2000)

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2000, between the Registrant and
The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037,
filed October 4, 2000)

Intellectual Property Assignments, dated as of September 1, 2000, between the Registrant
and The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (f.k.a. The New D&B Corporation) (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037,
filed October 4, 2000)

Profit Participation Benefit Equalization Plan of Moody’s Corporation (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-
14037, filed November 14, 2000)

The Moody’s Corporation Nonfunded Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee
Directors (as amended December 16, 2008)

1998 Moody’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Non-Employee Directors Holding
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit to
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1- 14037, filed November 14, 2000)

1998 Moody'’s Corporation Replacement Plan for Certain Employees Holding Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation Equity-Based Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed November 14, 2000)

1998 Moody’s Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and
restated on April 23, 2001; amended October 23, 2006 and December 15, 2008)

1998 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.16 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed
November 14, 2000).

Moody’s Corporation Career Transition Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, file number 1-14037, filed March 15, 2001)

Distribution Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 1998)

Moody’s Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2008

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant file
number 1-14037, filed October 26, 2007)

Form of separation agreement and general release used by the Company in connection with
its Career Transition Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed
November 20, 2007)
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S-K EXHIBIT NUMBER

15

.16

A7

.18

19

21

22

.23

24

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between Moody’s Corporation and Goldman, Sachs &
Co., dated as of October 3, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on
Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed October 9, 2007)

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between Moody’s Corporation and Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated, dated as of October 3, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed October 9, 2007)

Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between Moody’s Corporation and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., dated as of October 3, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed October 9, 2007)

Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement dated as of September 28, 2007, between Moody’s
Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed
November 2, 2007)

Form of Assumption Agreement among Moody’s Corporation, JP Morgan Chase Bank as
Administrative Agent, and each lender signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed May 3, 2007)**

.20*t Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan

(amended December 15, 2008)

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’'s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 1998)

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1998, between R.H. Donnelley
Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) and the Registrant (f.k.a. The New
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 1998)

Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(x) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H.
Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996 file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997)

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley Corporation
(f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of R.H.
Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996 file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997)
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327

.33t

.34

.35

Employee Benefits Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1996, among R.H. Donnelley
Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation), Cognizant Corporation and ACNielsen
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
R.H. Donnelley Corporation (f.k.a. The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) for the year ended
December 31, 1996, file number 1-7155, filed March 27, 1997)

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 10,
2002, by and among Moody’s Corporation, XYZ Acquisition LLC, KMV LLC, KMV
Corporation and the principal members of KMV LLC and the shareholders of KMV
Corporation identified therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Report on Form
8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed February 22, 2002)

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2000, among the Registrant and the
purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Report on Form
10-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed March 21, 2003)

Form of 7.61% Senior Notes due 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Report on Form 10-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed March 21, 2003)

Form of Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option and Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for the
Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s Corporation Key Employees’ Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrant, file
number 1-14037, filed November 3, 2004)

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for the 1998 Moody’s
Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (as amended on April 23, 2001)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrant, file
number 1-14037, filed November 3, 2004)

2004 Moody’s Corporation Covered Employee Cash Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the Registrant, file number 1-14037,
filed November 3, 2004)

Description of Bonus Terms under the 2004 Moody’s Corporation Covered Employee Cash
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Report on Form 10-Q of the
Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed November 3, 2004)

Director Compensation Arrangements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report
on Form 10-Q of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed May 2, 2006)

Agreement of Lease, dated as of September 7, 2006, between the Registrant and 7 World
Trade Center, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 10-Q of
the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed November 2, 2006)

Agreement for Lease dated February 6, 2008, among CWCB Properties (DS7) Limited,
CWCB Properties (DS7) Limited, Canary Wharf Holdings Limited, Moody’s Investors Service
Limited, and Moody’s Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on
Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed February 12, 2008)
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44

45

Storage Agreement for Lease dated February 6, 2008 among Canary Wharf (Car Parks)
Limited, Canary Wharf Holdings Limited, Canary Wharf Management Limited, Moody’s
Investors Service Limited, and Moody’s Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed number 1-14037, filed February 12,
2008)

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2006, between Moody’s Holdings,
Inc. and 99 Church Investors LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Report on
Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed November 22, 2006)

Moody’s Corporation 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated
December 15, 2008) (formerly, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation 1999 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan)

Supplemental Executive Benefit Plan of Moody’s Corporation, amended and restated as of
January 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, File number 1-14037, Filed February, 29, 2008)

Pension Benefit Equalization Plan of Moody’s Corporation, amended and restated as of
January 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, File number 1-14037, Filed February, 29, 2008)

Moody’s Corporation Retirement Account, amended and restated as of January 1, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
File number 1-14037, Filed February, 29, 2008)

Profit Participation Plan of Moody’s Corporation, amended and restated as of January 1,
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form
10-K, File number 1-14037, Filed February, 29, 2008)

Agreement of Lease between Moody'’s Investors Service Limited and CWCB Properties
(DS7) Limited, dated February 6, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed February 12, 2008).

Storage Agreement for Lease between Moody'’s Investors Service Limited and Canary Wharf
(Car Parks) Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of
the Registrant, file number 1-14037, filed February 12, 2008)

Moody’s Corporation Career Transition Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, file number 1-14037, filed May 8, 2008)

.46*t Moody’s Corporation Cafeteria Plan, effective January 1, 2008
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A7  Separation Agreement and general release between the Company and Jeanne Dering, dated
February 20, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant’'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, File number 1-14037, Filed February 29, 2008)

.48  Separation Agreement and general release between the Company and Brian M. Clarkson,
dated May 7, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, File number 1-14037, Filed August 4, 2008)

LETTER REGARDING CHANGE IN CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

A Letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, dated March 5, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 16.1 to the Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant file number 1-14037, filed February
12, 2008)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT List of Active Subsi diaries as of December 31, 2008

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMS

.1*  Consent of KPMG LLP

.2*  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBA NES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

.1*  Chief Executive Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

.2*  Chief Financial Officer Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBA NES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

.1*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (The Company has furnished this certification and does not
intend for it to be considered filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated
by reference into future filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934)

.2*  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (The Company has furnished this certification and does not
intend for it to be considered filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or incorporated
by reference into future filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934)

Filed herewith

As permitted under the Company’s Credit Agreement dated as of September 1, 2004, the Company increased the aggregate amount of the Facility’s commitment from
$160 million to $500 million by entering into assumption agreements with the several lenders. In accordance with Instruction 2 to Item 601 of Regulation S-K, the
Company has filed only one such assumption agreement as the other agreements are substantially identical in all material respects except as to the parties thereto, the
dates of execution and the amount of the assumed commitment of each respective lender, all of which are detailed in the Schedule to Exhibit 10.1.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Exhibit 10.6

THE MOODY'S CORPORATION
NONFUNDED DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
FOR NONEMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

(as amended December 16, 2008)

1. Members of the Board of Directors (“Directorsf)the Company who are not employees of the Compamyy of its subsidiaries
(“Nonemployee Directors”) may elect on or beforecBrmber 31 of any year to have payment of all grezigied part of all fees payable to
them for their services as Directors (includingsfeayable to them for services as members of a dbeenof the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”)) during the calendar yealdoi@ing such election and succeeding calendar yadefiesred until they separate from
service as Directors of the Company as determiniesiant to Section 409A (“Section 409A”) of thedmtal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), and applicable guidance as#uereunder. Any person, not an employee, whd bkabme a Director during any
calendar year, and who was not a Director of the@any on the preceding December 31, may electjm@b days of the date on which his
or her term as a Director begins, to have paymeall or a specified part of such fees for the jworiof the calendar year following such
election and for succeeding calendar years sormefefny such election shall be made by writteriagotlelivered to the Secretary of the
Company. The “Company” means The Dun & BradstreepGration, to be renamed the “Moody’s Corporatiaftér the shares of The New
D&B Corporation (“New D&B”) are distributed as avitiend to the shareholders of The Dun & Bradst@mporation (“D&B”) (the
“Spinoff”).

2. All deferred fees shall be held in the genawabis of the Company, shall be credited to the Doarésaccount under The Moody’s
Corporation Nonfunded Deferred Compensation PlaiNfmemployee Directors (the “Plan”) and shall leemied to have been invested in
one or more of the funds made available by the Citteenhereunder from time



time in the Committee’s sole discretion, as suale@or shall have most recently elected. Suchieleshall be made on a Deferred
Compensation Election Form filed with the Secretarthe Company. The Director’s account shall lelited with deferred fees and with the
investment performance of the respective fundshitiwthe account is invested on the same basigathé same manner as is applicable to
employees participating in the Moody’s Corporatizeferred Compensation Plan. Directors may elebate deferred amounts held and
invested in one or more of the funds in multiplé4@%. Subject to the foregoing limitation on mplés of 10%, each Director may, at any
time, make a revised investment election applicedbEmounts deferred, or elect to have the amawwlited to his or her account reallocated
among the investment funds, such revised electioradlocation to be effective from and after thstfday of the month following receipt o
Deferred Compensation Election Form by the Segreththe Company. In the event a Director failsrtake an investment election, his or
entire account shall be credited to the Speciadrixcome Fund.

3. With respect to each Nonemployee Director whe aaonemployee director of D&B prior to the Spfraofd continues to be a
Nonemployee Director of the Company following th@r®ff, each such Direct’s account shall be credited with the balance enDirector’s
account as of the effective date of the Spinoffarnthe Dun & Bradstreet Corporation Nonfunded DefgéiCompensation Plan for Non-
Employee Directors (“Prior Plan”), giving effecttioe election by each such Director to transfehduads into the funds available under the
Company'’s Profit Participation Plan or successanpprovided however, that with respect to amounts deemed to be ingéstthe Dun &
Bradstreet Common Stock Fund under the Prior Rlen“D&B Fund”), each Director shall have (i) an @mt of New D&B stock credited to
the Dun & Bradstreet Common Stock Fund under tha Bual to the

2



number of shares of New D&B stock such Director lddwave received pursuant to the Spinoff if sucteBtior owned the D&B stock
credited to the D&B Fund as at the record datdef3pinoff and (ii) an amount of Company stock iteeldto the Moody’s Common Stock
Fund under the Plan equal to the number of deeimaes of D&B stock such Director held under the DRihd; provided further, that a
Director may not reallocate his or her accounglect to defer any additional amounts, into the Nis&B Common Stock Fund.

4. The aggregate balance in the Dired@tcount, giving effect to the investment perfarogaof the fund(s) to which deferred fees v
credited, shall be paid to the Director in fiveten annual installments or in a lump sum, as theddr shall elect in the notice referred to in
Paragraph 1 above. The first installment (or lunnm payment if the Director so elects) shall be maidhe tenth day of the calendar year
immediately following the calendar year in whicte thirector separates from service as a Directth@fCompany, and subsequent
installments shall be made on the tenth day of sacheeding calendar year until the entire amowgdited to the Director’s account shall
have been paid. The amount of each installment sbaletermined by multiplying the balance creditethe Director’s account as of the
December 31 immediately preceding the installmegtpent date by a fraction, the numerator of whitdllde one and the denominator of
which shall be the number of installment paymertsr evhich payment of such amount is to be mads, tles number of installments
theretofore made. Thus, if payment is to be madennnstallments, the fraction for the first idstent shall be 1/10th, for the second
installment 1/9th, and so on.

5. If a Director should die before full paymentadifamounts credited to the Directei@account, the full amount credited to the accas
of December 31 of the year of the Director’s desdtall be paid on the tenth day of the calendar f@lmwing the year of death to the
Director’s estate or to such beneficiary or beneficiarigeragiously designated by the Director in a writtertice delivered to the Secretary
the Company.



6. A Director’s election to defer compensation kbahtinue until a Director separates from sendsea Director or until the Director
changes or terminates such election by writterceatelivered to the Secretary of the Company. Arghsotice of change or termination
shall become effective as of the end of the calepéar in which such notice is given. Amounts dedlito the account of a Director prior to
the effective date of such change or terminatiall stot be affected thereby and shall be paid ¢oDirector only in accordance with
paragraph 4 (or Paragraph 5 in the event of dedbye.

7. The right of a Director to any deferred fees/anthe interest thereon shall not be subject sigasnent by the Director. If a Director
does make an assignment of any deferred fees ahé/arterest thereon, the Company may disregard assignment and discharge its
obligation hereunder by making payment as thougbuoh assignment has been made.

8. If there is a “Change in Control” of the Compaay defined in Paragraph 9:

a) The total amount to the credit of each Direst@ccount as of the date of such Change in Camtaér the Plan shall be paid to
the Director in a lump sum within 30 days from tt&e of such Change in Control; provided, howe¥erych payment is not made
within such 30-day period, the amount to the crefithe Director’s account shall be credited wiiterest from the date of such Change
in Control until the actual payment date at an ahnate equal to the yield on 90-day U.S. Trea®iltg plus one percentage point. For
this purpose the yield on U.S. Treasury Bills shallthe rate published in The Wall Street Journahe first business day of the
calendar month in which the Change in Control oelr

b) The total amount credited to each Director'soant under the Plan from the date of the Changgoimtrol until the date the
Director separates from service as a Director dglepaid to the Director in a lump sum within 3¢sifrom the date the Director
separates from service as a Director.



9. A “Change in Control” of the Company means angfeain ownership of Moody’s Corporation, a changthe effective control of
Moody’s Corporation, or a change in the ownersliip substantial portion of the assets of Moad@orporation. For this purpose, a chang
the ownership of Moody’s Corporation occurs ondhate that any one person, or more than one pecsimyas a group (as determined
pursuant to the regulations under Section 409A)umes ownership of stock of Moody’s Corporatioatitogether with stock held by such
person or group, constitutes more than 50 perdehedotal fair market value or total voting povwadrthe stock of Moody’s Corporation. A
change in effective control of Moody’s Corporatimecurs on either of the following dates: (1) théedany one person, or more than one
person acting as a group acquires (or has acqdinedg the 12-month period ending on the date efrtiost recent acquisition by such person
or persons) ownership of stock of Moody’s Corpanafpossessing 50 percent or more of the total ggaower of the stock of Moody’s
Corporation, or (2) the date a majority of memhsrthe Board is replaced during any 12-month pebgdiirectors whose appointment or
election is not endorsed by a majority of the mersiloé the Board before the date of the appointroerfection. A change in the ownershij
a substantial portion of the assets of the Corpgmraiccurs on the date that any one person, or thareone person acting as a group, acq
(or has acquired during the 12-month period endimghe date of the most recent acquisition by ggrkon or persons) assets from the
Corporation that have a total gross fair marketi@ghs determined pursuant to the regulations udeetion 409A) equal to or more than 40
percent of the total gross fair market value obélthe assets of the Corporation immediately lefurch acquisition or acquisitions.

10. Notwithstanding any provision herein to thetcary, amounts payable under this Plan shall ndubded and shall be made out of
the general funds of the Company; provided,



however, that the Company reserves the right béish one or more trusts to provide alternate cgsiof benefit payments under this Plan;
provided, further, however, that upon the occureesica “Potential Change in Control” of the Compaay defined below, the appropriate
officers of the Company are authorized to makesfiens to such a trust fund, established as amalieisource of benefits payable under the
Plan, as are necessary to fund the lump sum pagreitirectors required pursuant to Paragrapht8isfPlan in the event of a Change in
Control of the Company; provided, further, howevkat if payments are made from such trust fundh aayments will satisfy the
Company'’s obligations under this Plan to the exteatle from such trust fund.

For the purposes of this Plan, “Potential Changgéantrol” means:

a) the Company enters into an agreement, the canation of which would result in the occurrence @lzange in Control of the
Company;

b) any person (including the Company) publicly ammzes an intention to take or to consider takirtgpas which if consummated
would constitute a Change in Control of the Company

) any person, other than a trustee or other fatydiolding securities under an employee benedit jpif the Company (or a
company owned, directly or indirectly, by the slnmiders of the Company in substantially the sanopqutions as their ownership of
stock of the Company), who is or becomes the beiaéfiwner, directly or indirectly, of securitie§the Company representing 9.5% or
more of the combined voting power of the Compariy&n outstanding securities, increases such pergemeficial ownership of such
securities by 5% or more over the percentage sedvy such person; or

d) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect fioatpurposes of this Plan, a Potential Changedntrol of the Company has
occurred.

11. The Governance and Compensation CommitteeedBtiard (the “Committee’§hall be responsible for the administration of Fien
and may delegate to any management committee, gagl®irector or agent its responsibility to penficeiny act hereunder, including with
limitation those matters involving the exerciselidcretion, provided that such delegation shakiigect to revocation at any time at its
discretion. The Committee shall have



full authority to interpret the provisions of th&aR and construe all of its terms, to adopt, ansmirescind rules and regulations for the
administration of the Plan, and generally to conduncd administer the Plan and to make all detertioing in connection with the Plan as may
be necessary or advisable, other than those detationis delegated to management employees or indepethird parties by the Board. All
of its rules, interpretations and decisions shalapplied in a uniform manner to all Directors $amy situated and decisions of the Commi
shall be conclusive and binding on all persons. Acijon permitted to be taken by the Committee bmyaken by the Board, in its discreti

12. Neither participation in the Plan nor any attimder the Plan shall be construed to give angdir a right to be retained in the
service of the Company.

13. The Plan may be modified, amended or revokedhatime by the Board.

14. The Plan shall be governed by and construaddnrdance with the laws of the State of Delawpptieable to contracts made anc
be performed in the State of Delaware.

15. The Plan is intended to comply with the pranisi of Section 409A of the Code in order to avaidation of amounts deferred
hereunder before such amounts are distributed fnenfPlan, and the Plan will be interpreted accglgin
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Exhibit 10.9

1998 MOODY’'S CORPORATION
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS’ STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
(Adopted September 8, 2000; Amended and RestatefiAgsil 23, 2001,
Amended October 23, 2006 and December 15, 2008)

1. Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Plan is to aid the Companytmcting, retaining and compensating non-employestbrs and to enable them to
increase their ownership of Shares. The Plan wibéneficial to the Company and its stockholdersesit will allow non-employee directors
of the Board to have a greater personal finantéesin the Company through the ownership of Shamesddition to underscoring their
common interest with stockholders in increasingvhleie of the Shares on a long-term basis. Asutrekthe distribution of the shares of
New D&B owned by the Company to the holder of relcof Shares, the Company has amended and restet@dan as of the Distributic

Date.

2. Definitions

The following capitalized terms used in the Planehthe respective meanings set forth in this Sectio

(@)
(b)
(©
(d)
(€)

Act : The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amenatealhy successor there

Award : An Option, Share of Restricted Stock or Perforoea8hare granted pursuant to the F
Beneficial Ownel: As such term is defined in Rule -3 under the Act (or any successor rule thert
Board: The Board of Directors of the Compal

Change in ControlThe occurrence of a change in ownership of Mos@orporation, a change in the effective control of
Moody’s Corporation, or a change in the ownersliip substantial portion of the assets of Moody’spgoation. For this
purpose, a change in the ownership of Mosdybrporation occurs on the date that any one peosanore than one pers
acting as a group (as determined pursuant to thdatons under Section 409A), acquires ownershigtark of Moody’s
Corporation that, together with stock held by spehson or group, constitutes more than 50 perdehedotal fair market
value or total voting power of the stock of MoodZsrporation. A change in effective control of Mg&lCorporation
occurs on either of the following dates: (1) théedany one person, or more than one person adiaggaoup acquires (or
has acquired during the 12-month period endincherdate of the most recent acquisition by suchopeos persons)
ownership of stock of Mooc('s




Corporation possessing 50 percent or more of tta woting power of the stock of Moody’s Corporatjor (2) the date a
majority of members of the Board is replaced duang 12-month period by directors whose appointroerdection is not
endorsed by a majority of the members of the Bbafdre the date of the appointment or electionhange in the
ownership of a substantial portion of the assetda@ddy’s Corporation occurs on the date that any one pemanore tha
one person acting as a group, acquires (or hasradgluring the 12-month period ending on the dédtihe most recent
acquisition by such person or persons) assets floody’s Corporation that have a total gross fairkeavalue (as
determined pursuant to the regulations under Sedfd®A) equal to or more than 40 percent of thal iptoss fair market
value of all of the assets of Moc's Corporation immediately before such acquisitioaaguisitions

® Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the reigulathereunder, as amended from time to t

(9 Committee The Governance and Compensation Committee dBttaed, or any successor thereto or other committee
designated by the Board to assume the obligatibtteedCommittee hereunde

(h) Company The New Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, a Delaw@ygoration, to be renamed “The Dun & Bradstreet
Corporatior” after June 30, 1998, to be renamed the M’s Corporation after the Distribution Da

0] D&B : The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation, a Delaware otaiion.

)] Disability : Inability to continue to serve as a non-emplogizector due to a medically determinable physicahental
impairment which constitutes a permanent and thisability, as determined by the Committee (exalgdiny member
thereof whose own Disability is at issue in a gigase) based upon such evidence as it deems ngcasdaappropriate;
provided, however, that following the Distributi®rate, the Disability of a New D&B Director shall determined by the
New D&B Committee. A Participant shall not be calesed disabled unless he or she furnishes suctcaledtiothel
evidence of the existence of the Disability asGloenmittee or the New D&B Committee, as the case b&gyn its sole
discretion, may require

(k) Distribution Date The date on which the shares of New D&B thatavaed by the Company are distributed to the holders
of record of shares of the Compa

()] Effective Date: The date on which the Plan takes effect, as ddfpursuant to Section 14 of the PI
2



(m)

(n)

(0)
(p)

Fair Market Value On a given date, the arithmetic mean of the higth low prices of the Shares as reported on sueh da
on the Composite Tape of the principal nationaligées exchange on which such Shares are listedlmitted to trading,
or, if no Composite Tape exists for such natioealsities exchange on such date, then on the pahnational securities
exchange on which such Shares are listed or adhdterading, or, if the Shares are not listeddméted on a national
securities exchange, the arithmetic mean of th&Spare closing bid price and per Share closingdapkiee on such date as
guoted on the National Association of SecuritieglBes Automated Quotation System (or such markethich such prices
are regularly quoted), or, if there is no markewgrich the Shares are regularly quoted, the Faikbtavalue shall be the
value established by the Committee in good faftholsale of Shares shall have been reported dn@umposite Tape or
such national securities exchange on such dataaied on the National Association of Securities|BxsaAutomated
Quotation System on such date, then the immediatelyeding date on which sales of the Shares heee $o reported or
guoted shall be use

New D&B : The New D&B Corporation, a Delaware corporatitmbe renamed “The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation”
following the Distribution Date

New D&B Board: The Board of Directors of New D&E
New D&B Change in Contrc: The occurrence of any of the following evel

(i) any “Person,’as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14fthe( than New D&B, any trustee or other fiduc
holding securities under an employee benefit pfaesv D&B, or any corporation owned, directly odirectly, by the
shareholders of New D&B in substantially the samapprtions as their ownership of stock of New D&B)pr becomes
the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, ofcgities of New D&B representing 20% or more of twenbined voting
power of New D&B'’s then outstanding securities.

(i) during any period of twenty-four months (natluding any period prior to the Distribution Datdividuals who
at the beginning of such period constitute the ND&&B Board, and any new Director (other than a Dioedesignated by a
person who has entered into an agreement with N&® @ effect a transaction described in clause(iii), or (iv) of this
Section, a Director designated by any Person (@ictuNew D&B) who publicly announces an intentiortake or to
consider taking actions (including, but not limited an actual or threatened proxy contest) wHiclemsummated would
constitute a New D&B Change in Control or a Direatesignated by any Person who is the Beneficial
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(a)

(s)
(®
(u)

v)
(w)

Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of Néd@&B representing 10% or more of the combined \@iower of New
D&B'’s securities) whose election by the New D&B Ba@r nomination for election by New D&B'’s sharetets was
approved by a vote of at least two-third&/ ¢) of the Directors then still in office who eitheere Directors at the
beginning of the period or whose election or noriamafor election was previously so approved cdas@ny reason to
constitute at least a majority thereof.

(iii) the shareholders of New D&B approve a mergeconsolidation of New D&B with any other corpacat, other
than a merger or consolidation which would resuthie voting securities of New D&B outstanding intiegely prior
thereto continuing to represent (either by remajrintstanding or by being converted into votingusiies of the surviving
entity) more than 50% of the combined voting powfethe voting securities of New D&B or such survigientity
outstanding immediately after such merger or cadatbn and after which no Person holds 20% or nebtbe combined
voting power of the then outstanding securitielefv D&B or such surviving entity; or

(iv) the shareholders of New D&B approve a plarcaiplete liquidation of New D&B or an agreement thoe sale ¢
disposition by New D&B of all or substantially af New D&B’s assets.

New D&B Committee: The Compensation and Benefits Committee of thw R&B Board, or any successor thereto or
other committee designated by the New D&B Boardssume the obligations of the New D&B Committeeehader

New D&B Director: A Participant who is a director of New D&B immattly following the Distribution Date

Option: A stock option granted pursuant to Section thefRlan
Option Price: The purchase price per Share of an Option, asméted pursuant to Section 6(b) of the P

Participant Any director of the Company who is not an empkgpéthe Company or any Subsidiary of the Compangfa
the date that an Award is grant

Performance PeriodThe calendar year or such other period of at lEagonsecutive months as shall be designateteoy t
Committee from time to time

Performance Shai: A periodic bonus award, payable in unrestrictbdr8s, granted pursuant to Section 8(a) of the.
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(x)
v)
(2)

(aa)

(bb)
(cc)

(dd)
(ee)

(ff)

Persor: As such term is used for purposes of Section)1&(d4(d) of the Act (or any successor sectiometw.
Plan: The 1998 Mood’'s Corporation Nc-Employee Director Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and rest
Restricted Stoc: A Share of restricted stock granted pursuantetctiSn 7 of the Plar

Retirement Termination of service with the Company afterts®articipant has attained age 70, regardlessedétigth of
such Participant’s service; or, with the prior weit consent of the Committee (excluding any mertteneof whose own
Retirement is at issue in a given case), terminagicservice at an earlier age after the Partidipas completed six or ma
years of service with the Company; provided, howetlhat following the Distribution Date, the Retiment of a New D&E
Director shall be based on his or her servicerasnaemployee director of the Board and the New CRBd&ard and/or the
prior written consent of the New D&B Committe

Section 4094: Section 409A of the Code and applicable guidaseeed thereunde

Service PeriodThe period of time designated by the Committeenftime to time during which services must be reede
and at the end of which Restricted Stock grantH sest.

Shares: Shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per sbatke Company
Subsidiary: A subsidiary corporation, as defined in Secti@d@) of the Code (or any successor section thir

Termination of Service A Participant’s “separation from service” withetCompany as determined pursuant to
Section 409A; provided, however, that following fistribution Date, a New D&B Director’s terminatiof service shall
be based on his or her termination of service Wighv D&B.

3. Shares Subject to the Plan

The total number of Shares which may be issuedruhéePlan is 400,000. The Shares may consisthmlewor in part, of unissued
Shares or treasury Shares. The issuance of Awhaillseduce the total number of Shares availabteeuthe Plan. Shares which are subje
Awards which terminate or lapse may be grantednagader the Plan.
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4. Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Committeéclwvimay delegate its duties and powers in wholia part to any subcommittee
thereof consisting solely of at least two “non-eaygle directors” within the meaning of Rule 16b-8lemnthe Act (or any successor rule
thereto); provided however, that any action permitted to be taken by the Catemmay be taken by the Board, in its discretiime
Committee is authorized to interpret the Plan dalalish, amend and rescind any rules and regokatielating to the Plan, and to make any
other determinations that it deems necessary dradbds for the administration of the Plan. The Caittee may correct any defect or omission
or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in tlener and to the extent the Committee deems negessdesirable. Any decision of the
Committee in the interpretation and administratbthe Plan, as described herein, shall lie wittsrsole and absolute discretion and shall be
final, conclusive and binding on all parties comesf (including, but not limited to, Participantdaheir beneficiaries or successors).

5. Eligibility
All Participants shall be eligible to participateder this Plan.

6. Terms and Conditions of Options

Options granted under the Plan shall be non-gedltock options for federal income tax purposegvédenced by the related Option
agreements, and shall be subject to the foregaidgtee following terms and conditions and to suttteoterms and conditions, not
inconsistent therewith, as the Committee shallrdates:

(a) Grants A Participant may receive, on such dates as méted by the Committee in its sole discretion, tgamonsisting of
such number of Options as determined by the Coraaitt its sole discretion.

(b) Option Price The Option Price per Share shall be determinetth&yCommittee, but shall not be less than 100%hefair
Market Value of the Shares on the date an Optigmaated.

(c) Exercisability. Options granted under the Plan shall be exeresstsuch time and upon such terms and condidsmay be
determined by the Committee, but in no event siralDption be exercisable more than ten years thiéedate it is granted.

(d) Exercise of OptionsExcept as otherwise provided in the Plan orielated Option agreement, an Option may be exetdme
all, or from time to time any part, of the Shareswhich it is then exercisable. For purposes afifa 6 of the Plan, the exercise date of an
Option shall be the later of the date a noticexefreise is received by the Company and, if appleahe date payment is received by the
Company pursuant to clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) retfollowing sentence. The purchase price for tha&r&s as to which an Option is exercised
shall be paid to the Company in full at the timegrércise at the election of the Participant (igash, (ii) in Shares having a Fair Market
Value equal to the aggregate Option Price for thar&s being purchased and satisfying such othairezgents as may be imposed by the
Committee,




(iii) partly in cash and partly in such Sharesig) through the delivery of irrevocable instructto a broker to deliver promptly to the
Company an amount equal to the aggregate Optiae Fot the Shares being purchased. No Particigwaik lsave any rights to dividends or
other rights of a stockholder with respect to Shauhject to an Option until the occurrence ofekercise date (determined as set forth ak
and, if applicable, the satisfaction of any othamditions imposed by the Committee pursuant tdPae.

(e) Exercisability Upon Termination of Service bgddh. Upon a Termination of Service by reason of dedibr the first
anniversary of the date on which an Option is grdnthe unexercised portion of such Option shathédiately vest in full and may thereafter
be exercised during the shorter of the remaining &&f the Option or five years after the date cdttie

(f) Exercisability Upon Termination of Service bysBbility or Retirement Upon a Termination of Service by reason of Dikighi
or Retirement after the first anniversary of théedan which an Option is granted, the unexercigetign of such Option may thereafter be
exercised during the shorter of the remaining tefithe Option or five years after the date of sliehmination of Service; provided
however, that if a Participant dies within a period ofdiyears after such Termination of Service, the ar@sed portion of the Option shall
immediately vest in full and may thereafter be eiserd, during the shorter of the remaining terrthefOption or the period that is the longer
of five years after the date of such Terminatiosefvice or one year after the date of death.

(9) Effect of Other Termination of Servic&Jpon a Termination of Service by reason of Dikgbdr Retirement prior to the first
anniversary of the date on which an Option is grarfas described above), then, a pro rata porfisaah Option shall immediately vest in
full and may be exercised thereafter, during thateh of (A) the remaining term of such Option B) {ive years after the date of such
Termination of Service, for a prorated number ofigk (rounded down to the nearest whole numbehafeS), equal to (i) the number of
Shares subject to such Option multiplied by (ifjaction the numerator of which is the number ofsithe Participant served on the Board
the New D&B Board subsequent to the date on whigt ©ption was granted and the denominator of wisi&@b5. The portion of such
Option which is not so exercisable shall termireg®f the date of Disability or Retirement. Upofesmination of Service for any other
reason prior to the first anniversary of the datemhich an Option is granted, such Option shaltebpon terminate. Upon a Termination of
Service for any reason other than death, DisalilitRetirement after the first anniversary of tia¢edon which an Option is granted, the
unexercised portion of such Option shall thereujgominate.

(h) Nontransferability of Stock Option€xcept as otherwise provided in this Section &gtock option shall not be transferable
by the optionee otherwise than by will or by thwdaof descent and distribution and during theilifiet of an optionee an option shall be
exercisable only by the optionee. An option exeaifulis after the death of an optionee or a transfeuesuant to the following sentence may be
exercised by the legatees, personal representatiwdistributees of the optionee or such transteree Committee may, in its discretion,
authorize all or a portion of the options previgugtanted or to be granted to an optionee to beelons which permit irrevocable transfer for
no consideration by such optionee to any childyatiéd, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandpasgduse, sibling, mother-in-law,
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father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brothetlaw, or sister-in-law, including adoptive retaiships, of the optionee, trusts for the
exclusive benefit of these persons, and any othiilye@wned solely by these persons (“Eligible Tsfamees”), provided that (x) the stock
option agreement pursuant to which such optiongemeted must be approved by the Committee, and expsessly provide for
transferability in a manner consistent with thit@® and (y) subsequent transfers of transferpgibos shall be prohibited except those in
accordance with the first sentence of this Sediitr). The Committee may, in its discretion, amdraldefinition of Eligible Transferees to
conform to the coverage rules of Form S-8 undeSieurities Act of 1933 or any comparable Form fitome to time in effect. Following
transfer, any such options shall continue to bgestito the same terms and conditions as werecgipé immediately prior to transfer. The
events of Termination of Service of Sections 64€f), and 6(g) hereof shall continue to be appligthwespect to the original optionee,
following which the options shall be exercisabletbg transferee only to the extent, and for thépsrspecified, in Sections 6(e), 6(f) and 6
(9). The Committee may delegate to a committeeisting of employees of the Company the authoritauthorize transfers, establish terms
and conditions upon which transfers may be madeeatablish classes of options eligible to transfeions, as well as to make other
determinations with respect to option transfers.

7. Terms and Conditions of Restricted Stock

Restricted Stock granted under the Plan shall bgsuto the foregoing and the following terms aodditions and to such other terms
and conditions, not inconsistent therewith, asGbenmittee shall determine:

(a) Grants A Participant may receive, on such dates as méted by the Committee in its sole discretion, tgamonsisting of
such amounts of Restricted Stock as determinetidoCommittee in its sole discretion.

(b) Restrictions Restricted Stock granted under the Plan may ecbld, transferred, pledged, assigned or othemisgmsed of
under any circumstances; provided, howeubat the foregoing restrictions shall lapse ahsime and upon such terms and conditions as
may be specified by the Committee in the relateciinagreement(s).

(c) Vesting. Any grant of Restricted Stock under the Planldbekubject to a minimum one-year vesting requéein

(d) Forfeiture of GrantsExcept to the extent otherwise specified by tben@ittee in a related Award agreement(s), all Shafe
Restricted Stock as to which restrictions havepmeviously lapsed pursuant to Section 7(b) of tlam Bhall be forfeited upon a Participant’s
Termination of Service for any reason (includinghaut limitation, by reason of death, Disability Retirement).

(e) Other ProvisionsDuring the period prior to the date on which fitnegoing restrictions lapse, Shares of Restri&eatk shall
be registered in the Participant’s name and sucticiant shall have voting rights and receive dends with respect to such Restricted
Stock.



(f) Authorization for Committee to Permit Deferrdllotwithstanding anything in this Section 7 to ttmmtrary, a Participant may,
if and to the extent permitted by the Committeeceto defer receipt of any Restricted Stock grhnteder the Plan; providechowever, that
any such election must be made and become irrelempablater than the close of the calendar yeat peceding the year in which the
Service Period commences; and furtheavided, that any Restricted Stock for which a deferratbn has been made shall be distributed to
the Participant, to the extent vested, as soonméngstratively practicable following such Partiaig’s Termination of Service, but in no ev
later than the later of (i) the end of the calengsar in which such Termination of Service occur§iip2-1/2 months after such Terminatior
Service occurs. Any and all Restricted Stock forohta deferral election is made shall be contributea grantor “rabbi” trust established by
the Company prior to the date on which the restrist on such Restricted Stock lapse, which trusll fle administered by an independent
trustee; provided however, that distributions of Restricted Stock by sudhuat to a Participant following the Participantermination of
Service will satisfy the Company’s obligations e tParticipant with respect to Restricted Stockrdeg under this Plan to the extent of such
distributions.

8. Terms and Conditions of Performance Shares

(a) Establishment of Annual Performance Target lseaad Number of Performance Shar@sior to the commencement of a
given Performance Period, the Committee shall &skabrganizational or individual performance arigewithin the meaning of Section 409A
relating to such Performance Period (“Performanoal§). The Committee shall also establish the nematd Performance Shares that would
be payable to Participants upon the attainmentabus Performance Goals during such Performangede

(b) Payment in Unrestricted Share&s soon as practicable following a given PerfanoePeriod, but in no event later than 30
days after the end of such Performance PeriodiciRants shall receive unrestricted Shares equileéamumber of Performance shares earned
by such Participant during such Performance PeAdeéarticipant who did not serve on the Board dyiam entire Performance Period shall
receive a prorated number of Shares (rounded dowmetnearest whole number of Shares) based upthre (humber of days during the
Performance Period during which such Participanteskon the Board and (ii) the actual performamsgiits.

(c) Authorization for Committee to Permit Deferrélotwithstanding Section 8(b) of the Plan, a Baréint may, if and to the
extent permitted by the Committee, elect to defgmpent of any unrestricted Shares payable as # cfsany Performance Shares earned by
such Participant; providechowever, that any such election must be made and becamaaable (i) on or before the date that is six then
before the end of the Performance Period, providatithe Participant performs services continuofrsiyn the later of the beginning of the
Performance Period or the date the Performances@oalestablished through the date an electiom@erpursuant to this Section 8(c), and
(i) in accordance with such terms and conditionsie established by the Committee in its solerelin. Any and all Shares earned pursuant
to Section 8(b) and the receipt of which is defétvg election pursuant to this Section 8(c) shalbtstributed to the Participant as soon as
administratively practicable following ParticipamfTermination of Service, but in no event latentttz later of the end of the calendar ye:
which such Termination of Service occurs or 2-1fhths after such Termination of Service occurs.
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(d) Vesting. Any grant of Performance Shares under the Plal lsl subject to a minimum one-year vesting rezquant.

9. Adjustments Upon Certain Events

Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Plathte contrary, the following provisions shall appdyall Awards granted under the
Plan:

(a) Generally In the event of any change in the outstanding&hafter the Effective Date by reason of any SHasiedend or
split, reorganization, recapitalization, mergemsalidation, spin-off, combination or exchange ba&s or other corporate exchange or
similar transaction, or any distribution to stockiess of Shares other than regular cash dividehésCommittee shall adjust the following to
the extent necessary to achieve an equitable régule number or kind of Shares or other semsiissued or reserved for issuance pursuant
to the Plan or pursuant to outstanding Awardsthi) Option Price and/or (iii) any other affectedtis of such Awards.

(b) Change in ContralUpon the occurrence of a Change in Control,l(Destrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock slaglse,
(if) each Participant shall receive the target nemdf Performance Shares for the Performance Periathich the Change in Control occurs
(or, if no target number has been establishedufon £erformance Period, the target number forrttraddiately preceding Performance Pe
shall be used) and (iii) all Stock Options shaktv@nd become exercisable.

(c) New D&B Change in ControlUpon the occurrence of a New D&B Change in Cdntrith respect to Awards granted prior to
the Distribution Date, (i) all restrictions on Skarof Restricted Stock held by New D&B Directoralskapse, (i) each New D&B Director
shall receive the target number of Performanceeshfar the Performance Period in which the New D&Bgange in Control occurs (or, if no
target number has been established for such PeafmenPeriod, the target number for the immediatedgeding Performance Period shall be
used) and (iii) all Stock Options held by New D&Bré&xtors shall vest and become exercisable.

10. Successors and Assigns

The Plan shall be binding on all successors ardrassf the Company and a Participant, includinthait limitation, the estate of such
Participant and the executor, administrator orté®i®f such estate, or any receiver or trusteainkituptcy or representative of the
Participant’s creditors.

11. Amendments or Termination

The Committee may amend, alter or discontinue tar,ut no amendment, alteration or discontinuesioall be made which would
impair the rights of any Participant under any Advireretofore granted without such Participantissemt.
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12. Nontransferability of Awards

Except as provided in Section 6(h) of the PlanAasard shall not be transferable or assignable byRérticipant otherwise than by will
or by the laws of descent and distribution. Dutting lifetime of a Participant, an Award shall beexsable only by such Participant. An
Award exercisable after the death of a Participaay be exercised by the legatees, personal repagises or distributees of the Participant.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereie @ommittee, in its sole discretion, shall haveatthority to waive this Section 12 (or a
part thereof) to the extent that this Section I2afty part thereof) is not required under the rplesnulgated under any law, rule or regulation
applicable to the Company.

13. Choice of Law

The Plan shall be governed by and construed inrdaoce with the laws of the State of Delaware apple to contracts made and to be
performed in the State of Delaware.

14. Effectiveness of the Plan
The Plan shall be effective as of June 30, 1998.

15.The Plan is intended to comply with the provisiofiSection 409A in order to avoid taxation of amsutheferred hereunder before
such amounts are distributed from the Plan, andPthe will be interpreted accordingly.
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Exhibit 10.20

AMENDED AND RESTATED 2001 MOODY'S CORPORATION
KEY EMPLOYEES’ STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
(amended December 15, 2008)

1. Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Plan is to aid the Company @néffiliates in securing and retaining key emplegef outstanding ability and to
motivate such employees to exert their best effmtbehalf of the Company and its Affiliates by yiding incentives through the granting of
Awards. The Company expects that it will benefinfrthe added interest which such key employeedhwailte in the welfare of the Company
as a result of their proprietary interest in therpany’s success.

2. Definitions
The following capitalized terms used in the Planehthe respective meanings set forth in this Sectio
(a) Act : The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameratealhy successor thereto.

(b) Affiliate : Any entity (i) 20% or more of the voting equitfwhich is owned or controlled directly or indirgcby the Company, or
(i) that had been a business, division or subsjdif the Company, the equity of which has beetrithisted to the Company’s shareholders,
even if the Company thereafter owns less than 2D8teovoting equity.

(c) Award : An Option, Stock Appreciation Right or Other Std8ased Award granted pursuant to the Plan.
(d) Beneficial Owner : As such term is defined in Rule 13d-3 under tlog (Ar any successor rule thereto).
(e)Board : The Board of Directors of the Company.

(f) Changein Control : The occurrence of any of the following events:

(i) any “Person” as such term is used in Sectia}Ll8nd 14(d) of the Act (other than the Compamy, taustee or other fiduciary
holding securities under an employee benefit pfah® Company, or any company owned, directly dirgctly, by the stockholders of the
Company in substantially the same proportions eis tdwnership of stock of the Company), becomeBtheeficial Owner, directly or
indirectly, of securities of the Company represamn20% or more of the combined voting power of@menpanys then outstanding securiti

(i) during any period of twentyeur months (not including any period prior to thifective Date), individuals who at the beginn
of such period constitute the Board, and any newcthr (other than (A) a director nominated by esBe who has entered into an agreement
with the Company to effect a transaction describeslections 2(f)(i), (iit) or (iv) of the Plan, (B director nominated by any Person
(including the Company) who publicly announcesraarition to take or to consider taking actionsl(iding, but not limited to, an actual or
threatened proxy contest) which if consummated deoohstitute a Change in Control or (C) a diredesignated by any Person who is the
Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of sedigs of the Company representing 10% or more ottdmbined voting power of the
Company’s securities) whose election by the Boandomination for election by the Company’s stockless was approved in advance by a
vote of at least two-thirds3/ 3) of the directors then still in office who eitheere directors at the beginning of the period ooséhelection
or nomination for election was previously so apgivcease for any reason to constitute at leastjerity thereof;



(iii) the stockholders of the Company approve agaeor consolidation of the Company with any ott@poration, other than a
merger or consolidation (A) which would result etvoting securities of the Company outstanding édiately prior thereto continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or bgdeonverted into voting securities of the sumgyientity) more than 50% of the combined
voting power of the voting securities of the Comypan such surviving entity outstanding immediatafter such merger or consolidation and
(B) after which no Person would hold 20% or mor¢haf combined voting power of the then outstandmcurities of the Company or such
surviving entity; or

(iv) the stockholders of the Company approve a pfacomplete liquidation of the Company or an agrest for the sale or
disposition by the Company of all or substantiallyof the Company’s assets.

(g) Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendeahyosuccessor thereto.

(h) Committee : The Governance and Compensation Committee dtiaed, or any successor thereto or other commnsgnated by
the Board to assume the obligations of the Comahereunder.

(i) Company : Moody’s Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

(j) Disability : Inability to engage in any substantial gainfuivaty by reason of a medically determinable phgsior mental impairment
which constitutes a permanent and total disabitisydefined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code (or sumcessor section thereto). The
determination whether a Participant has sufferBisability shall be made by the Committee basechupeeh evidence as it deems necessary
and appropriate. A Participant shall not be considelisabled unless he or she furnishes such mextiother evidence of the existence of
Disability as the Committee, in its sole discretioray require.

(k) Effective Date : The date on which the Plan takes effect, as ddfpursuant to Section 17 of the Plan.

() Fair Market Value : On a given date, the arithmetic mean of the ligth low prices of the Shares as reported on suehatethe
Composite Tape of the principal national securigégshange on which such Shares are listed or agthtittrading, or, if no Composite Tape
exists for such national securities exchange oh date, then on the principal national securitiehange on which such Shares are listed or
admitted to trading, or, if the Shares are noetistr admitted on a national securities exchargeatithmetic mean of the per Share closing
bid price and per Share closing asked price on dathas quoted on the National Association of SesiDealers Automated Quotation
System (or such market in which such prices aralaely quoted), or, if there is no market on whibke Shares are regularly quoted, the Fair
Market Value shall be the value established byGbmmittee in good faith. If no sale of Shares shalle been reported on such Composite
Tape or such national securities exchange on saiehat quoted on the National Association of S¢iesrDealers Automated Quotation
System on such date, then the immediately preceatiiteyon which sales of the Shares have been sededmr quoted shall be used.

(m) 1SO : An Option that is also an incentive stock optipanted pursuant to Section 7(d) of the Plan.

(n) LSAR: A limited stock appreciation right granted punsui Section 8(d) of the Plan.

(o) Other Sock-Based Awards : Awards granted pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan.

(p) Option : A stock option granted pursuant to Section thefRlan.

(q) Option Price : The purchase price per Share of an Option, asméted pursuant to Section 7(a) of the Plan.

(r) Participant : An individual who is selected by the Committegésticipate in the Plan pursuant to Section ShefRlan.
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(s) Performance-Based Awards : Other Stock-Based Awards granted pursuant ta@eétb) of the Plan.

(t) Person : As such term is used for purposes of Section)1&(d4(d) of the Act (or any successor sectiometw).
(u) Plan : The Amended and Restated 2001 Moody’s CorpordtenEmployees’ Stock Incentive Plan.

(v) Post-Retirement Exercise Period : As such term is defined in Section 7(f) of tharPI

(w) Restricted Stock : Restricted stock granted pursuant to Sectiont@ePlan.

(x) Restricted Stock Unit : A restricted stock unit representing a right ¢quire a fixed number of Shares at a future datetgd
pursuant to Section 9 of the Plan.

(y) Retirement : Termination of employment with the Company orAdfiliate after such Participant has both attaime 55 and had fi
or more consecutive years of service with the Camplarough and ending with the date of such Paici’'s voluntary termination of
employment; or, with the prior written consent loé tCommittee that such termination be treatedRwstisement hereunder, termination of
employment under other circumstances.

(z) Shares: Shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per Sbatee Company.
(aa)Special Exercise Period : As such term is defined in Section 7(f) of tharPI
(bb) Sock Appreciation Right : A stock appreciation right granted pursuant toti®e 8 of the Plan.
(cc) Subsidiary : A subsidiary corporation, as defined in Secti@A@#) of the Code (or any successor section thgreto

(dd) Termination of Employment : A Participants termination of employment with the Company oidfiliate, as the case may t

3. Shares Subject to the Plan

The maximum number of Shares with respect to whislards may be granted under the Plan shall be P&60 (subject to adjustment
in accordance with the provisions of Section 1@®b&r whether pursuant to ISOs or otherwise. Of tlwenber, not more than 8,000,000
Shares (subject to adjustment in accordance witlpthvisions of Section 10 hereof) will be avaitafidr grants under the Plan of unrestricted
Shares, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock UniemgrOther Stock-Based Awards pursuant to Sectioar8of. The maximum number of
Shares with respect to which Awards of any antyplts may be granted during a calendar year tdPanycipant shall be limited, in the
aggregate, to 800,000. The Shares may consistiahevor in part, of authorized and unissued Sharéseasury Shares. Shares which are
subject to Awards which terminate, expire, aredibed or lapse may be utilized again with respe@&wards granted under the Plan.

4. Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Committeéclwvimay delegate its duties and powers in wholia part to any subcommittee
thereof consisting solely of at least two indivibuaho are each “non-employee directors” within theaning of Rule 16B-under the Act (o
any successor rule thereto) and “outside directariin the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Codleany successor section thereto);
provided, however, that any action permitted taddben by the Committee may be taken by the Boarifisi
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discretion. The Committee is authorized to interghe Plan, to establish, amend and rescind amg rard regulations relating to the Plan, and
to make any other determinations that it deemsgserg or desirable for the administration of thenPIThe Committee may correct any de
or omission or reconcile any inconsistency in tlenfn the manner and to the extent the Commitésensd necessary or desirable. Any
decision of the Committee in the interpretation addhinistration of the Plan, as described herdiall e within its sole and absolute
discretion and shall be final, conclusive and higddn all parties concerned (including, but notitéa to, Participants and their beneficiaries
or successors). Determinations made by the Conenitteler the Plan need not be uniform and may be saéctively among Participants,
whether or not such Participants are similarlyagitd. The Committee shall require payment of anguarhit may determine to be necessary
to withhold for federal, state, local or other taxess a result of the grant or the exercise of aardwUnless the Committee specifies otherv
the Participant may elect to pay a portion or &uch withholding taxes by (a) delivery of Shapegb) having Shares withheld by the
Company from any Shares that would have otherwésm lbeceived by the Participant. The number of&hso delivered or withheld shall
have an aggregate Fair Market Value on the datieeoéxercise of an Award sufficient to satisfy amplicable withholding taxes. In addition,
with the approval of the Committee, a Participaalyraatisfy any additional tax that the Participaletts to have the Company withhold by
delivering to the Company or its designated repredive Shares already owned by the Participarihdhe case of Shares acquired through
an employee benefit plan, Shares held by the Rzatitfor more than six months. If the chief ex@aubfficer of the Company is a member
of the Board, the Board by specific resolution mampstitute such chief executive officer as a corteaibf one which shall have the authority
to grant Awards of up to an aggregate of 200,008r&hin each calendar year to Participants whaarsubject to the rules promulgated
under Section 16 of the Act (or any successor@ectkiereto) or “covered employees” as defined ictiBe 162(m) of the Code; provided,
however, that such chief executive officer shatifygdhe Committee of any such grants made purstatitis Section 4.

5. Eligibility

Key employees (but not members of the Committegngrperson who serves only as a director) of the@my and its Affiliates, who
are from time to time responsible for the managedgrowth and protection of the business of the Gany and its Affiliates, and consultai
to the Company and its Affiliates, are eligibleb® granted Awards under the Plan. Participantd bhaelected from time to time by the
Committee, in its sole discretion, from among thekgible, and the Committee shall determine, $rsible discretion, the number of Shares to
be covered by the Awards granted to each Partitipan

6. Limitations

No Award may be granted under the Plan after ththtanniversary of the Effective Date, but Awardsretofore granted may extend
beyond that date.

7. Terms and Conditions of Options

Options granted under the Plan shall be, as datedy the Committee, non-qualified, incentive threo stock options for federal
income tax purposes, as evidenced by the relateatdagreements, and shall be subject to the fanggmid the following terms and
conditions and to such other terms and conditinasjnconsistent therewith, as the Committee ghetibrmine:

(a) Option Price . The Option Price per Share shall be determinethdyCommittee, but shall not be less than 100%efair Market
Value of the Shares on the date an Option is gdante

(b) Exercisability . Options granted under the Plan shall be exer@szisuch time and upon such terms and conditiemeay be
determined by the Committee, but in no event siralDption be exercisable more than ten years thiéetlate it is granted.

(c) Exercise of Options . Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or ilvesard agreement, an Option may be exercised fpoiafrom
time to time any part, of the Shares for whiclsitien exercisable. For purposes of Section 7eoPthn, the exercise date of an Option shall
be the later of the date a notice of



exercise is received by the Company and, if appleahe date payment is received by the Compansupit to clauses (i), (i) or (iii) in the
following sentence. The purchase price for the &has to which an Option is exercised shall be fgeildle Company in full at the time of
exercise at the election of the Participant (igash, (ii) in Shares having a Fair Market Valueag¢do the aggregate Option Price for the
Shares being purchased and satisfying such othaireenents as may be imposed by the Committeejgedythat such shares of Common
Stock have been held by the Participant for notless six months, (iii) partly in cash and partiysuch Shares, (iv) through the delivery of
irrevocable instructions to a broker to deliverrpptly to the Company an amount equal to the aggeeQation Price for the Shares being
purchased, or (v) through such other means astshaliescribed in the Award agreement. No Partitiphall have any rights to dividends or
other rights of a stockholder with respect to Shauhject to an Option until the occurrence ofekercise date (determined as set forth ak
and, if applicable, the satisfaction of any othamditions imposed by the Committee pursuant tdPae.

(d) ISOs. The Committee may grant Options under the Plahate intended to be ISOs. Such ISOs shall comiplythe requirements
of Section 422 of the Code (or any successor settiereto). Unless otherwise permitted under Seetk? of the Code (or any successor
section thereto), no ISO may be granted to anyidjzaht who at the time of such grant, owns moenth0% of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock of the Company aarof Subsidiary, unless (i) the Option Price fortsl®0 is at least 110% of the Fair Market
Value of a Share on the date the ISO is grantedigrttle date on which such ISO terminates is & dat later than the day preceding the
anniversary of the date on which the 1SO is gramdry Participant who disposes of Shares acquipahuhe exercise of an ISO either
(i) within two years after the date of grant of BUSO or (ii) within one year after the transfersoich Shares to the Participant, shall notify the
Company of such disposition and of the amountzedlupon such disposition. Notwithstanding Secaidrereof, ISOs may be granted solely
to employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

(e) Exercisability Upon Termination of Employment by Death or Disability . Upon a Termination of Employment by reason oftldea
Disability, in either case after the first annivamsof the date of grant of an Option, (i) the uereised portion of such Option shall
immediately vest in full and (ii) such portion mtnereafter be exercised during the shorter of (®)remaining stated term of the Option or
(B) five years after the date of death or Disaypilit

(f) Exercisability Upon Termination of Employment by Retirement . Upon a Termination of Employment by reason ofifeetent after
the first anniversary of the date of grant of ani@p an unexercised Option may thereafter be és@daduring the shorter of (i) the remaining
stated term of the Option or (i) five years affee date of such Termination of Employment (thestFRetirement Exercise Period”), but only
to the extent to which such Option was exercisabtbe time of such Termination of Employment ocdsaes exercisable during the Post-
Retirement Exercise Period as if such Participarevstill employed by the Company or an Affiligtepvided, however, that if a Participant
dies within a period of five years after such Taration of Employment, an unexercised Option mayethiter be exercised, during the sha
of (i) the remaining stated term of the Optionigrtbie period that is the longer of (A) five yeafer the date of such Termination of
Employment or (B) one year after the date of déth “Special Exercise Period”), but only to theesm to which such Option was
exercisable at the time of such Termination of Exyipient or becomes exercisable during the Speciatdise Period.

(g) Effect of Other Termination of Employment . Upon a Termination of Employment for any reasothér than death, Disability or
Retirement after the first anniversary of the dstgrant of an Option as described above), an ugesarl Option may thereafter be exercised
during the period ending 30 days after the daguoh Termination of Employment, but only to theeextto which such Option was
exercisable at the time of such Termination of Eyypient. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Comneitteay, in its sole discretion, either
prior written agreement with the Participant or mple occurrence of a Termination of Employmentebarate the vesting of unvested
Options held by a Participant if such Participai#smination of Employment is without “causes(such term is defined by the Committe
its sole discretion) by the Company.



(h) Nontransferability of Sock Options. Except as otherwise provided in Section 17 medptd designation of beneficiaries or in this
Section 7(h), a stock option shall not be trandfierar assignable by the Participant otherwise thawill or by the laws of descent and
distribution, and during the lifetime of a Partiaifi an option shall be exercisable only by thei€pant. An option exercisable after the death
of a Participant or a transferee pursuant to tHeviing sentence may be exercised by the desigrizaedficiary, legatees, personal
representatives or distributees of the Participasuch transferee. The Committee may, in its digmm, authorize all or a portion of the
options previously granted or to be granted tordid¢igant, other than ISOs, to be on terms whichrpeirrevocable transfer for no
consideration by such Participant to any childpsitéd, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandpaspause, former spouse, sibling, niece,
nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-lavaughter-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-lawgciading adoptive relationships, of the
Participant, any trust in which these persons mgee than 50% of the beneficial interest, any faiiwh in which these persons (or the
Participant) control the management of assetsaagther entity in which these persons (or theiépant) own more than 50% of the vot
interests (“Eligible Transferees”), provided thittle stock option agreement pursuant to whichhsptions are granted must be approved by
the Committee, and must expressly provide for fexability in a manner consistent with this Sectiord (ii) subsequent transfers of
transferred options shall be prohibited exceptehinsaccordance with the first sentence of thigiSed(h). The Committee may, in its
discretion, amend the definition of Eligible Tra@sfes to conform to the coverage rules of FormuBeker the Securities Act of 1933 or any
comparable Form from time to time in effect. Follog/transfer, any such options shall continue tsudgect to the same terms and condit
as were applicable immediately prior to transfdre Bvents of Termination of Employment of Sectid(e), 7(f) and 7(g) hereof shall
continue to be applied with respect to the origlaiticipant, following which the options shall éeercisable by the transferee only to the
extent, and for the periods specified, in Sectifo@g, 7(f) and 7(g). The Committee may delegai@ tcommittee consisting of employees of
the Company the authority to authorize transfestgldish terms and conditions upon which trangfeag be made and establish classes of
options eligible to transfer options, as well astake other determinations with respect to optiandfers.

8. Terms and Conditions of Stock Appreciation Righd

(a) Grants. The Committee also may grant (i) a Stock AppitamiaRight independent of an Option or (ii) a Stdghpreciation Right in
connection with an Option, or a portion thereofS#ack Appreciation Right granted pursuant to claiisef the preceding sentence (A) may
be granted at the time the related Option is grhateat any time prior to the exercise or canceliabf the related Option, (B) shall cover the
same Shares covered by an Option (or such lessgvenof Shares as the Committee may determinef@nshall be subject to the same
terms and conditions as such Option except for sdclitional limitations as are contemplated by 8ggtion 8 (or such additional limitations
as may be included in an Award agreement).

(b) Terms. The exercise price per Share of a Stock Apprieci®Right shall be an amount determined by the Cataebut in no event
shall such amount be less than the greater di€ifair Market Value of a Share on the date thekS&ppreciation Right is granted or, in the
case of a Stock Appreciation Right granted in cogiion with an Option, or a portion thereof, theti@p Price of the related Option and
(if) an amount permitted by applicable laws, rul®slaws or policies of regulatory authorities twck exchanges. Each Stock Appreciation
Right granted independent of an Option shall entitParticipant to exercise the Stock Apprecia®aht in whole or in part and, upon such
exercise, to receive from the Company an amourdldgqy(i) the excess of (A) the Fair Market Valuetbe exercise date of one Share over
(B) the exercise price per Share, times (ii) theber of Shares covered by the portion of the Skmbreciation Right so exercised. Each
Stock Appreciation Right granted in conjunctiontwétn Option, or a portion thereof, shall entitleaticipant to surrender to the Company
unexercised Option, or any portion thereof, ancetive from the Company in exchange therefor aoumtnequal to (i) the excess of (A) the
Fair Market Value on the exercise date of one Shaee (B) the Option Price per Share, times (i@ ttumber of Shares covered by the
Option, or portion thereof, which is surrenderedde ate a notice of exercise is received by thefamy shall be the exercise date. Payment
shall be made in Shares or in cash, or partly sxr&hand partly in cash, valued at such Fair Markéte, all as shall be determined by the
Committee. Stock Appreciation Rights may be exectisom time to time upon actual receipt by the @any of written notice of exercise
stating the number of Shares with respect to wiiiehStock



Appreciation Right is being exercised. No fractioBhares will be issued in payment for Stock Apa#en Rights, but instead cash will be
paid for a fraction or, if the Committee shoulddsdermine, the number of Shares will be roundedmeavd to the next whole Share.

(c) Limitations . The Committee may impose, in its discretion, scmhditions upon the exercisability or transferidpibf Stock
Appreciation Rights as it may deem fit.

(d) Limited Stock Appreciation Rights. The Committee may grant LSARs that are exeroésapbn the occurrence of specified
contingent events. Such LSARs may provide for teckht method of determining appreciation, may Bpélat payment will be made only
in cash and may provide that any related Awardsat@xercisable while such LSARs are exercisdlhfdess the context otherwise requires,
whenever the term “Stock Appreciation Right” is dige the Plan, such term shall include LSARs.

9. Other Stock-Based Awards

(a) Generally . The Commiittee, in its sole discretion, may grawards of unrestricted Shares, Restricted StocktriRéed Stock Units
and other Awards that are valued in whole or irt pgreference to, or are otherwise based on tireMaket Value of, Shares (collectively,
“Other Stock-Based Awards”). Such Other Stock-Basewrds shall be in such form, and dependent oh soaditions, as the Committee
shall determine, including, without limitation, thight to receive one or more Shares (or the edgitaash value of such Shares) upon the
completion of a specified period of service, theuwvoence of an event and/or the attainment of perdince objectives. Other Stock-Based
Awards may be granted alone or in addition to atgioAwards granted under the Plan. Subject t@tbeisions of the Plan, the Committee
shall determine to whom and when Other Stock-Baseards will be made; the number of Shares to berd@dhunder (or otherwise related
to) such Other Stock-Based Awards; whether sucleitBtock-Based Awards shall be settled in cashieSha a combination of cash and
Shares; and all other terms and conditions of sweards (including, without limitation, the vestipgovisions thereof).

(b) Performance-Based Awards . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary heremrtain Other Stock-Based Awards granted under this
Section 9 may be granted in a manner that will Entile Company to deduct any amount paid by theg@aammunder Section 162(m) of the
Code (or any successor section thereto) (“Perfocexd@ased Awards”). A Participant’s Performance-Bladevard shall be determined based
on the attainment of one or more pre-establishiejgctive performance goals established in writigghe Committee, for a performance
period established by the Committee, (i) at a timhen the outcome for that performance period istauttially uncertain and (ii) not later tr
90 days after the commencement of the performaadedgto which the performance goal relates, butdrevent after 25% of the relevant
performance period has elapsed. The performands ghall be based upon one or more of the folloveiriggria: (i) earnings before or after
taxes (including earnings before interest, taxeprektiation and amortization); (ii) net incomel) @perating income; (iv) earnings per Share;
(v) book value per Share; (vi) return on stockhadtlequity; (vii) expense management; (viii) retam investment before or after the cost of
capital; (ix) improvements in capital structure) pxofitability of an identifiable business unit product; (xi) maintenance or improvement of
profit margins; (xii) stock price; (xiii) market ake; (xiv) revenues or sales; (xv) costs; (xvi)hclisw; (xvii) working capital; (xviii) changes
in net assets (whether or not multiplied by a camspercentage intended to represent the cospithaand (xix) return on assets. The
foregoing criteria may relate to the Company, onmore of its Affiliates or one or more of its dsions, units, minority investments,
partnerships, joint ventures, product lines or pits or any combination of the foregoing, and maypplied on an absolute basis and/or be
relative to one or more peer group companies acés or any combination thereof, all as the Cormrishall determine. In addition, to the
degree consistent with Section 162(m) of the Codeuy successor section thereto), the performgoaks may be calculated without regard
to extraordinary items or accounting changes. Theimum amount of a Performance-Based Award to amtidant with respect to a fiscal
year of the Company shall be $5,000,000. The Cotaenghall determine whether, with respect to aoperdnce period, the applicat
performance goals have been met with respect teea ¢articipant and, if they have, to so certifiylascertain the amount of the applicable
Performance-Based Award. No Performance-Based Asnwaiitibe paid for such performance period untitlsgertification is made by the
Committee. The amount of the Performance-Based daeatually paid to a given Participant may be thas the amount determined by the
applicable performance



goal formula, at the discretion of the Committeke Bmount of the Performance-Based Award deternige¢tle Committee for a
performance period shall be paid to the Participastuch time as determined by the Committee isals discretion after the end of such
performance period; provided, however, that a Bigant may, if and to the extent permitted by tloen@ittee and consistent with the
provisions of Sections 162(m) and 409A of the Cadiegt prior to the commencement of the relevantises or, if the Performance-Based
Award constitutes performance-based compensatitinithe meaning of Section 409A(a)(4)(B)(iii) et Code and is based on services
performed over a period of at least 12 monthspgttime but no later than six months before the efritie applicable performance period, to
defer payment of a Performance-Based Award uriitdeal date or the date of Participant’s separatiom service with the Company and its
Affiliates (or six months following such separatibmequired by Section 409A of the Code), as dfettin the election to defer.

(c) Terms and Conditions of Restricted Sock and Restricted Sock Units .

(i) Grant . Each grant of Restricted Stock and RestrictediStinits shall be evidenced by an agreement in fapproved by the
Committee. The vesting of a Restricted Stock Awar&estricted Stock Unit granted under the Plan breagonditioned upon the completion
of a specified period of employment with the Companan Affiliate, upon attainment of specified fsemance goals, and/or upon such other
criteria as the Committee may determine in its siideretion.

(i) Receipt of Restricted Stock . As soon as practicable after an Award of Regti@tock has been made to a Participant, there
shall be registered in the name of such Participanf a nominee the number of Shares of Restritedk so awarded. Except as provided in
the applicable agreement, no Shares of Restridtzk $hay be assigned, transferred or otherwiseraheted or disposed of by the Particiy
until such Shares have vested in accordance wathettms of such agreement. If and to the extenthiesapplicable agreement so provides, a
Participant shall have the right to vote and reeeiividends on the Shares of Restricted Stock gdatat him or her under the Plan. Unless
otherwise provided in the applicable agreement,Stmgres received as a dividend on such Restrid¢tadk 8r in connection with a stock split
of the Shares of Restricted Stock shall be sulijeitte same restrictions as the Restricted Stock.

(iii) Payments Pursuant to Restricted Stock Units . Restricted Stock Units may not be assigned, fearexl or otherwise
encumbered or disposed of by the Participant snth Restricted Stock Units have vested in accamlaiith the terms of the applicable
agreement. Upon the vesting of the Restricted Sthuk(unless a deferral election as describethénfbllowing sentence has been made),
certificates for Shares shall be delivered to tagi€ipant or his legal representative on the bastiness day of the calendar quarter in which
such vesting event occurs or as soon thereafigraaticable, in a number equal to the Shares cdusyehe Restricted Stock Unit. A
Participant may, if and to the extent permittedhrsy Committee and consistent with the provisionSedtions 162(m) and 409A of the Code,
elect prior to the grant of the Restricted Stocktldnd the commencement of the relevant servicei ire Restricted Stock Unit constitutes
performance-based compensation within the mearfiggction 409A(a)(4)(B)(iii) of the Code and is bdon services performed over a
period of at least 12 months, at any time but ter llan six months before the end of the appleakiformance period, to defer receipt of
certificates beyond the vesting date until a figate or the date of the Participant’s separatiomfservice with the Company and its
Affiliates (or six months following such separatifsom service if required by Section 409A of thed@p as specified in the election to defer.

(iv) Effect of Termination of Employment or Death . Upon a Termination of Employment by reason otlleRisability or
Retirement, in each case after the first annivgrefthe date of the Award of Restricted Stock esficted Stock Units, the Restricted Stock
or Restricted Stock Units shall immediately vesfuithand all restrictions on such Awards shalhtérate. Upon a Termination of
Employment for any reason other than death, Digglit Retirement after the first anniversary of tihate of the Award of Restricted Stock
Restricted Stock Units, a Participant’s unvestestied Stock and Restricted Stock Units shafidoieited. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Committee may, in its sole discretion, eithgpkior written agreement with the Participant pon the occurrence of a Termination of
Employment, accelerate the vesting of unvestedriReest Stock or Restricted Stock Units held by Bagticipant if such Participant’s
Termination of Employment is without “cause” (aglsterm is defined by the Committee in its soleiton) by the Company.
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10. Adjustments Upon Certain Events

Notwithstanding any other provisions in the Plathte contrary, the following provisions shall appdyall Awards granted under the
Plan:

(a) Generally . In the event of any change in the outstanding&hafter the Effective Date by reason of any Sdasidend or split,
reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consaiihg split-up, spin-off, combination or exchandeShares or other corporate exchange or
similar transaction, or any distribution to stocktess of Shares other than regular cash dividehdsCommittee shall adjust the following to
the extent necessary to achieve an equitable régule number or kind of Shares or other semsiissued or reserved for issuance pursuant
to the Plan or pursuant to outstanding Awardstl{ig) Option Price and/or (iii) any other affecteds of such Awards.

(b) Changein Contral . In the event of a Change in Control, Awards grdninder the Plan shall accelerate as followsagh Option
and Stock Appreciation Right shall become immediiatested and exercisable; provided, however, iffatch Awards are not exercised pi
to the date of the consummation of the Change imti©h the Committee, in its sole discretion anthaut liability to any person, may provi
for (A) the payment of a cash amount in exchangéhie cancellation of such Award and/or (B) theiégsxce of substitute Awards that will
substantially preserve the value, rights and b&nefiany affected Awards (previously granted hedau) as of the date of the consummation
of the Change in Control; (i) restrictions on Awarof restricted shares shall lapse; and (iii) O8teck-Based Awards shall become payable
as if targets for the current period were satiséieti00%.

11. No Right to Employment

The granting of an Award under the Plan shall ingpos obligation on the Company or any Affiliatectmtinue the employment of a
Participant and shall not lessen or affect the Camg{s or Affiliate’s right to terminate the employmt of such Participant.

12. Successors and Assigns

The Plan shall be binding on all successors ardrassf the Company and a Participant, includingheut limitation, the estate of su
Participant and the executor, administrator ortéi®f such estate, or any receiver or trusteamktuptcy or representative of the
Participant’s creditors.

13. Nontransferability of Awards

Except as provided in Section 17 relating to destign of beneficiaries or in Section 7(h) of tharmRlan Award shall not be transferable
or assignable by the Participant otherwise thawitlyor by the laws of descent and distribution.ribig the lifetime of a Participant, an Awe
shall be exercisable only by such Participant. AveAd exercisable after the death of a Participaat bre exercised by the designated
beneficiary, the legatees, personal representativdistributees of the Participant. Notwithstamdémything to the contrary herein, the
Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have ththarity to waive this Section 13 or any part tlér@xcept with respect to ISOs) to the ex
that this Section 13 or any part thereof is notinegl under the rules promulgated under any laig, auregulation applicable to the Compe

14. Amendments or Termination

The Board or the Committee may amend, alter ordiscue the Plan, but no amendment, alteratiorismodtinuation shall be made
which, (a) without the approval of the stockholdefrshe Company, would (except as is provided iati®a 10 of the Plan), increase the total
number of Shares reserved for the purposes ofl#red? change the maximum number of Shares forlwAigards may be granted to any
Participant or (b) without the consent of a Pgpticit, would impair any of the rights or obligatiangder any Award
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theretofore granted to such Participant under tae;Provided, however, that the Board or the Cotrmmimay amend the Plan in such ma
as it deems necessary to permit the granting ofrdsvmeeting the requirements of the Code or othpliGable laws. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, neither the Cortaaihor the Board may amend, alter or discontihagtovisions relating to Section 10(b)
of the Plan after the occurrence of a Change intt@bn

15. International Participants

With respect to Participants who reside or worlsmlé the United States of America and who are avod (vho are not expected to be)
“covered employees” within the meaning of Sectié2(in) of the Code (or any successor section therte Committee may, in its sole
discretion, amend the terms of the Plan or Awaritls mespect to such Participants in order to canfeuch terms with the requirements of
local law.

16. Choice of Law

The Plan shall be governed by and construed inrdaoce with the laws of the State of Delaware apple to contracts made and to be
performed in the State of Delaware.

17. Designation of Beneficiaries

A Participant may file with the Company a writteastgnation of a beneficiary or beneficiaries urtierPlan and may from time to tir
revoke or change any such designation of beneficfany designation of beneficiary under the Plaalkshe controlling over any other
disposition, testamentary or otherwise; providemyéver, that if the Committee shall be in doubtcathe entitlement of any such beneficiary
to any Option, Stock Appreciation Right, unres&itShares, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock dnitgsher Award, the Committee may
determine to recognize only the legal represergaifisuch Participant, in which case the ComparmgyQommittee and the members thereof
shall not be under any further liability to anyone.

18. Effectiveness of the Plan

The Plan, as amended and restated, shall be gfexgiof April 24, 2007, upon its approval by tteckholders at the 2007 Annual
Meeting.
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Exhibit 10.38

Moody’s Corporation
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(as amended and restated December 15, 2008)

(Formerly, The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan)

1. Definitions

(@ “Account” means an Employee Stock Purchase Plan accountaimgidtby the Company or a designated recordke
(b) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Comp:

(c) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ame

(d) “Committee” means the Governance and Compensation Committbe &oard

() “Common Stoct’ means common stock of the Company (formerly, comstook of The Dun & Bradstreet Corporatio

(f)
(9)

(h)
(i)

()
(k)

“Company” means Mood's Corporation, formerly known as The Dun & Bradstr€orporation

“Eligible Compensation” means the total amount paid by the Company or abgi8iary to the Eligible Employee (other than amisu
paid after termination of employment) as salaryg@g overtime, regular cash bonuses and commissindsany portion of such
amounts voluntarily deferred or reduced by theiBlggEmployee under any employee benefit plan ef@lompany or a Subsidiary
available to all levels of Employees on a nondisaratory basis upon satisfaction of eligibility téiggments, but excluding any pension,
retainers, severance pay, special stay-on bonusgyag, income derived from stock appreciation ggirtd stock options and
dispositions of stock acquired thereunder, paymeependent upon any contingency and other spegiaimerations (including
performance units). The Committee shall have tlleaity to determine and approve all forms of paypé included in the definition of
Eligible Compensation and may change the definitiora prospective bas

“Eligible Employe€e” means an Employee eligible to participate in th@Rlursuant to the provisions of sectiol

“Employe€” means an individual classified as an employee {withe meaning of Code section 3401(c) and thelatigns thereunder)
by the Company or a Subsidiary on the Com|'s or such Subsidia’s payroll records during the relevant peri

“Fair Market Value” means the mean of the high and low sales pricassbfre of Common Stock on the New York Stock Engha
on the last trading day of the applicable StockcRase Perioc

“Participating Employee” means an Employee (1) for whom payroll deductiorscarrently being made or (2) for whom payroll
deductions are not currently being made because blee has reached the limitation set forth inisect.



() “Plan” means the Moody’s Corporation 1999 Employee Stagklrase Plan (formerly, The Dun & Bradstreet Coafion 1999
Employee Stock Purchase Pla

(m) “Regular Paychecl’” means any -weekly, limited hour, or monthly base salary payh
(n) “Stock Purchase Perio” means a calendar mon

(o) “Subsidiary” means any present or future corporation whichg3) ‘isubsidiary corporation” of the Company as tean is defined in
Code section 424 and (2) is designated a partiogp&mployer by the Committe

2. Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the Plan is to secure for the Compad its stockholders the benefits of the inceninherent in the ownership of the
Company’s capital stock by present and future Eggss of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The iBlartended to comply with the
provisions of Code sections 421, 423, and 424.Alha may also include sub-plans applicable to ddsi-jurisdictions that are designed tc
outside the scope of Code section 423.

3. Shares Reserved for the Plan

There shall be reserved for issuance and purchaBaticipating Employees under the Plan an agdeagfa3 million shares of Common
Stock, subject to adjustment as provided in sedrShares subject to the Plan may be shares nbereafter authorized but unissued, or
shares that were once issued and subsequentiyisstgy the Company. If and to the extent that ragiyt to purchase reserved shares shall
not be exercised by any Participating Employeefor reason or if such right to purchase shall teate as provided herein, shares that have
not been so purchased hereunder shall again besaaiiable for the purposes of the Plan unless thae $hall have been terminated.

4. Administration of the Plan

The Plan shall be administered, at the expendeeo€bmpany, by the Committee. The Committee caneishot less than three members of
the Board who are not employees of the Companyndnadshall serve at the pleasure of the Board. Térar@ittee may request advice or
assistance from or employ such other persons aseasssary for proper administration of the Plarbj&t to the express provisions of the
Plan, the Committee shall have authority to intetine Plan, to prescribe, amend, and rescind anidgegulations relating to it, and to make
all other determinations necessary or advisabéaministering the Plan, all of which determinatishall be final and binding upon all
persons. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Gtieemay delegate any or all of its administrativgies under the Plan to a committee
consisting of management employees of the Company.

The Committee may adopt rules or procedures rglatinhe operation and administration of the Ptaadcommodate the specific
requirements of local laws and procedures in for@igisdictions. Without limiting the generality tfe foregoing, the Committee is
specifically authorized to adopt rules and proceduegarding the handling of payroll deductiongnpent of interest, conversion of local
currency, payroll tax withholding procedures anddimng the stock certificates which may vary witicdl requirements.
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The Committee may also adopt sub-plans applicabatticular Subsidiaries or locations, which sldmp may be designed to be outside the
scope of Code section 423. The rules of such sambsphay take precedence over other provisionaoPtlhn with the exception of section 3,
but unless otherwise superseded by the terms ofaety sub-plan, the provisions of this Plan shallegn the operation of such sub-plan.

5. Eligible Employees
Each Employee of the Company or any Subsidiaryl Seatligible to participate in the Plan, providedt such Employee:

(@) Isnotin a group of highly compensated empsyas defined in Code section 423(b)(4)(D), thatGommittee determines to be
ineligible to participate in the Plan; a

(b) Does not own, immediately after the right iarged, stock possessing five percent (5%) or mbiieectotal combined voting power or
value of all classes of capital stock of the Conypanof a Subsidiary

In determining stock ownership under this sectipth® rules of Code section 424(d) shall apply stodk that the Employee may purchase
under outstanding options shall be treated as stacied by the Employee.

For purposes of determining eligibility to partiatp in the Plan, (i) a person on an approved ledadsence with his or her employer shall be
deemed to be an Employee for the first 90 daysici feave of absence and (ii) such Employee’s eynpdmt shall be deemed to have
terminated at the close of business on the 90ttoflayich leave of absence unless such Employekhshad returned to regular employment
prior to the close of business on such 90th dagmiretion of any Employee’s leave of absence, othan termination of such leave of
absence on return to regular employment, shallitete an Employee’s employment for all purposethefPlan and shall terminate such
Employee’s participation in the Plan and right toghase shares under the Plan. Notwithstandinfptegoing, the 90-day limit described in
this paragraph shall not apply if the Employeeeave has reemployment rights guaranteed by law opbtract.

6. Election to Participate and Payroll Deductions

Each Eligible Employee may elect to participatéhi@ Plan during the enroliment period establishethb Committee that is just prior to the
applicable Stock Purchase Period. Participatioli Beaome effective as of the beginning of the &tBarchase Period immediately following
the applicable enrollment period during which thigiBle Employee elected to participate in the Plan

Each Eligible Employee may elect a payroll deductidfrom 1% to 10% (in whole percentages) of BligiCompensation. Such percentage
shall be deducted from each Regular Paycheck. Brapof certain overseas Subsidiaries, as detedrbinéhe Committee to be unable to
legally require payroll deductions, may make edctheir payments by personal check rather thanglbgieduction.

Elections under this section 6 are subject toithé ket forth in section 7. All payroll deductioskall be credited, as promptly as practicable,
to an account in the name of the Participating Bygé and may be used by the Company for any cagprapose. No interest will be paid
or allowed on any money paid into the Plan or ¢eetlio the account of any Participating Employeeept as required by law.
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Unless a Participating Employee elects otherwiskfaliows the procedures established by the Coremtiib discontinue or change the rate of
payroll deductions, the rate of payroll deductishall continue through the then-current Stock PaseHPeriod and for future Stock Purchase
Periods, unless the Committee determines to chidmegmaximum permissible contribution rate.

A Participating Employee may at any time cease@gation in the Plan by notifying the Company le tmanner specified by the Committee.
The cessation will be effective as soon as prauiéicavhereupon no further payroll deductions shalmade, and all accumulated payroll
deductions shall be used to purchase shares aisi@dan section 9. Any Participating Employee wieages to participate may elect to
participate during the applicable enrollment pefimda subsequent Stock Purchase Period, if thgibk.

Subject to the requirements of section 5, a Pp#tieig Employee who is on an approved leave ofradeswith his or her employer may
continue to participate in the Plan as though attiemployed so long as such employee continubs tmaid Eligible Compensation.

7. Limitation of Number of Shares That an Employeéviay Purchase

No right to purchase shares under the Plan shatiipan Employee to purchase stock under all emg@atock purchase plans of-
Company and its Subsidiaries at a rate which iratigregate exceeds $25,000 of Fair Market Valisioli stock (determined at the time the
right is granted) for each calendar year in whighright is outstanding at any time.

8. Purchase Price

The purchase price for each share of Common Stuadklse ninety-five percent (95%) of the Fair Mark@lue of such share on the last
trading day of the applicable Stock Purchase Period

9. Method of Purchase and Investment Accounts

As of the last trading day of each Stock Purchas@®®, each Participating Employee shall be deemvétiput any further action, to have
purchased the number of whole and fractional shafr€mmon Stock determined by dividing the amaafrttis or her accumulated payroll
deductions by the purchase price as determineegiiog 8. All such shares shall be deposited imusgp Accounts for the Participating
Employees. All dividends paid with respect to sebhares shall be credited to each Participating Byel's Account, and will be
automatically reinvested in whole and fractionargls of Common Stock.

10. Rights as a Stockholder

At the time funds from a Participating Employeedymll deductions account are used to purchase Gon®iock, he or she shall have all of
the rights and privileges of a stockholder of trmmpany with respect to whole shares purchased uhdd?lan whether or not certificates
representing shares have been issued.

11. Rights Not Transferable

Rights granted under the Plan are not transfetabke Participating Employee other than by will lee taws of descent and distribution and
exercisable during his or her lifetime only by hemher.

12. Adjustment in Case of Changes Affecting the Copany’s Common Stock

In the event of a subdivision of outstanding shafeSommon Stock, or the payment of a stock divilhereon, the number of shares
reserved or authorized to be reserved under threspiall



be increased proportionately, and such other adprst shall be made as may be deemed necessaryitabde by the Committee. In the ev
of any other change affecting the Common Stockh sutjustment shall be made as may be deemed eeguipthe Committee to give proper
effect to such event, subject to the limitation€ofle section 424.

13. Retirement, Termination, and Death

In the event of a Participating Employseétirement, death or termination of employmemirgdpa Stock Purchase Period, the amount of t
her accumulated payroll deductions shall be usquitohase shares of Common Stock on the last gatiig of such Stock Purchase Period.

14. Amendment of the Plan
The Board or the Committee may at any time, or ftone to time, amend the Plan in any respect.

15. Termination of the Plan
The Plan and all rights of Employees hereundel stahinate:

(@ On the last trading day of the Stock Purchas@®@ on which Participating Employees become ledtito purchase a number of shares
greater than the number of reserved shares rengaamvigilable for purchase;

(b) Atany time, at the discretion of the Board or @@mmittee.

In the event that the Plan terminates under cirt¢anees described in subsection (a) above, ressha@s remaining as of the termination
date shall be sold to Participating Employees proarata basis based on the total amount of pagieallictions accumulated by all
Participating Employees during the applicable St®akchase Period. Accumulated payroll deductiorexagess of the amount needed to
purchase the reserved shares remaining underdhnesRéll be refunded to the Participating Employeea pro rata basis.

16. Effective Date of the Plan

The Plan shall be effective as of January 1, 198@.Plan has been approved by the holders of arityagd the Common Stock of The Dun
Bradstreet Corporation on April 20, 1999. Effect®etober 2, 2000, the Plan was amended to refiectihange of name from The Dun &
Bradstreet Corporation 1999 Employee Stock PurcRé&seto the Moody’s Corporation 1999 Employee ktearchase Plan. Effective
December 15, 2008, the Plan was amended to chamnigéncprovisions.

17. Governmental and Other Regulations

The Plan, and the grant and exercise of the righpairchase shares hereunder, and the Companygstibh to sell and deliver shares upon
the exercise of rights to purchase shares, shalbgct to all applicable Federal, state, andl llaees, rules and regulations, and to such
approvals by any regulatory or governmental agexscyay, in the opinion of counsel for the Compéeyrequired.

18. No Employment Rights

The Plan does not, directly or indirectly, createny Employee or class of employees any right véipect to continuation of employment
the Company or a Subsidiary, and it shall not e to interfere in any way with the Company’sher Subsidiary’s right to terminate, or
otherwise modify, an Employee’s employment at amet



19. Effect of Plan

The provisions of the Plan shall, in accordancé i terms, be binding upon, and inure to the fieog all successors of each Participating
Employee, including, without limitation, such Paipiating Employee’s estate and the executors, adtrators, or trustees thereof, and the
heirs and legatees and any receiver, trustee ikrbpity, or representative of creditors of suchtiBi@ating Employee.

20. Governing Law
The internal laws of the State of New York govelimmatters relating to the Plan.
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ARTICLE |
INTRODUCTION

1.1 Adoption and Purpose of the Plafhe Plan is hereby amended and restated effeasivd January 1, 2008 (the “Effective Date”).
The purpose of the Plan is to provide Employeeh thi&€ opportunity to pay health insurance premiuwagain accident or health expenses
and certain dependent care expenses on a befobax$éxby means of salary reduction.

1.2 Cafeteria Plan Statu3he Plan is intended to qualify as a “CafetetanPunder Code Section 125, including a dependarg
assistance program under Code Section 129 and iahsgimbursement plan under Code Section 109{d.Plan is to be interpreted in a
manner consistent with the requirements of Cod¢i@ex105, 106, 125, and 129.

ARTICLE II
DEFINITIONS

The following terms when used in the Plan shallehthe following meanings unless a different meamsngearly required by the
context.

2.1 “Administrator” means the person appointed ftome to time by the Company to administer the Péanprovided in Article VIII.
2.2 “COBRA” means the health care continuation cage provisions of Code Section 4980B.

2.3 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 188&mended from time to time. Reference to angifiperovision of the Code
shall include such provision and any valid regolasi promulgated thereunder, and any comparablégpsowof future legislation that ament
supplements, or supersedes such provision.

2.4 “Company” means Moody’s Corporation.

2.5 “Compensation” means an Employee’s total cashiegs received from the Employer during a Plaaryprior to any salary
reductions under this Plan, any other Code Sedtnplan, or any Code Section 401(k) plan.

2.6 “Continuation Participant” means any formertiegrant and any current or former spouse or Depehdf a Participant who
participates in the Plan in accordance with Artile

2.7 “Contributions” means amounts paid under ttaRInd allocated (i) to pay insurance or other prera on behalf of a Participant,
(i) to the Health Care Reimbursement Account Bfaaticipant or Continuation Participant, or (i) the Dependent Care Reimbursement
Account of a Participant, for the purpose of pravidbenefits under the Pla



2.8 “Default Benefits” means benefits which will &ssigned to an Eligible Employee who fails toraffitively elect benefits for a Plan
Year during the applicable Enrollment Period, parguo Article IV hereunder.

2.9 “Dependent” means, with respect to any Paditipan individual defined in Code Section 152.

2.10 “Dependent Care Reimbursement Account” mearacaount established pursuant to Article VI arttirmeforth a Participant’s
interest in the Plan used to reimburse Dependerg Exgpenses.

2.11 “Dependent Care Benefits” means the reimbues¢mf Dependent Care Expenses as provided unelétam.

2.12 “Dependent Care Expenses” means expensesréhiicurred by a Participant (i) for the care ojualified individual, or for related
household services, and (ii) to enable the Pagtitipo be gainfully employed for any period for aeithere are one or more such qualified
individuals with respect to such Participant.

If such expenses are incurred for services provalaside the Participant’'s household by a depencinet center (as defined in Code
Section 21(b)(2)(D)), they shall be Dependent Gaeenses only if such center meets all applicaies land regulations of the applicable
state or unit of local government. Dependent CaqgeBses shall not include any amount paid for sesvoutside the Participant’s household
at a camp where the qualified individual stays oigdt, or any amount paid to an individual withpest to whom, for the Plan year, a
deduction is allowable under Code Section 151(sutth Participant or the spouse of such Particjmanwho is a child of such Participant
(within the meaning of Code Section 151(c)(3)) urttie age of 19 at the close of the Plan Year.

For purposes of this definition, a qualified indiual is (i) a Participant’s Dependent who is uraige 13 and with respect to whom the
Participant is the custodial parent (in the evkat the Participant is divorced or separated),isueatitled to a deduction under Code
Section 151(c), or (ii) a Participant’s spouse epBndent who is physically or mentally incapableaing for himself and who regularly
spends at least 8 hours each day in the Parti¢ipamtisehold.

2.13 “Eligible Employee” means any full-time or pime Employee who is regularly scheduled to watrkeast 20 hours a week for the
Employer, and is eligible to participate in therPia accordance with Section 3.1.

2.14 “Employee” means any individual employed by Bmployer and classified as a common-law employélee Employer in the
Employer’s payroll records. An individual who isskified as a “leased employee” (as described deGection 414(n)) shall not be an
Employee for purposes of the Plan.

2.15 “Employer” means Moody’s Corporation or angassor company, and such of its partially or whoilned subsidiary compan
as may from time to time, be authorized by the Baarthe Administrator to participate in the Plaithwespect to all or some of its Eligible
Employees and which have adopted the Plan.



2.16 “Enrollment Period” means the period priothte beginning of each Plan Year during which ElgiBmployees may elect benefit
hereunder. The Enroliment Period shall be estaddistnnually by the Administrator, and shall be iagokeno less than 30 days prior to the
beginning of the Plan Year. In addition, the Admetrator may establish special Enrollment Periodsiéwly eligible Employees.

2.17 “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Incoraeusity Act of 1974, as amended from time to tilReference to any specific
provision of ERISA shall include such provision any valid regulations promulgated thereunder,amdcomparable provision of future
legislation that amends, supplements, or supersaadsprovision.

2.18 “Explanation of Benefits” means a statememtfia medical or dental plan or health maintenamgargzation concerning benefits
provided to an individual.

2.19 “Health Care Reimbursement Account” meanscanunt established pursuant to Article V and sgttorth the interest of a
Participant or Continuation Participant in the Pleed to reimburse Health Care Expenses.

2.20 “Health Care Benefits” means the reimbursernéhtealth Care Expenses as provided under the Plan

2.21 “Health Care Expenses” means, with respeatRarticipant, expenses incurred by the Particjgastspouse, Dependent for
“medical care” as defined in Code Section 213(dj,dnly to the extent that the Participant or oferson incurring such expenses is not
reimbursed for, and is not eligible for reimbursainaf, such expenses through insurance or othemwider any accident or health plan other
than this Plan and cannot deduct such expenses Gode Section 213. The term “Health Care Expendes$ not include any premium paid
for medical and/or dental coverage.

2.22 “Medical Plan” means the programs for medipedscription drug, vision and/or dental coveragevijoled to Employees of the
Employer, as evidenced by the documents, conteaxctsiescriptive materials governing such coverhgee(nafter referred to as the “Policy.”
The term “Medical Plan” includes the benefit dgstions, types, amounts, options and coverage lewelsr the Policy, the participation
requirements under the Policy, and such other tarmsconditions as are set forth in and are aggkd® such Policy, as the same may be
amended from time to time.

2.23 “Participant” means any Employee who partitgpan the Plan in accordance with Article Ill.

2.24 “Plan” means the Moody’s Corporation Cafet®i@n as set forth herein together with any andratndments and supplements
thereto. The Plan is hereby amended and restdtsctieé as of January 1, 2008.
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2.25 “Plan Year” means the period beginning onBffective Date and ending on the following Decembgrand the twelve-month
period ending on each December 31 thereafter.

2.26 “Qualifying Event” means the termination dParticipant’s employment for any reason other thiargross misconduct, a loss of
eligibility due to a reduction in the hours of arfRapant’s customary employment, the death of di€lpant, the divorce or legal separation of
a Participant and his spouse, or a Participanpeddent child ceasing to be covered as a Depenfleath event occurs during a Plan Year
for which the Participant has chosen to receiveltHézare Benefits.

2.27 "Salary Reduction Agreement” means an agreebetween a Participant and the Employer that dréidipant shall receive an
allocation of Contributions for a Plan Year instexidhis full Compensation in cash.

A pronoun or adjective in the masculine genderidek the feminine gender, and the singular incltiteglural, unless the context
clearly indicates otherwise.

ARTICLE Il
PARTICIPATION

3.1 Commencement of ParticipatioBach Eligible Employee shall be eligible to papate in the Plan as of his or her date of hire or
rehire. Such Eligible Employee may become a Paditi by executing a Salary Reduction Agreementragided in Section 4.1.

3.2 Cessation of Participatior\ Participant will cease to be a Participant he date on which he ceases to be an Eligiblel&yep.

3.3 Continuation of ParticipatiorA Participant who would otherwise cease to baiépant under Section 3.2 because of a Qualtifyin
Event, or a Participant’s spouse or dependent ettildl would otherwise cease to receive benefits utidePlan because of a Qualifying
Event, may elect to become a Continuation Partitipaaccordance with Article VIl for the purposkcontinuing to receive health care
coverage as required by COBRA. If the QualifyingeBtis the divorce or legal separation of the Eigdint and his spouse, or the dependent
child’s ceasing to be a covered Dependent, theepirg sentence shall not apply to any individudéssithe Participant, or the Participant’s
spouse or dependent child, provides notice to tth@iAistrator of the Qualifying Event within 60 dagiter the date the individual would
otherwise cease to be eligible to receive benefitker the Plan.

3.4 Reinstatement of Former ParticipaAtformer Participant will become a Participantigigas of the date on which he again becomes
an Eligible Employee and may participate in accoogawith Section 3.1.

ARTICLE IV
BENEFIT OPTIONS AND SALARY REDUCTION

4.1 Benefit Options A Participant may choose under the Plan to reckis full Compensation for any Plan Year in cashp receive
benefits under the Plan for any Plan Year purstmatSalary Reduction Agreement. As of the Effexidate, the benefits available for each
Plan Year are:

(a) Payment of premiums under the Medical Plan;



(b) The reimbursement of Health Care Expenses tipetonaximum amount determined by the Administrgtoovided in
accordance with Article V; and

(c) The reimbursement of Dependent Care Expensés $,000 ($2,500 in the case of a married Paiti filing his federal tax
return separately from his spouse), provided iroatance with Article VI.

4.2 Election Procedure and Salary Reduction Agre¢ésne

(a) Each Eligible Employee immediately prior to tffective Date who desires to become a Particifarthe Plan Year
commencing with the Effective Date shall file aaation with the Administrator at such time as deatgd by the Administrator. By filing
such an election, the Eligible Employee shall bee@nfParticipant and his election shall become g¥ieas of the Effective Date. An Eligible
Employee who first becomes an Eligible Employe@bpafter the Effective Date (or an Eligible Empley&ho returns to employment status
as an Eligible Employee on or after the Effectivatd®) shall become a Participant by filing an etactivith the Administrator prior to the
thirty-first (31st) day beginning with the date whiae became an Eligible Employee (or) returnedligitite Employee status); provided,
however, that an election filed hereunder at a tither than during an annual Enroliment Period matyinclude an election of Health Care
Benefits or Dependent Care Benefits. Subject tdi@ed.5, such elections may be made only during§amliment Period.

Except as provided in Section 4.5 of the Plan, lggitte Employee who fails to file his election Wih the time periods provided for in
the preceding provisions of this Section 4.2 shatlbe eligible to file an election for the apphbtaPlan Year. Such Eligible Employee may,
however, file an election with respect to any sgbsat Plan Year, as provided in Section 4.2(b)yidex such Eligible Employee is then
eligible to be a Participant.

(b) The Administrator shall provide a written eleatform (which shall include a Salary Reductionrégment form to the extent
required by the Administrator and may be in elautrdormat) to each Eligible Employee during thediment Period prior to the beginning
of each Plan Year. Each election form must be cetadland returned to the Administrator on or befueh date as the Administrator shall
specify, which date shall be no later than thedast of the Plan Year in which the relevant EnreliimPeriod occurs. The election form shall
be effective as of the first day of the next Plaral.

(c) Each Participant who desires to receive benafider the Plan during the Plan Year shall spél#ytype and amount of such
benefits on his election form and shall executalar$ Reduction Agreement. The Participant shallehect Health Care Benefits in excess of
the limits on Contributions to Health Care Reimleungnt Accounts under Section 5.3(ii), or Depen@are Benefits in excess of the limits
on Contributions to Dependent Care Reimbursemenbiéats under Section 6.3. The amount of the reduidti the Participant’s
Compensation for the Plan Year shall be equaléathount of benefits that he has elected.
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4.3 Failure To ElectA Participant failing to return a completed eleatform to the Administrator on or before the riegd due date
pursuant to Section 4.2 above shall be deemedvi® délacted to continue in effect for the applica®len Year the benefits in effect for the
immediately preceding Plan Year, except that ndtHézare Benefits or Dependent Care Benefits dlmtleemed to be elected. If the Elig
Employee had no coverage for the preceding Plam, Yeashall be deemed to have elected no benefiesihder for the current Plan Year.

4.4 Changes by Administratoif the Administrator determines, before or durargy Plan Year, that the Plan may fail to satisfysuch
Plan Year any nondiscrimination requirement or Emytation on contributions or benefits imposedthg Code, the Administrator shall take
such action as the Administrator deems approprnisteer rules uniformly applicable to similarly sited Participants, to assure compliance
with such requirement or limitation. Such actionynveclude, without limitation, a modification ofélelections made by any Participant who
is a key employee (within the meaning of Code ®actil6(i)(1)), a principal shareholder or ownertlivi the meaning of Code Section 129
(d)(4)), or highly compensated (within the meanifig¢ode Sections 105(h)(5), 125(e), or 414(q),mdieable)), with or without the consent
of such Participant.

4.5 Irrevocability of Election by Participant dugifPlan Year An election and any Salary Reduction Agreemerdanander the Plan (or
deemed to be made pursuant to Section 4.3) shalldwecable by the Participant during the Planryealess there is a change in status. A
Participant may revoke a benefit election for théabce of a Plan Year and file a new election dfrithyth the revocation and the new election
are on account of and are consistent with the ahangtatus.

A change in status for this purpose includes:

(a) Events that change the Participant’s legal talestatus, including the following: marriage, deaf the Participant’s spouse,
divorce, legal separation, and annulment.

(b) Events that change the number of the Partitipatependents including the following: birth, deattioption, and placement 1
adoption.

(c) Events that change the Participant’s employrstattis or the employment status of the Participapbuse or dependent
including: a termination or commencement of emplepma strike or lockout, a commencement of orrrettom an unpaid leave of absence
and a change in work site.

(d) Events that cause the Participant’s dependesrtisfy or cease to satisfy eligibility requirertsefor coverage on account of
attainment of age, student status, or any simitaumstance.



(e) If the Participant, or the Participant’s spqus®d/or a dependent are entitled to special aneuit rights under a group health
plan, the Participant may exercise the enrollmighits as provided for in Code Section 9801(f).

(f) If a judgment, decree or order from a courtuiegs a Participant’'s dependent child to be coveratkr this Plan, the Participant
may change his or her election to provide covefagthe child. Conversely, if the order requiresther individual to provide coverage, the
Participant may change his or her election to revakverage for his or her child.

(9) If the Participant, or the Participant’s spaused/or a dependent who is enrolled in the Plaotes enrolled in Medicare or
Medicaid, the Participant may cancel or reduce e for the person who becomes enrolled in MedioaMedicaid. Conversely, if the
Participant, or the Participant’s spouse and/ce@eddent who was covered under Medicare or Medioa&b this coverage, the Participant is
allowed to make a prospective election to commemdecrease coverage for the person who loses Mealior Medicaid coverage under the
Plan.

(h) If the cost of the coverage under the Emplayerédical care program significantly increasesemrelases, the Participant is
allowed to either increase or decrease prospegthislor her contribution amounts or make anotlest®n to elect an option providing
similar coverage. In cases of insignificant decee@sincrease in cost of coverage, the Plan with@matically adjust the Participant’s payroll
deduction to reflect the difference in cost. Theibaf whether a change in cost is significanheignificant is determined on a group level,
not on an individual level. Regarding the Dependeate Reimbursement Account, the Participant magelo increase his contributions in
the event that the provider of services increaseeés during the Plan Year, as long as the peowtiservices is not a relative. Conversely,
should the Participant choose to remove his depe(sjdrom child care or the need for child carerdases, the Participant is allowed to
decrease his or her Dependent Care ReimbursemenuAcelection accordingly.

(i) If the Participant’s coverage under the Emplogenedical care program is significantly curtailéet Participant may revoke |
or her election and elect another plan option withilar coverage. Also if the Plan adds a new biedefing the Plan Year, the Participant
may elect the newly added option. Conversely,afftan should drop an existing benefit, the Paaici is allowed to choose another benefit
which provides similar coverage. Further, the Bagdint is allowed to make an election change utitePlan of the Participant’s spouse,
former spouse, or dependent’s employer, providinthé employer plan of the Participant’s spouseqter spouse, or dependent’s employer
permits participants to make an election changewbald be permitted under the Status Change rndatained in this document; or (i) the
Participant’s plan permits participants to makeskattion for a period of coverage that is differisot the period of coverage under the Plan
of the Participant’s spouse, former spouse, or gget’'s employer.

Any new election under this Section 4.5 shall Heative at such time as the Administrator shalkpribe, but not earlier than the
first pay period beginning after the election fasmtompleted and returned to the Administrator.
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4.6 Automatic Termination of ElectiamAn election and any Salary Reduction Agreemerdenander the Plan (or deemed to be made
under Section 4.3) shall automatically terminateétmnday on which a Participant ceases to be @kt in the Plan. Coverage for Health
Care Benefits may continue or be reinstated textent provided by Article VII.

4.7 Unused Contributions or BenefitSubject to the last sentence of this Sectioni#at the end of any Plan Year it is determineat th
the amount of Contributions on behalf of a Partiaipexceeds the cost of providing the benefitsteteby the Participant for such Plan Year,
the excess shall be forfeited and used to paydbis ©f administering the Plan and/or any lossesriad under the Plan. Any excess
forfeitures shall be used to reduce the cost ofidhog benefits to Participants for the next suckieg Plan Year, pursuant to Sections 5.8 and
6.8. A Participant’s unused Contributions or besefiay not be carried over to provide benefitauchdParticipant in a subsequent Plan Year;
provided, however, that unused Contributions fBtan Year may be used to provide benefits witheesm expenses incurred in the 2-1/2
months following the end of such Plan Year.

ARTICLE V
HEALTH CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNTS

5.1 Establishment of Account§he Administrator shall maintain a Health Carénfteirsement Account for each Participant who has
elected to receive Health Care Benefits.

5.2 Crediting AccountsContributions credited to the Health Care Reimsborent Account of a Participant shall be made tjftou
payroll deductions pursuant the Participant's SaReduction Agreement in effect for a Plan Year.

5.3 Account Limits The total Contributions to the Health Care Reirsbment Account of a Participant during any Plaar¥shall not
exceed the lesser of (i) the amount elected by#récipant or (ii) the maximum amount determingdh®e Administrator. The Administrator
may limit such Contributions by a Participant ttmaer amount in its discretion, to the extent slictitation is permitted by applicable law.

5.4 Health Care Benefits

(a) A Participant may only seek reimbursement flrosnHealth Care Reimbursement Account for Healtre@xpenses incurred
during a Plan Year or within 2-1/2 months after ¢imel of such Plan Year for which he has electeddeive Health Care Benefits. All claims
for benefits shall be submitted on such form onfeas the Administrator shall prescribe (which fhayn electronic form), by no later than
the May 31 following the end of the Plan Year taabhsuch claims relate.

(b) All claims for Health Care Benefits shall indiany supporting documentation required by the iddtnator documenting that
the Health Care Expenses have been incurred arahthant of such expenses.

(c) All claims for Health Care Benefits shall als® accompanied by a written statement from thedizant that the Health Care
Expenses have not been reimbursed and are notuesatile under any other health plan.
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(d) The Administrator shall have the authority éguire the Participant to submit such additionfdrimation as may be necessary
to verify that the expense constitutes a reimbuesdlealth Care Expense.

5.5 Maximum Benefits The maximum amount of Health Care Benefits abéglat any time during a Plan Year shall be thewarho
determined under Section 5.3, less any such bemeBviously paid to the Participant with respectuch Plan Year.

5.6 Account AdjustmentsThe Administrator shall from time to time adjtis¢ Health Care Reimbursement Account of a Paditips
described below:

(a) Contributions for a Plan Year shall be credasdhey are paid.
(b) Health Care Benefits shall be charged as thepaid in accordance with the Participant’s claforsa Plan Year.

(c) Following the last day for submission of claifosa Plan Year, a charge shall be made suffid@etiminate any remaining
balance in the account applicable to such Plan,Yeach amount shall be forfeited in accordanceénv@éection 5.8.

Such adjustments shall be accounted for separfatedach Plan Year for which a Participant hastelbto receive Health Care Benef

5.7 Terminations Except as otherwise provided in Article VII, Cobtitions to the Health Care Reimbursement Accodiat Participar
and benefits thereunder shall automatically terteima of the date the Participant ceases to betiaipant in the Plan pursuant to Section !
However, the terminated Participant may continugeiek reimbursement in accordance with Sectioffios.Mealth Care Expenses incurred
during the portion of the Plan Year in which he w&aRarticipant, up to the maximum amount for suielm ear, determined under
Section 5.5.

5.8 Forfeitures Except as provided in Section 4.7, a Particigauall not carry over any unused Health Care Ben&fim one Plan Ye:
into a succeeding Plan Year, and any amount renminithe Health Care Reimbursement Account ofréidiaant after the last day for the
submission of claims for the Plan Year to whichhsamount relates shall be forfeited. Forfeituresldbe used first to defray administrative
expenses and/or losses of the Plan. Any excesstiods shall be allocated on any reasonable aifidrombasis to the Health Care
Reimbursement Accounts of all Participants, to fyaiad to reimburse Health Care Expenses incurré¢da Plan Year following the year of
the forfeiture.

ARTICLE VI
DEPENDENT CARE REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNTS

6.1 Establishment of Account§he Administrator shall Maintain a Dependent CReémbursement Account for each Participant who
has elected to receive Dependent Care Benefits.




6.2 Crediting AccountsContributions credited to the Dependent Care Ramsement Account of a Participant shall be madsuth
payroll deductions pursuant to the Participant’&§aReduction Agreement in effect for a Plan Year.

6.3 Account Limits The total Contributions to the Dependent CarerfRersement Account of a Participant during any Rlaar shall
not exceed the lesser of (i) the amount electetthéyParticipant or (ii) $5,000, or, in the casaaharried Participant filing his federal tax
return separately from his spouse, $2,500. Nottatiting the preceding sentence, a Participant maglact to make Contributions to such
account that exceed his earned income for the Yan (within the meaning of Code Section 129(b))fdess, the earned income of his
spouse if he is married on the last day of the Rlear. In the case of a spouse who is a full-titndent at an educational institution or is
physically or mentally incapable of caring for heifssuch spouse shall be deemed to have earnetheof $200 per month (or such greater
actual amount) if the Participant has one qualifietividual and $400 per month if the Participaastwo or more qualified individuals.

6.4 Dependent Care Benefits

(a) A Participant may only seek reimbursement flrosnDependent Care Reimbursement Account for Demr@are Expenses
incurred during a Plan Year for which he has etttereceive Dependent Care Benefits. All claimsbienefits shall be submitted on such
form or forms as the Administrator shall prescriiaich may be in electronic form), by no later ththa May 31 following the end of the P!
Year to which such claims relate.

(b) All claims for Dependent Care Benefits shatllide any supporting documentation required byAttieinistrator documenting
that the Dependent Care Expenses have been inamcetthe amount of such expenses. Unless othedstsemined by the Administrator, t
documentation shall include a written statemennftbe Participant indicating the nature of the @argype of services furnished, the name of
the care provider, the dates the care was rendéredates the care was paid, the amount chargddirey other information that the
Administrator may require to comply with applicaldes and regulations, including the following: Ifithe Participant is divorced or
separated, a statement that the Participant isusiedial parent, and (ii) if the care is providisda dependent care center, certification from
such center that it meets all applicable statelaral regulations.

6.5 Maximum Benefits The maximum amount of Dependent Care Benefitdadbla at any time during a Plan Year shall beah®unt
in a Participant’s Dependent Care Reimbursemenbiatcat such time. Such amount shall be the amattnitbutable to the Participant’s
Contributions for such Plan Year that have bearcatkd to the Participant’'s Dependent Care Reingbuest Account and not yet paid to the
Participant as of the relevant date.

6.6 Account AdjustmentsThe administrator shall from time to time adijtst Dependent Care Reimbursement Account of acieatit
as described below:

(a) Contributions for a Plan Year shall be credasdhey are paid.
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(b) Dependent Care Benefits shall be charged gsatteepaid in accordance with the Participant’sncéafor a Plan Year.

(c) Following the last day for submission of claifosa Plan Year, a charge shall be made suffidetiminate any remaining
balance in the account applicable with Section 6.8.

Such adjustments shall be accounted for separfategdach Plan Year for which a Participant hastelbto receive Dependent Care
Benefits.

6.7 Terminations Contributions to the Dependent Care Reimburseeadunt of a Participant shall automatically temate as of the
date the Participant ceases to be a ParticipaheiRlan pursuant to Section 3.2. However, if thdi€ipant has not received his maximum
Dependent Care Benefits for the Plan Year in whielteases to be a Participant (determined undéin®&c5 as of the date he ceases
participation), he may continue to seek reimbursgrimreaccordance with Section 6.4 for Dependene@apenses incurred during the por
of the Plan Year in which he was a Participant.

6.8 Forfeitures Except as provided in Section 4.7, a Particigaiall not carry over any unused Dependent Caref@efrmm one Plan
Year into a succeeding Plan Year, and any amoumireng in the Dependent Care Reimbursement AccouatParticipant after the last day
for the submission of claims for the Plan Year tick such amount relates shall be forfeited. Farfes shall be used first to defray
administrative expenses and/or losses of the Rlay excess forfeitures shall be allocated on aagoaable and uniform basis to the
Dependent Care Reimbursement Accounts of all Paaitits, to be applied to reimburse Dependent Capefises incurred in the Plan Year
following the year of the forfeiture.

6.9 Principal Shareholder or Owners Exceptidio the extent applicable to the Employer, notertban 25 percent of the amounts paid
for Dependent Care Benefits during a Plan Year beagrovided for the class of Participants who aareholders or owners of such
Employer (or their spouses or Dependents), eagrhom (on any day of the Plan Year) owns more thpargent of the stock or of the cap
or profits interest in such Employer. Ownershigstafck in the Employer shall be determined in acaocg with the rules of Code
Section 1563(d) and (e) without regard to Codei8ed563(e)(3)(C). Ownership of an interest in amaorporated Employer shall be
determined in accordance with regulations presdriipethe Secretary of the Treasury.

6.10 Notice to MembersThe Administrator shall furnish each Participaio has received Dependent Care Benefits duringraYear
a written statement showing the amounts paid arrhed by the Employer in providing such benefitsintyithe Plan Year. Such written
statement shall be furnished at such time as detechby the Administrator following the close o&thapplicable Plan Year.

ARTICLE VII
CONTINUATION PARTICIPATION

7.1 Election of Continuation Participatior\s soon as practicable, the Administrator shadljae a written notice and election form to
each individual who may elect under
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Section 3.3 to become a Continuation ParticipathiénPlan. The election form shall be effectivethe date on which the individual would
otherwise cease to receive benefits under the Ekrh individual who desires to become a Contimnafarticipant in the Plan to receive
Health Care Benefits shall so specify on his ebectorm. Each election form must be completed a&tdrned to the Administrator on before
the date that is 60 days after the later of (i)dhte on which the Qualifying Event occurs orftfig date on which the notice and election form
are provided to such individual.

7.2 Benefits

(a) A Continuation Participant shall elect and reedlealth Care Benefits in accordance with Artd¥, V, and other relevant
provisions of the Plan. An election pursuant tot®ac7.1 shall continue the election of Health CRBemefits made or deemed to have been
made by the Continuation Participant (or the Cargtion Participant’s spouse or parent) pursuaAirticle IV for the Plan Year in which the
Qualifying Event occurs.

(b) A Continuation Participant shall not be eligilhb elect or to receive any benefits under tha Bther than Health Care
Benefits.

7.3 Payment of ContributionsA Continuation Participant shall be required &y pnonthly Contributions to his Health Care
Reimbursement Account as of the effective dataelection to continue participation. The amounguch Contributions (on an annualized
basis) shall equal the amount of Health Care Bentifat he has elected to receive for the Plan,\astusted by the Administrator on a
uniform and nondiscriminatory basis to include adgitional amount that may be charged to an indadi@lecting health care continuation
coverage under COBRA.

7.4 Cessation of Continuation Participatioh Continuation Participant will cease to be a tdmmation Participant as of the earlier of
(i) the date on which he fails to make timely paytaf a Contribution due under Section 7.3, (i§ thate on which he elects to discontinue
fails to make a required election to continue,dadicipation in the Plan, or (iii) the date on winihis right under COBRA to continue health
care coverage under the Plan expires. A Continud@articipant who returns to service as an Empleyieout a break in participation shall
be reinstated as a Participant without any chamdpsi election. All other former Participants st reinstated as a Participant in accordance
with Section 3.4.

ARTICLE VI
ADMINISTRATION

8.1 Administrator. The Company shall select an Administrator, ardhsAdministrator will have full power to administire Plan in all
of its details, subject to applicable requiremeritiw, provided that the Plan is carried out inoadiscriminatory fashion, in accordance with
its terms, and for the exclusive benefit of Papticits and their Dependents. The Company shall nkggigone or more of its employees as
liaison to the Administrator, with authority, powand responsibility to perform all duties and sypatd transmit all information and reports
with respect to Employees of each Employer to entii# Administrator to discharge properly its deitider the Plan, and to achieve
compliance by the Company with reporting, disclesamd other requirements of ERISA.
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8.2 Powers and Authority; Action ConclusivExcept as otherwise expressly provided in the:Pla
(a) The Administrator will have all powers necegsarhelpful for the carrying out of its responéii®s.

(b) The Administrator may delegate to one or maespns the right to act on its behalf in any onmore matters connected with
the administration of the Plan.

(c) Without limiting the generality of the foregginthe Administrator will have the power to makéesuand regulations for the
administration of the Plan that are consistent Withterms and provisions of the Plan, to interpret construe all terms, provisions,
conditions and limitations of the Plan, and to deiae all questions arising out of, or in connectwith, the provisions of the Plan or its
administration in any and all cases in which thenimdstrator deems a determination advisable. Thésas or actions taken by the
Company, the Administrator or its delegates in gfadtth in respect of any matter hereunder, inclgdiecisions regarding claims for benefits,
will be conclusive and binding upon all parties cemed.

The foregoing list of powers is not intended tceltber complete or exclusive and the Administratdk, in addition, have such powers
as it may determine to be necessary for the pedbom of its duties under the Plan.

8.3 Indemnification To the extent permitted by law, any person whani€mployee, officer and/or director of the Conypsimall be
indemnified by the Company and held harmless agamgclaims, and the expenses of defending agsiras$t claims, resulting from any
action or conduct connected with or related toRfen or the administration of the Plan, unless ferson has acted in bad faith or in a
grossly negligent fashion, or has willfully negkedthis duties, in respect of the Plan.

8.4 Counsel and Assent3he Administrator may employ such counsel (intigdegal counsel, who may be counsel for the Carypa
and agents, and may arrange for such clerical Hret services, as the Administrator may requireairrying out the provisions of the Plan.
Neither the Company nor the Administrator shallikle for the acts or omissions of any person bomv responsibilities are delega
pursuant to this Section 8.4, except as otherwigeiged by law.

8.5 Genuineness of DocumeniBhe Administrator, the Company, and their respeatfficers, directors, and employees will be tedi
to rely upon any notice, request, consent, letédegram or other paper or document believed bytbeany of them to be genuine and to |
been signed or sent by the proper person, andwiillilly protected in respect of any action takesudfered by them in good faith reliance
thereon.

8.6 Proper ProofIn any case in which the Company or the Admiaisir is required under the Plan to take action uperoccurrence
any event, they will be under no obligation to takeh action unless and until proper and satisfa@eidence of such occurrence has been
received by them.
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8.7 Claims ProcedureThe Administrator shall establish such claimscprdures as it deems necessary and appropriategéndance
with the terms and conditions of the Plan. A clémreimbursement under a Dependent Care ReimberseAccount shall not be deemed
denied solely because payment is deferred until sowe as there are sufficient funds credited @RAarticipant’s Account to pay such claim.
If a claim for reimbursement is denied (or deniegart) by the Administrator, the claimant shallgdeen notice in writing of such denial
within 90 days after receipt of the claim (or iesfal circumstances require an extension of timrétem notice of the extension shall be
furnished to the claimant, indicating the speciadumstances requiring the extension of time aredddite by which the Plan expect to rend
decision. In no event shall such extension exceeatiditional 90 days). The notice of a denial ofeam shall be written in a manner
calculated to be understood by the claimant antl séforth the following information:

(a) the specific reason or reasons for such denial;
(b) a specific reference to pertinent Plan provision which the denial is based,;

(c) description of any additional material or infaation necessary for the claimant to perfect therchnd an explanation of why
such material or information is necessary;

(d) An explanation of the Plan’s claims procedurd the time limits applicable to such procedunesiuding a statement of the
claimant’s right to bring a civil action under seat502(a) of ERISA.

Within 60 days after receipt of the above matetfad, claimant shall have a reasonable opportuaigppeal the claim denial to the
Administrator for a full and fair review. The claémt or his authorized representative must request a review in writing within 60 days
after such notice of denial has been received.

The claimant or his duly authorized representagival have (i) the opportunity to submit writtemmments, documents, records, and
other information relating to the claim for bengfifii) upon request and free of charge, reasoratiess to, and copies of, all documents,
records, and other information relevant to thenshait's claim for benefits, and (iii) the opportynio submit written comments, documents,
records, and other information relating to theraléor benefits. The Administrator’s review of thdvarse benefit decisions shall take into
account all comments, documents, records, and otftemation submitted by the claimant relatinghe claim, without regard to whether
such information was submitted or considered inittiteal benefit determination.

The decision of the Administrator shall be madengtly, and not later than 60 days after the Adntiater’s receipt of the request for
review, unless special circumstances require ansidn of time for processing, in which case tlantant shall be so notified before the
termination of the initial 60 day period and a démi shall be rendered as soon as possible, but
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not later than 120 days after receipt of the regisegeview. The extension notice shall indicdte special circumstances requiring an
extension of time and the date by which the Plageets to render the determination on review.

The claimant shall be given a copy of the decigimmmptly. The decision shall be in writing and $lratlude specific reasons for the
decision, written in a manner calculated to be ustded by the claimant, and specific referencahémertinent Plan provisions on which the
decision is based. The decision shall include &istant that the claimant is entitled to receivarupequest and free of charge, reasonable
access to, and copies of, all documents, recondsotner information relevant to the claimant’smldor benefits. Additionally, the decision
shall include a statement of the claimant’s righibting an action under section 502(a) ERISA.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claim which asisinder an insurance contract shall not be sutgeetview under this Plan, and the
Administrator’s authority under this section shait extend to any matter as to which an adminstnatder any such other plan is
empowered to make determinations under such plan.

8.8 Expenses of AdministratiorThe expenses, other than settlor expenses, ettbyr or on behalf of the Employer relative to the
administration of the Plan shall be paid from fdtfiees arising under Sections 4.7, 5.8 and 6.8, tanthe extent such expenses exceed such
forfeitures, shall be paid by the Employer; proddeowever, each Participant electing any reimbues# account available under the Plan
may be charged certain expenses incident to thetemgince of such account as determined by the Asiinaitor.

8.9 Nondiscriminatory ActsAny discretionary acts to be taken under the seamd provisions of the Plan by the Employer or the
Administrator shall be uniform in their nature aaqplication to all those similarly-situated, anddiscretionary acts shall be taken that would
be discriminatory under the provisions of the Coalating to cafeteria plans, medical plans, or delpet care assistance plans, or any other
employee welfare benefit plan, where applicable.

ARTICLE IX
AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION

9.1 Right ReservedThe Plan may be amended or terminated at anylinbe Board, the Governance and Compensation Gbeenof
the Board, the Management Benefits and Compens@tbommittee, or a delegate of any of them. Such @memt or termination shall not
adversely affect or alter any right or obligatioithwrespect to any benefit previously accrued hedeu

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

10.1 Payment to an Incompetetit any amount is payable hereunder to an adjudiegally incompetent person, such amount may be
paid to the legal representative(s) of such incdergeperson, and if none, to the first survivingsd of the following successive preference
payees:

(a) To such person’s spouse;
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(b) To such person’s parent;
(c) To a guardian of such incompetent person thegerson with whom such incompetent person resate
(d) Directly to such incompetent person.

Payment to any person in accordance with the fanggarovisions will, to the extent of the paymaettischarge the Plan, the Company,
the Administrator and any person making such paymersuant to the direction of the Company or tlieniistrator, and none of the
foregoing will be required to see to the properli@pgion of such payment.

10.2 Designation of Beneficiaryf a Participant dies during a Plan Year, thenRhall reimburse such Participant’s spouse, ooiife,
such Participant’s beneficiary, for covered expenseurred prior to the Participant’s death or tieeowise required by Code Section 4980B,
upon receipt by the Administrator of a completeairol In the event that a participant dies withospause, the designated beneficiary or
beneficiaries of a Participant entitled to succtethe Participant’s right to receive any benefipayment under the Plan shall be the
Participant’s designated beneficiary or benefieimtnder the group term life insurance plan maiethby the Employee’s Employer (if
applicable), and in the absence of any such desidrizeneficiary, the Participant’s estate.

10.3 Missing PayeeAny amount due and payable under the Plan taticipant or beneficiary shall be forfeited if tAelministrator
after reasonable effort is unable to locate sudividual.

10.4 Rights of ParticipantdNothing hereunder shall require the Employerdst\a Participant or Continuation Participant ig eght
against the Employer, except as an unsecured aresdieking enforcement of this Plan. Neither thaldishment of this Plan, nor any
modification thereof, nor any payments hereundwll $e considered as giving to any ParticiparContinuation Participant, or any person,
any legal or equitable rights against the Emplayaghe Employer’s shareholders, directors, or effic

10.5 Estoppel of Participant§ he Administrator and the Employer may rely upony certificate, statement or other representatiade
to them by any Employee, Participant, ContinuaBamticipant, or Dependent with respect to any faguiired to be determined under any of
the provisions of the Plan, and will not be liableaccount of the payment of any moneys or thegdofrany act in reliance upon any such
certificate, statement or other representation.

In the discretion of the Administrator, any suchtifieate, statement or other representation walldonclusively binding upon an
Employee, Participant, or Continuation Participamt] his Dependents, and such Employee, Particifamtinuation Participant, or
Dependents will thereafter and forever be estogmed disputing the truth and correctness of suctifemte, statement or other
representation.

10.6 Right of Discharge Reservet@ihe establishment of the Plan shall not be coastto confer upon an Employee or Participant any
legal right to be retained in the employ of the Eagpr. All Employees will remain subject to discharto the same extent as if the
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Plan had never been adopted, and may be treateduvitegard to the effect such treatment might hgaan them under the Plan. Nothing in
the Plan shall be deemed to be an agreement, evasah, inducement, or condition of employment.

10.7 Separability If any provision of the Plan is held invalid arenforceable, its invalidity or unenforceabilitylwiot affect any other
provision of the Plan, and the Plan will be constiand enforced as if such provision had not beelnded therein.

10.8_Governing Law The Plan shall be construed in accordance wéhats of the State of New York to the extent meempted by
federal law.

10.9 Fiduciaries Every fiduciary under the Plan shall act solelyhie interest of Participants and beneficiaries, far the exclusive
purpose of providing benefits to Participants aaddiiciaries. Any fiduciary under the Plan may sdrvmore than one fiduciary capacity
with respect to the Plan.

10.10 _Captions The captions contained herein are inserted anly matter of convenience and for reference and way define, limit,
enlarge or describe the scope or intent of the,Planin any way shall affect the Plan or the carton of any provision thereof.

10.11 NonassignabilityA Participant shall not be permitted to assigricépate, transfer or alienate his rights underftan. Eligibility
for benefits is conditioned on compliance with t8isction.

10.12 No Representation3 he tax advantages to be provided by this Plarsabject to government rulings, regulations, gieation
of the tax laws by the Internal Revenue Service Employer makes no representation that any péatitax consequences will result throt
participation in this Plan.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

LIST OF ACTIVE SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2008

EXHIBIT 21

U.S. Entities

Name Jurisdiction
1  Moody’s Wall Street Analytics International LLC California
2 Moody’s Wall Street Analytics, Inc. California
3  FermatInc. Delaware
4  MIS Quality Management Corp. Delaware
5 Moody’s Advisors Inc. Delaware
6  Moody’s Analytics, Inc. Delaware
7  Moody’s Assureco, Inc. Delaware
8  Moody’s Corporation Delaware
9  Moody’s Credit Quotes Inc. Delaware
10 Moody’s Evaluations Inc. Delaware
11 Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. Delaware
12 Moody’s Overseas Holdings, Inc. Delaware
13 Moody’s Risk Services Corp. Delaware
14 Moody’s Assurance Company, Inc. New York
Foreign Entities

Name Jurisdiction
15 Moody’s Latin America Calificadora de Riesgo S.A. Argentina
16 Fermat Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
17 MIS Funds Pty. Ltd. Australia
18 Moody’s Analytics Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
19 Moody’s Credit Quotes Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
20 Moody’s Group Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
21 Moody’s Investors Service Pty. Ltd. Australia
22 Fermat Finance SPRL Belgium
23 Fermat International SA Belgium
24 Fermatsa Servicosde Informatica LTDA. Brazil
25 Moody’s America Latina Ltda. Brazil
26 Moody’s Analytics do Brasil Ltda. Brazil
27 Moody’s Central Europe (BVI) Ltd. British Virgin Islands

28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39

Moody’s China (BVI) Ltd.

Moody’s Dubai (BVI) Ltd.

Moody’s Holdings (BVI) Ltd.

Moody'’s Indonesia (BVI) Ltd.
Moody'’s Investors Service (BVI) Ltd.
Moody’s Israel Holdings, Inc.
Moody'’s Latin America Holding Corp.
Moody’s South Africa (BVI) Ltd.
Moody’s Analytics Canada Inc.
Moody’s Canada, Inc.

Fermat (Bejing) Software Co. Ltd.
Moody'’s Investors Service Beijing, Inc.

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Canada

Canada

China

China
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40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90

Name

Jurisdiction

Moody’s Software Development (Shenzhen) Ltd.
Moody'’s Investors Service Cyprus Ltd.
Moody’s Central Europe A.S.

Fermat FZ LLC

Moody’s Analytics (DIFC) Limited
Moody’s Middle East Ltd.

Fermat SAS

Moody’s Analytics France SAS
Moody’s France S.A.S.

Moody’s Group France SAS

Fermat GmBH

Moody’s Analytics Deutschland GmbH
Moody’s Deutschland GmbH

Moody’s Group Deutschland GmbH
Moody’s Company Hong Kong Ltd.
ENB Consulting (Asia) Limited

Fermat Limited

Moody’s Analytics Hong Kong Ltd.
Moody’s Asia Pacific Ltd.

Moody'’s Investors Service Hong Kong Ltd.
Moody'’s Investment Co. India Pvt. Ltd.
PT Moody’s Indonesia

Moody’s Analytics Ireland Ltd.
Moody’s Finance Company Ireland
Fermat Limited

Midroog Ltd.

Moody’s Italia S.r.l.

Moody’s Analytics Japan KK

Moody’s Group Japan GK

Moody’s Japan Kabushiki Kaisha

Moody'’s Interfax Rating Agency, Kazakhstan Ltd.

Fermat Co. Ltd.

Korea Investors Service, Inc.

Moody'’s Investors Service (Korea) Inc.
MIS Cyprus Ltd. Luxembourg Branch
Moody’s Group Luxembourg Sarl
Moody’s Mauritius Holdings Inc.
Administracion de Calificadora S.A.
Moody’s de Mexico S.A. de C.V.
Fermat S.p.z.0.0.

Moody’s Eastern Europe LLC

Moody'’s Interfax Rating Agency Ltd.
ENB Consulting Asia (Singapore) Pte. Limited
Fermat Private Ltd.

Moody’s Analytics Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Moody'’s Asia-Pacific Group (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

Moody'’s Investors Service Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Moody'’s Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Moody'’s Investors Service (South Africa) Pty. Ltd.

Moody’s Investors Service Espana, S.A.
Moody’s Taiwan Corporation
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China
Cyprus

Czech Republic

Dubai
Dubai
Dubai
France
France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
India
Indonesia
Ireland
Ireland
Israel
Israel

Italy

Japan
Japan
Japan
Kazakhstan
Korea
Korea
Korea
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Mauritius
Mexico
Mexico
Poland
Russia
Russia
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
Singapore
South Africa
Spain
Taiwan



91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99

Name

Jurisdiction

Economy.com (UK) Ltd.

Moody’s Holdings Ltd.

Moody'’s Investors Service Ltd.

Moody’s Analytics UK Ltd.

Moody’s Wall Street Analytics UK Ltd.
Moody’s Interfax Rating Agency Ukraine LLC
ENB Consulting Ltd.

Moody’s Finance Company UK Ltd.

Moody’s Group UK Ltd.

U.K.

U.K.

U.K.

UK

UK

Ukraine

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Moody’s Corporation

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on form S-8 (No. 333-145127, No. 333-126564,

No. 333-103496, No. 333-47848, No. 333-81121, No. 333-68555, No. 333-64653, No. 333-60737, No. 333-57915, No. 333-
57267) of Moody’s Corporation of our report dated February 27, 2009, with respect to the consolidated balance sheet of Moody’s
Corporation as of December 31, 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ deficit,
for the year then ended, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, which report
appears in the December 31, 2008 annual report on Form 10-K of Moody’s Corporation.

/sl KPMG LLP

KPMG LLP
New York, New York

February 27, 2009
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EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Moody’s Corporation

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-57267, 333-57915,
333-60737, 333-64653, 333-68555, 333-81121, 333-47848, 333-103496, 333-126564 and 333-145127) of Moody’s Corporation
(formerly known as The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation) of our report dated February 28, 2008, except for the effects of the change
in the composition of reportable segments as discussed in Note 18 as to which the date is February 27, 2009, relating to the
financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York

February 27, 2009
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I,Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Moody’s Corporation, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Moody’s Corporation;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the periods covered by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 27, 2009
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO S ECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Linda S. Huber, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Moody’s Corporation, certify that:
1.1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Moody’s Corporation;

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the periods covered by this report;

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2009
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 as filed with
the SEC on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of
my knowledge:

(1)the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

/sl RAYMOND W. MCDANIEL, JR.

Raymond W. McDaniel, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 27, 2009
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Moody’s Corporation on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 as filed with
the SEC on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Linda S. Huber, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

(1)the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

/s/ LINDA S. HUBER

Linda S. Huber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2009
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